
 
 

 

EXECUTIVE 
 
Date: Tuesday 31 May 2022 
Time:  5.30 pm 
Venue: Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business.  
 
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Mark Devin, Democratic 
Services Officer on 01392 265477. 
 
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the rear of the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street. 
 
Membership - 
Councillors Bialyk (Chair), Wright (Deputy Chair), Denning, Ghusain, Morse, Parkhouse, Pearce, 
Williams and Wood 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 
  
1    Apologies 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence from Committee members. 
 

 
 
2    Minutes 

 
 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2022. 
 

(Pages 5 - 
10)  

3    Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item.  
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting. 
 

 

 
4    Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 - Exclusion of Press 

and Public 
 

 

 RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
item 10 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 

 



as defined in paragraph 3 of Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act.  
  

5    Questions from the Public Under Standing order No. 19 
 

 

 To receive questions relating to items on the Agenda from members of the public 
and responses thereto. 
 
Details of questions should be notified to the Corporate Manager Democratic and 
Civic Support by 10.00am at least three working days prior to the meeting. 
Further information about speaking at a committee can be found here: Speaking 
at a Committee 
 

 

 
6    Appointment to Outside Bodies 2022 

 
 

 To consider the report of the Director Corporate Services. 
 

(Pages 11 
- 22)  

7    Members’ Allowances and Expenses Paid 2021/22 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director Corporate Services. 
 

(Pages 23 
- 28)  

8    Exeter Skills Strategy 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management. 
 

(Pages 29 
- 118)  

9    New Statement of Community Involvement: Proposed adoption 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director of Planning and Development. 
 

(Pages 
119 - 172) 

Part II: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public excluded 

No representations have been received in respect of the following items in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012.     
  
10    Land in Summerland Street 

 
 

 To consider the report of the Director Finance. 
 

(Pages 
173 - 182) 

Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 5 July 2022 at 5.30 pm in the 
Civic Centre. 
 
A statement of the executive decisions taken at this meeting will be produced and published 
on the Council website as soon as reasonably practicable. 
 
 
Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 

https://exeter.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-meetings/public-speaking-at-meetings/request-to-speak-at-a-committee/
https://exeter.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillors-and-meetings/public-speaking-at-meetings/request-to-speak-at-a-committee/


at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer 
(Committees) on (01392) 265115 for further information. 
 
Follow us: 
Twitter 
Facebook 
 
Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265275. 

http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil


This page is intentionally left blank



 
EXECUTIVE 

 

 
Monday 4 April 2022 

 
Present: 
Councillor Bialyk (Chair) 
Councillors Wright, Foale, Ghusain, Harvey, Morse, Sutton, Williams and Wood 

 
Apologies: 
Councillors Leadbetter and Moore, D as opposition Leaders 
 
Also present: 
Councillor K. Mitchell (as an opposition group Leader) 
Councillor Vizard speaking on item 6 (Minute No. 47 below) 
 
Also present: 
Director Finance, Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support and Democratic 
Services Team Leader 

 
44   MINUTES 

 
Councillor Wood declared a non-pecuniary interest and left the meeting during 
consideration of the following item. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2022, were taken as read, 
approved and signed by the Chair as correct, subject to the following amendment:- 
 
Minute 38 – The Portfolio Holder for City Management stated that the project had 
been developed in response to concerns over the loss of library facilities which had 
expanded to encompass the development of other services and that “the Trustees 
had made a commitment to raise £750,000, to match Council funding to 
support the project”. 

 
45   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Members declared the following interests:- 
 

 Councillor Wood - Minute. 44 - non pecuniary interest. 
 
 

46   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC UNDER STANDING ORDER NO. 19 
 

A member of the public, Mrs Thompson, submitted the following question, related to 
Minute No. 44. Mrs Thompson was unable to be present and her question was read 
out by the Democratic Services Team Leader:- 
 

 As the Portfolio Holder for City Management stated that the figure of £750,000 
having been raised by the Pinhoe Hub Trustees was incorrect. Could the 
Portfolio Holder clarify the actual figure raised by the Pinhoe Hub Trustees? 

 
The Leader responded that the Portfolio Holder for City Management had corrected 
Minute No. 38 (as stated above), to say that the Trustees had made a commitment 
to raise £750,000, to match Council funding to support the project. The Leader 
referred to the Pinhoe Community Hub Business Plan, which indicated that funding 
would be made through use of CIL (Community Infrastructure Levy), Section 106 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
money and locally raised funding. The correction to the minutes had therefore, 
answered the question from Mrs Thompson. 
 

47   ADDITIONAL STAFFING AT CONTROL CENTRE 

 
The Executive received the report to recruit three additional, full time staff members 
at the Council’s Control Centre, to ensure there were suitable staffing provisions  in 
place to proactively monitor city centre CCTV, and to support improvements to 
public safety. 
 
Particular reference was made to the total cost of £87,000 to the Council in this 
financial year, which would come from the additional unbudgeted funding received 
from the Government’s final settlement which also totalled £87,000. Members were 
reminded of the requirement for longer term spending reductions and this extra cost 
would form part of this going forward. 
 
Councillor Vizard, having given notice under Standing Order No. 44, spoke on this 
item, thanking the Executive for the opportunity to speak. He referred to the full 
Council meeting on 22 February 2022, where Members heard from Mr Tony Cox, 
who was the father of Lorraine Cox, who had been murdered in Exeter, and had 
spoken passionately at the meeting on the tragic events.  
 
Councillor Vizard passed on Mr Cox’s apologies for the evening, and stated that he 
had gotten to know Mr Cox over the past year, and many Members had 
accompanied him on the memorial walk for Lorraine Cox, to raise money for the 
Devon Rape Crisis and abuse services which had exceeded their £4,000 target and 
had raised £6,348. The walk was to raise awareness for the campaign for safer 
streets and to end violence towards women. 
 
Mr Cox had called on the Council to find funding to ensure the £550,000 investment 
to upgrade and extend the existing CCTV coverage was supported with funding for 
additional CCTV staff. Mr Cox felt that a minimum of two staff needed to be on duty 
at any given time to ensure suitable cover and support the upgrading of the CCTV, 
to better protect residents. 
 
Councillor Vizard in concluding, welcomed the recommendation in the report, 
thanking the Director of Finance for finding the £87,000, which was a compelling 
reason to spend on the service, despite current financial pressures. Councillor 
Vizard also expressed his thanks to the Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Council Housing Development and Services for the hard work that had been 
undertaken and with the community safety partnership and safety for women at 
night, and hoped the recommendation would be supported at full Council on 19 April 
2022. 
 
Councillor K. Mitchell, as an opposition leader, spoke on the item and welcomed the 
report and supported the recommendation. Like other Councillors, he had been 
moved by Mr Cox at the Council meeting in February 2022, and was pleased 
funding had been found. He highlighted his support and emphasised the importance 
of cross party support. He expressed his thanks to the Deputy Leader and Portfolio 
Holder for Council Housing Development and Services for the hard work that had 
been undertaken to bring this forward. 
 
The Portfolio Holder for City Development stated that as a local Councillor to Mr 
Cox, she had spent time with him, debating how to address violence against 
women. The need for CCTV coverage in the city was important and she supported 
the recommendation. However, additional CCTV, wouldn’t solve the larger issue of 
violence against women and that work would need to be continued at all levels.  

Page 6



 
 
The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Council Housing Development and 
Services highlighted that the Council didn’t have to provide CCTV services, but 
chose to provide it for the people of the city. The service was discretionary and the 
Council had been fortunate to receive the £550,000 grant to improve CCTV 
services. By partnering with the Safety of Women at Night (SWAN) charter, it been 
beneficial in providing further support, and signs would be erected for any 
concerned women to call the contact centre, if they felt unsafe. 
 
She expressed her thanks to the Portfolio Holders for supporting the work, and to  
Mr Cox and his family for the work they had been doing. The work undertaken 
highlighted the Council’s commitment to safety and more work was being 
undertaken to further improve safety in the city. 
 
The Leader commented that this was a supplementary spend, which demonstrated 
that the City Council did listen to residents to make changes in the city and was 
pleased that there would be cross party support. 
 
RECOMMENDED that Council approve the recruitment of 3 additional full time 

equivalent staff, in order to increase the capacity to proactively monitor city centre 
CCTV. 
 

48   OVERVIEW OF GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - QUARTER 3 

 
The Executive received the report which advised Members of the overall financial 
position of the General Fund Revenue Budgets for the 2021/22 financial year after 
six months. 
 
Particular reference was made to the budget projection, which showed a significant 
underspend with a significantly lower than expected take from the General Fund 
balance and to the challenges faced by the Council in delivering projects which 
were outside the control of officers. A number of supplementary budget requests 
would be expected at the end of the financial year.  
 
Members noted that the projected underspend would cover the supplementary 
budget requests and there were areas of income that were still a challenge, 
following the Covid Pandemic. An ear-marked reserve was in place to help off-set 
pressures for both the current and 2022/23 financial years. 
 
The Director Finance referred to the supplementary budget requests for approval 
and confirmed that they related to grants received from Government to be 
incorporated into the budget and would not impact the General Fund balance. 
 
In response to a question raised by a Member, the Director Finance explained that 
the current year underspend was a challenge, caused by difficulties in the 
construction industry and subsequent delays in service delivery. The Council’s 
accountants continued to challenge Service Leads where there was a particular 
underspend in their budgets, however, this year the challenge in underspending 
was a larger economic issue.  
 
RECOMMENDED that Council notes and approves (where applicable): 

 
(1) the General Fund forecast financial position for the 2021 financial year; 
(2) the supplementary budgets as detailed in paragraph 8.12 of the report;  
(3) the outstanding Sundry Debt position as at December 2021; and 
(4) the creditors payments performance. 
 

Page 7



 
49   2021/22 GENERAL FUND CAPITAL MONITORING STATEMENT - QUARTER 3 

 
The Executive received the report on the current position of the Council’s revised 
annual capital programme, and advised Members of the anticipated level of 
deferred expenditure into future years. The report also sought Member approval to 
amend the annual capital programme in order to reflect the reported variations. 
 
Particular reference was made to the budget which currently stood at £100 million, 
with only £12.9 million spent, and was recognised as the lowest percentage spend 
in any one year. The same challenges from the delay of goods and services 
deliveries had impacted on the Capital Monitoring programme and there would be a 
significant carry forward expected for the Capital Programme due to the issues 
faced from the construction market in delivering tenders. 
 
In response to a question raised by a Member, the Director Finance explained that 
there were two projects for CCTV improvements. Funding had been received from 
the safer streets funding which was used for CCTV improvements. Members had 
also approved a separate capital project to deliver CCTV improvements, funded by 
the Council, which had been carried forward in the Capital Programme for a number 
of years.  
 
RECOMMENDED that Council approves:- 

 
(1) the revision of the annual Capital Programme to reflect the reported variations 

detailed in 8.1 and in Appendix 1 of the report; and 
(2) the additional budget detailed in 8.6 of the report. 
 

50   2021/22 HRA BUDGET MONITORING REPORT - QUARTER 3 

 
The Executive received the report on the financial position of the HRA Revenue and 
Capital Budgets for the 2021/22 financial year after nine months. Members were 
referred to the highlighted areas of risk, shown in the report, which identified 
vulnerable budgets due to factors beyond the Council’s control and could result in 
potential deviations from budget. Members noted that the budgets were being 
closely monitored by officers. 
 
Particular reference was made to there being little movement within the HRA 
(Housing Revenue Account) budget and was in line with the approved budget, with 
a £20,000 variance. It was expected that at the end of the financial year, there 
would be a likely impact on the HRA Capital Programme, which would impact on the 
HRA with a potential for an under-spend. 
 
In response to a question raised by a Member, the Director Finance explained that 
in 2008, central Government announced a project to deliver new Council homes 
across the country, which was partially funded by central Government. There were 
a number of stipulations, which included for any projects being self-financing and 
held separately from the HRA. Exeter City Council made a successful bid to deliver 
a number of Passivhaus homes in the city, which were still self-financing. 
 
RECOMMENDED that Council notes and approves (where applicable):- 
 
(1) the HRA forecast financial position for 2021/22 financial year; and 
(2) the revision of the HRA Capital Programme to reflect the reported variations 

detailed in Appendix 4 of the report. 
 

51   FREEDOM OF THE CITY 

 

Page 8



 
The Executive received the report which set out a proposal to offer the Freedom of 
the City to Mr Philip Bostock in recognition of his civic service to the city of Exeter, 
particularly as a former Chief Executive of the Council. The proposal met the criteria 
for nominations as set down in 2018. 
 
Members welcomed the proposal and considered it to be a well-deserved honour. 
 
RECOMMENDED to Council that:- 

 
(1) the title of Honorary Freeman of the City Status be conferred on Philip Bostock; 

and 
 

(2) the Right Worshipful the Lord Mayor be requested to convene an Extraordinary 
Meeting of the Council to be held on the rising of the Ordinary Meeting on 19 
April 2022, for the purpose of passing the appropriate resolution under Section 
249 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

52   LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - EXCLUSION 
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 

press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Act.   
 

53   MEMBER TRAINING 
 

The Executive received the report which provided a quarterly update on the 
progress of work on Members’ training and also included Members’ attendance and 
feedback for the sessions attended from 5 January 2022 to present.  
 
Particular reference was made to the good work undertaken by the Councillor 
Development Steering Group on enhancing training and development opportunities 
for Councillors and on the Members’ Induction Programme ahead of the intake of 
new Councillors after the May 2022 elections. The Councillor Development Steering 
Group had been addressing training for both current and new Members and was 
looking at the use of online training to enhance specific training requirements. 
 
RESOLVED that the Executive note the Members’ Training report. 

 
 
 

(The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 6.03 pm) 
 
 

Chair 
 
 
 
The decisions indicated will normally come into force 5 working days after 
publication of the Statement of Decisions unless called in by a Scrutiny 
Committee.  Where the matter in question is urgent, the decision will come 
into force immediately.  Decisions regarding the policy framework or 
corporate objectives or otherwise outside the remit of the Executive will be 
considered by Council on 19 April 2022. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 

Date of Meeting: 31 May 2022 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022 

Report of: Director Corporate Services 

Title: Appointment to Outside Bodies 2022 

Is this a Key Decision?  

No 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 

Council 

1. What is the report about? 

To appoint Members to serve on outside bodies. 

2. Recommendations:  

(1) that Executive approve the appointments to the outside bodies set out in Appendix A 

of the report, with immediate effect; and 

(2) the Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support be granted delegated powers, 

in consultation with the Group Leaders, to appoint, when necessary representatives to 

outside bodies during the course of the Municipal Year. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

To ensure that the Council is represented on outside bodies. 

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources? 

None. 

5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

There are no financial implications for the Council to consider. 

6. What are the legal aspects? 

None identified. 

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments: 

With the introduction of the new Code of Conduct for member which came into effect from 

the 18 May 2021, members are reminded of their responsibility to register and declare all 

“Other Registerable Interest” they may have.  These are defined as follows: 

   

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



“Any Body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the council; 

(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union)  

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

8. Report details: 

The full list of outside bodies is attached as Appendix A. Required appointments are 

highlighted and emboldened and relate to vacancies. The list also includes appropriate 

representation by Portfolio Holders. In addition to appointing new representatives, the full 

list is also reported to Executive, to be agreed by the first full Council meeting in the 

Municipal Year, in order for remaining appointments to be re-affirmed for the following 12 

months. 

During the course of the year, it will be necessary to re-appoint representatives where the 

term of office expires and also, possibly, to make appointments when a vacancy arises. 

To facilitate a rapid appointment wherever possible, it is proposed that the granted 

delegated powers to the Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support to appoint 

representatives in consultation with the Group Leaders, be continued. This will remove 

the need to report to Executive and Council delaying the appointment process. All 

appointments can be viewed on the City Council website. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

Contributes to the key initiative of “A Well-Run Council”. 

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

There are no risks associated with the proposals.  

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)  

In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people with 

protected characteristics as determined by the Act because: because it is non applicable 

with this decision. 

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:   

No direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations. 

13. Are there any other options? 

None applicable. 

 

Director Corporate Services, Baan Al-Khafaji 

Authors: Corporate Manager, Democratic and Civic Support, John Street and Mark Devin, 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Page 12



Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

None 

 
Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 4.36 
01392 265275 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Title Representative

Age UK Exeter Councillor Rob Hannaford
Barnfield Theatre Board Councillor Richard Branston
Community Safety Partnership Portfolio Holder for Communities & 

Homelessness prevention
Councillor Martin Pearce
Council Leader
Councillor Philip Bialyk
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright

Dartmoor National Park Community Forum Councillor Rob Newby
Member Champion Net Zero 2030
Councillor Zion Lights

Devon and Cornwall Police and Crime Panel Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright

Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee Portfolio Holder for City Management & 
Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain

Devon County Agricultural Association Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Devon Disability Collective Member Champion for Community 

Engagement & Supporting Services
Councillor Naima Allcock

Devon Historic Buildings Trust Portfolio Holder for City Development
Councillor Emma Morse

Devon Rail Forum Portfolio Holder for Climate Change
Councillor Duncan Wood
County Councillor Andrew Leadbetter

Energy From Waste Liaison Committee Portfolio Holder for City Management & 
Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain

Exe Estuary Management Partnership Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Exeter Allotment Forum Portfolio Holder for City Management & 

Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain

Exeter and Heart of Devon Growth Board Council Leader
Councillor Philip Bialyk

Exeter Business Centre Board Portfolio Holder for City Management & 
Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain
Portfolio Holder for Climate Change
Councillor Duncan Wood
Councillor Amy Sparling

Exeter Canal & Quay Trust Ltd. Portfolio Holder for City Management & 
Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain
Portfolio Holder for Leisure Services & 
Physical Activity
Councillor Josie Parkhouse
Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Page 15



Title Representative

Councillor Laura Wright
Council Leader
Councillor Philip Bialyk
Councillor Richard Branston
Councillor Tony Wardle
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Councillor Rob Newby

Exeter Church Charities Alderman John Landers
Alderman Mary Danks
Portfolio Holder for Council Housing 
Development and Support Services
Councillor Barbara Denning
Mrs Olwen Foggin

Exeter Citizen Advice Bureau Portfolio Holder for Council Housing 
Development and Support Services
Councillor Barbara Denning

Exeter Fairtrade Steering Group Portfolio Holder for Communities & 
Homelessness prevention
Councillor Martin Pearce
Vacancy
County Councillor P Prowse

Exeter Health and Wellbeing Board Portfolio Holder for Leisure Services & 
Physical Activity
Councillor Josie Parkhouse
Council Leader
Councillor Philip Bialyk
Councillor Catherine Rees
Portfolio Holder for Communities & 
Homelessness prevention
Councillor Martin Pearce

Exeter Homes Trust Alderman Alan Williamson
Councillor Richard Branston
Councillor Trish Oliver
Vacancy

Exeter International Airport Consultative Group Portfolio Holder for Climate Change
Councillor Duncan Wood

Exeter SAFE (Stop Abuse for Everyone) Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright

In Exeter Portfolio Holder for City Management & 
Enviromental Services
Councillor Amal Ghusain

Joint Habitats Mitigation Executive Committee Deputy Chair Planning
Councillor Rachel Sutton

Local Government Association General Assembly Council Leader
Councillor Philip Bialyk

Maynard School Portfolio Holder for Communities & 
Homelessness Prevention
Councillor Martin Pearce

Parking and Traffic Regulation Outside London 
Adjudication Joint Committee (PATROLAJC)

Councillor Andrew Leadbetter

Portfolio Holder Climate Change
Councillor Duncan Wood

Page 16



Title Representative

Relate Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright

Royal Albert Memorial Museum Trust Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter

South West Councils Leader
Councillor Phil Bialyk

South West Employers Panel Leader
Councillor Phil Bialyk

St. Edmunds & St Mary Major Charities, Exeter Councillor Richard Branston
Billie Cornish

St. Leonard's with Holy Trinity Charities Councillor Matthew Vizard
Councillor Richard Branston
Mrs C Dunn

St. Sidwell's Parish Lands and Other Charities Councillor Martin Pearce
Vacancy

St. Thomas Church Charities (Seldon & Others) Councillor Rob Hannaford
Mrs Carole Smith
Mrs Patricia Metford

The Exeter Phoenix Arts Board Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Culture, Corporate & Democratic Services

Councillor Laura Wright

Topsham Community Association Councillor Joshua Ellis-Jones
Topsham Mooring Owners Association Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Topsham River Commissioners (under the Exeter Port 
Dues Act 1840)

Portfolio Holder for Climate Change

Councillor Duncan Wood
Councillor Andrew Leadbetter
Councillor Rob Newby

Turntable Furniture Re-cycling Project Portfolio Holder for Council Housiing & 
Support Services
Councillor Barbara Denning

Wessex Reserve Forces and Cadets Association - 
Devon Committee

Councillor Andrew Leadbetter

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Equality Impact Assessment: Appointment to Outside Bodies 2022 
 
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the 
need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not 
 
In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do 
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all 
members of the community. 
 
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular 
groups and worsen inequality.  
 

Committee name and 
date: 

 

Report Title 
 

Decisions being 
recommended:  

 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made:  
 

Executive Committee – 31 May 
2022 
 
Council – 19 July 2022 
 

Appointment to Outside Bodies 
2022 

That Council approve: - 
(1) that Appointment be made 

to those outside bodies set 

out in Appendix A, where 

appointments are 

required; and 

There is no evidence to suggest 
that the proposed report would 
have any potential impact on this 
characteristic. 

P
age 19



Committee name and 
date: 

 

Report Title 
 

Decisions being 
recommended:  

 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made:  
 

(2) the Corporate Manager 

Democratic and Civic 

Support be granted 

delegated powers, in 

consultation with the 

Group Leaders, to appoint, 

when necessary 

representatives to outside 

bodies during the course 

of the Municipal Year; 

 

Factors to consider in the assessment:  For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed 
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this 
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low 
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions 
planned to be carried out in future). 

 

High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc. 
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence 
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very 
little discretion 

 

P
age 20



Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive 
or 
Negative 
Impact 

High, 
Medium or 
Low 
Impact 

Reason 

Race and ethnicity (including 
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant 
workers; asylum seekers). 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Disability: as defined by the Equality 
Act – a person has a disability if they 
have a physical or mental impairment 
that has a substantial and long-term 
adverse impact on their ability to carry 
out normal day-to-day activities. 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Sex/Gender Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Gender reassignment Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Religion and belief (includes no 
belief, some philosophical beliefs such 
as Buddhism and sects within 
religions). 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Sexual orientation (including 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual). 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Age (children and young people aged 
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger 
older people aged 51-75/80; older 
people 81+; frail older people; people 
living with age related conditions. The 
age categories are for illustration only 
as overriding consideration should be 
given to needs). 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Pregnancy and maternity including 
new and breast feeding mothers 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

Marriage and civil partnership 
status 

Neutral Low There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed report would have an 
impact on this characteristic. 

P
age 21



 
Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion 
The appointments to the Outside Bodies would enable partnership working for Members with independent organisations to support the local 
area and community. 
 

Officer: John Street, Corporate Manager Democratic and Civic Support. 

Date: 5 May 2022 

P
age 22



 

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 

Date of Meeting: 31 May 2022 

Report of: Director Corporate Services 

Title: Members’ Allowances and Expenses Paid 2021/22 

Is this a Key Decision?  

No 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 

Executive 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 To report the allowances paid to Elected Members in 2021/22. 

2. Recommendations:  

2.1 The Members of the Executive note the allowances paid and the expenses claimed 

by Members in 2021/22. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

3.1 The Council has a statutory obligation to publish all allowances paid, and expenses 

claimed by Members each financial year. 

4. What are the resource implications including non-financial resources:  

4.1 There is an existing budget allocation to meet the amount paid in Members’ 

Allowances 

5. Section 151 Officer Comments: 

5.1 The amounts contained within the report were within budget for the 2021/22 financial 

year. 

6. What are the legal aspects?  

6.1 The Members Allowances Scheme is governed by the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989, and in particular the details are set out in the Local Authorities 

(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. Publication of the details contained 

in this report meet these requirements. 

7. Monitoring Officer Comments:  

7.1 The publication of the details concerned in this report meet the statutory 

requirements imposed upon local authorities. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



8. Report details: 

8.1 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require 

the Council to publish the total sum of each of the following allowances paid to each 

recipient in the previous financial year: 

 (a) Basic allowance, 
 (b) Special responsibility allowance, 
 (c) Dependants’ carers’ allowance, 
 (d) Travelling and subsistence allowance, 
 (e) Co-optees’ allowance, and  
 (f) The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor‘s expenses allowance.  

 

8.2 A schedule of allowances made and expenses claimed for 2021/22 is attached to this 

report in Appendix A. 

8.3 The amounts paid are in accordance with the Scheme of Member’s Allowance as 

agreed by Council on 14 December 2021, which accepted the recommendations of the 

Independent Remuneration Panel on Members’ Allowances, which included approval of 

the scheme for 2022/23.  

8.4 The report included the detail of remuneration paid for the Council Housing and 

Development Advisory Board, which is drawn separately from the Housing Revenue 

Account. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

 Ensuring a well-run Council; and 

 To invoke public confidence that the Council’s operation in relation to Members are 

transparent. 

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

10.1 The risks are reduced by the publication of this annual report. 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)  

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 

consider the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct; 

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 

account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and 

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding. 

11.2  In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 

equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority 

from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals 

that consider the impacts on all members of the community. 

11.3  In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 

decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 

Page 24



and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 

new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 

decision. 

11.4 In recommending this proposal no potential impact has been identified on people 

with protected characteristics as determined by the Act because the report is for 

information. 

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:   

12.1 There are no direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations. 

13. Are there any other options? 

None 

 
Director Corporate Services, Baan Al-Khafaji 
 
Author: Sharon Sissons 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

 
None 
 
Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 4.36 
01392 265115 
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Initial Councillor 

Surname

Basic 

Allowance

£

Special 

Responsibility 

Allowances

£

Comments Conference/

Travel / 

Subsistence 

Expense 

Claims £

Carers

£

Sub Total

£

N Allcock 5577.14 1436.38 Member Champion 7,013.52      

Y Atkinson 6267.96 6,267.96      

J Begley 6267.96 6,267.96      

P Bialyk 6267.96 20370.96 Leader      26,638.92 

R Branston 6267.96 6,267.96      

C Buswell 6048.92 3930.14
Chair Licensing 

Committee 
118.80 10,097.86    

B Denning 5577.14 2830.69
(Part Year) Chair Strategic 

Scrutiny Committee
8,407.83      

B Foale 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder      17,236.92 

O Foggin 690.82 690.82         

A Ghusain 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder      17,236.92 

R Hannaford 6267.96 3134.04
Chair of Council Housing 

and Advisory Board (HRA)
9,402.00      

D Harvey 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder 17,236.92    

Y Henson 6267.96 201.8
(Part Year) Deputy Lord 

Mayor
6,469.76      

D Henson 690.82 690.82         

P Holland 6267.96 (Part Year Lord Mayor) 6,267.96      

A Jobson 5577.14 5,577.14      

R Lamb 348.22 348.22         

A Leadbetter 6267.96 3761.04
Leader Conservative 

Group
10,029.00    

Z Lights 5577.14 5,577.14      

R Lyons 690.82 690.82         

A Martin 6015.22 6,015.22      

K Mitchell 6267.96 1727.56 Leader Progressive Group 7,995.52      

M Mitchell 6267.96 3134.04

Deputy Chair Customer 

Focus Scrutiny 

Committee

9,402.00      

D Moore 6267.96 1323.18 Leader Progressive Group 7,591.14      

J Moore 6267.96 6,267.96      

E Morse 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder 17,236.92    

K Owen 690.82 518.12
(Part Year) Chair 

Licensing Committee
1,208.94      

R Newby 6267.96 3134.04
Deputy Chair Strategic 

Scrutiny Committee
9,402.00      

T Oliver 6267.96 5720.35
(Part Year) Member 

Champion/Lord Mayor
56.56 12,044.87    

H Packham 6267.96 6,267.96      

As required by the Local Authorities (Members) 2003 Regulations 2003 the total amount of Basic, Special Responsibility 

and Travel & Subsistence Allowances paid to each Member (including part payment to those Members who ceased to 

be Councillors during the year) for the year ending 31 March 2022 are given below. For details of the Special 

Responsibility Allowances please refer to the Council's website - www.exeter.gov.uk

Page 27



Initial Councillor 

Surname

Basic 

Allowance

£

Special 

Responsibility 

Allowances

£

Comments Conference/

Travel / 

Subsistence 

Expense 

Claims £

Carers

£

Sub Total

£

M Pearce 5577.14 156.60 5,733.74      

O Pearson 6015.22 3066.59 former Portfolio Holder 9,081.81      

I Quance 6116.32 1324.32 Deputy Lord Mayor 7,440.64      

G Sheldon 6267.96 6,267.96      

L Sills 6267.96 3437.27
(Part Year) Chair Strategic 

Scrutiny Committee
9,705.23      

K Sparkes 6267.96 6,267.96      

A Sparling 5577.14 5,577.14      

R Sutton 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder 77.95 17,314.87    

M Vizard 6267.96 6267.96
Chair Customer Focus 

Scrutiny Committee
12,535.92    

T Wardle 6267.96 3134.04
Chair Audit & Governance 

Committee 
9,402.00      

S Warwick 6267.96 6,267.96      

R Williams 6267.96 10968.96

Portfolio Holder /Deputy 

Chair Planning 

Committee 

210.00 17,446.92    

D Wood 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder 17,236.92    

L Wright 6267.96 10968.96 Portfolio Holder 17,236.92    

TOTAL £242,540.86 £156,204.20 £619.91 £399,364.97

Page 28



 

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 
Date of Meeting: 31 May 2022 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022 

Report of: Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management 

Title: Exeter Skills Strategy 

Is this a Key Decision?  

No 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 

Council 

1. What is the report about? 

This report is about the new Exeter Skills Strategy 

2. Recommendations:  

That Executive recommends to Council:- 

2.1 To approve the Exeter Skills Strategy; and 

2.2 To approve development of the associated action plan to enable the Skills & City 

Inclusivity Manager to address the identified priorities. 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

3.1 The current Skills Strategy was approved by Executive in March 2020. Taking 

account of the significant changes to the labour market and economy which have been 

impacted by the pandemic, a new strategy has been developed. 

3.2 In March 2021 Executive approved the commissioning of research to refresh the 

evidence base, which has been done to support the development of the new strategy. 

3.3 Skills are a key pillar of productivity, and learning provides opportunities for 

engagement. Through the adoption and delivery of the Exeter Skills Strategy, Exeter City 

Council will be supporting businesses, the workforce and residents of the city, through 

facilitating a contribution to the economic success of the city and supporting inclusion. 

4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources? 

4.1 The annual financial resource requirements for the delivery of the strategy will be 

highlighted through the action plan. These will be in line with current budget allocated and 

available c. £50,000. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



4.2 For any identified priority areas that require budget and do not have any allocated, 

external funding will be sought to support the delivery of the associated actions. 

4.3 The budget allocation takes account of a contribution to the Building Greater Exeter 

Project in the current financial year. 

4.4 The non-financial resources are primarily provided through the Skills and City 

Inclusivity Manager post, who will be responsible for overseeing the delivery of the 

strategy, and all the associated work streams. This will be with support from a Graduate 

Business Placement, seconded from the University of Exeter, and funded from external 

sources until 31 March 2023. 

4.5 There will be a requirement for support from, and collaborative working with, other 

officers and services, such as; Net Zero and Business Service Lead, Communications 

Team, Communities Team, Customer Services and Housing. 

5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

5.1 Other than already approved budget allocation, there are no further financial 

implications for Council to consider.  Where additional external funding is received and 

managed by the Council, further supplementary budget requests will be required to 

ensure Council approval of all expenditure made by the Council. 

6. What are the legal aspects? 

There are no legal aspects to this report or the Skills Strategy. 

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments: 

This report raises no issues for the Monitoring Officer. 

8. Report details: 

Background 

8.1 The original Skills Strategy was approved in March 2020 by Executive. The delivery of 

that strategy was severely impacted by the pandemic and associated National 

restrictions. In March 2021, Executive approved the commissioning of a piece of research 

to refresh the evidence base in relation to the labour market in light of the pandemic. 

8.2 The evidence base has now been refreshed, with a thorough review of the available 

data. A consultation has also taken place including in-depth interviews with a number of 

partners, stakeholders and organisations across the city. 

8.3 An event was held on 6th April to bring together a wide range of businesses, 

representative groups and organisations with an interest in skills. The event presented 

the initial findings from the evidence base refresh, and used workshops on a number of 

topics to gain insight and feedback from attendees. 

8.4 All the data, evidence and feedback gathered - which includes a wide range of other 

reports and sources – such as the Civic University Agreement and the recent Social 

Mobility report, both from the University of Exeter - has been used to develop the Skills 

Page 30



Strategy and to set the priorities. The full evidence base is available as an annexe to the 

Strategy. 

8.5 The current Skills Advisory Group met to review the proposed priorities and agree 

those contained within the Strategy, ensuring endorsement from a range of relevant 

stakeholders. 

Priorities 

8.6 Through the evidence base and feedback review, the following areas have been 

identified as priorities within the strategy. 

8.7 There are 2 overarching areas of focus, and a number of subsequent priorities fit 

under these. 

 Inclusivity - Utilise skills and employment to improve social mobility and overcome 

inclusion barriers through equality of opportunity. This includes a specific focus on 

those furthest from the labour market. 

 

 Productivity - Enhancing productivity is a key driver for enhancing skills. This will 

have a key focus on workforce development and progression. 

8.8 The specific priorities, which will form the basis of the action plan are as follows; 

 Talent retention and attraction 

o Supporting a strong training environment to provide career development 

opportunities locally. 

o CEIAG to ensure young people leaving education are aware of the opportunities 

locally. 

o Internships and graduate programmes to aid with local recruitment – with a specific 

focus on working with SMEs. 

o Business skills development to encourage start-ups and key self-employment skills 

(managing accounts, cash flow, marketing etc.) – particularly in relation to the 

traditional trades, and also among graduates. 

o Encourage businesses to look at their ‘offer’ to prospective staff, linking in with the 

attractiveness of the area (This has strong dependencies on housing, transport, 

education and the wider city ‘offer’, there need to be strong links to Liveable Exeter 

and Exeter Live Better to address these challenges). 

 

 Alignment of training provision and future skills needs 

o Gather LMI that can help identify future skills needs (links to Local Skills 

Improvement Plans). 

o Ensure effective employer engagement is in place to facilitate the development of 

appropriate courses and skills provision throughout the provider base. 

o Encourage collaboration between training providers to learn from each other, 

reduce duplication and maximise the impact of available funding. 

o Balance between future skills needs and current demand. 

o Ensure that high level training opportunities are available to support specialist skills 

development, aligned to priority sectors. 

Page 31



o Ensure there is some resilience in the system able to respond to exogenous shocks 

such as recession. 

o Continue to support the development of digital skills – particularly in relation to 

progression in the workplace. 

 

 Clear map of available skills provision 

o Ensure that individuals and businesses are aware of the courses, providers and 

careers available in Exeter. 

o Facilitate careers guidance and signposting for all age groups – particularly older 

age groups and career changers - through Exeter Works 

o Road map of career pathways with skills needs, corresponding 

qualifications/courses and providers (focus on priority sectors). Also demonstrate 

transferability of skills. 

o Support campaigns that reduce the stigma associated with some roles and sectors. 

 

 Support those furthest from the labour market 

o Social support including employability and wellbeing for those who face multiple 

barriers to the labour market. 

o Respond to the effects of the pandemic and encourage those who are long term 

unemployed back into work, working in partnership with Job Centre Plus and a 

range of other organisations. 

o Work with Co-Lab, Exeter College, Eat That Frog and Learn Devon to provide 

community and bespoke individual support 

o Encourage the development of training that is more accessible, such as shorter 

boot camps, evening sessions and potentially community based initiatives to 

overcome barriers. 

o Ensure digital skills – at entry and lower levels – are embedded in learning for this 

group. 

o Ensure Life skills are embedded within learning for this group. 

o Explore the development of an Urban Learning Academy with Exeter College and 

Co-Lab to focus on those most disengaged from learning. 

o Encourage supported employment to give opportunities for those who face barriers 

to get into the workplace. Support employers to develop their approaches to 

recruitment and retention. 

 

 Raising aspirations 

o Work with the Careers Hub to address this within secondary schools and further 

education, ensuring the business community are supported to engage. 

o Raise ambition through celebration of the opportunities and organisations locally. 

o Ensure life skills are an integral part of raising aspirations and providing 

experiences to young people in particular. 

o Encourage more self-employment through aspiration for entrepreneurship. 

 

 Apprenticeships 

o Encourage everyone to consider apprenticeships and work-based training as a 

route for entering work and progression once in work, including support to 

overcome barriers. 

Page 32



o Support businesses to overcome barriers to taking on apprentices. 

o Support the expansion of degree apprenticeships at the university and in the 

business community as a means of delivering high level qualifications. 

 

 Supporting Sectors 

o Construction 

 Continue to support the sector through the Building Greater Exeter project. 

o Health and Social Care 

 Work with Devon County Council, Proud to Care and the NHS Trust’s to 

encourage individuals into the sector 

 Support core and soft skills offer 

 Help identify clear pathways into the social care sector 

o Creative arts and culture (Inc. Digital media) 

 Encourage individuals in or interested in the sector to undertake enterprise 

training 

 Identify clear pathways 

8.9 In addition to the priorities outlined above, there are a number of underpinning areas 

of work that need to be undertaken to support the overall delivery of the Strategy, these 

are:- 

 Funding 

o Supporting the devolution process, being clear about the need and ask for Exeter 

in relation to the funding available through the process. 

o Identifying suitable funding streams for the priorities identified within the action 

plan that don’t currently have funding associated with them. 

 

 Labour Market Intelligence 

o Continue to ensure that our LMI is up to date and relevant to support ongoing 

decision-making. 

 

 Partnerships 

o Identifying the actions that need to be delivered in partnership with a range of 

other organisations, including those which will be led by others. 

 

 Communication 

o Ensuring that all the work that is undertaken by the City Council in relation to 

supporting the development of skills and learning in the city is communicated. 

  

 Governance 

o Reviewing the current governance arrangements for the Skills Group to ensure 

that they are fit for purpose, amending and updating where required. 

o Ensuring this is reviewed on a regular basis. 

 

8.10 The Action Plan to deliver the Skills Strategy will cover an initial 3 year period, with 

an annual review of progress.  

Next Steps 

8.11  Finalise the Action Plan with the Skills Advisory Group. 

Page 33



8.12  Publish the Skills Strategy and associated documents as appropriate. 

8.11  Review the current Terms of Reference and membership of the Skills Advisory 

Group, updating as required to support the delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

9.1 Whilst a new corporate plan is being developed, the table below sets out how the 

Skills Strategy contributes to the current plan: 

CORPORATE PLAN 2019 – 2021 

PRIORITY Contribution of Skills Strategy 

Tackling Congestion 

and Accessibility 

 

Linked to the priority of attracting and retaining the right 

workforce.  

Supporting businesses to address these challenges with 

flexible and agile working. 

Building Great 

Communities 

 

Supporting inclusion – economically and socially.  

Access to the labour market, utilising programmes such as 

Exeter Works and Building Greater Exeter. Supporting skills 

development and lifelong learning. 

Promoting Healthy 

and Active Lifestyles 

Supporting the link between physical health, mental 

wellbeing and being economically active, enabling inclusion. 

Providing Value for 

Money Services 

 

Maximising partnership working opportunities, funding 

streams, supporting collaboration to address the priorities 

within the strategy. 

Leading a Well-Run 

council 

Taking a role of leadership and influence to address the 

priorities in the strategy. 

 

9.2 The strategy also works to deliver the Exeter 2040 vision in making Exeter a more 

inclusive, healthy and sustainable city:   

“By the time they are an adult, a child born in Exeter today will live in a city that is 

inclusive, healthy and sustainable – a city where the opportunities and benefits of 

prosperity are shared and all citizens are able to participate fully in the city’s economic, 

social, cultural and civic life.” 

10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

9.1 The identified risks are highlighted in the table below. 

Page 34



Risk Likelihood Mitigation 

Identified priorities need 

significant budget 

(more than available) to 

deliver  

Medium The City Council needs to be 

aware of this, and be prepared to 

support bids and applications to 

external funding streams in order 

to meet the needs of the strategy.  

Engagement and support to 

partners may also secure funding 

and delivery of priorities. 

Lack of partner support 

/ engagement 

Low A range of organisations / partners 

/ stakeholders have already been 

engaged in the process, and thus 

far have been very supportive. 

Unable to deliver 

against the priorities 

identified 

Low Currently, it is considered that the 

priorities that have been identified 

and the resulting actions are 

achievable in terms of delivery, 

This will be monitored on an 

ongoing basis by the Skills 

Advisory Group. 

New priorities and 

opportunities are 

identified not currently 

in the Strategy – 

potential to detract from 

existing work plan 

Medium  The Skills Advisory Group will take 

responsibility for supporting and 

guiding on changes to the agreed 

strategy and action plan, taking 

account of the impact on existing 

work programmes. 

 

 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)  

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 

consider the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct; 

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 

account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and 

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding. 

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 

equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority 

from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals 

that consider the impacts on all members of the community. 

Page 35



11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 

decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 

and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 

new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 

decision. 

11.4 In recommending this proposal potential impact has been identified on people with 

protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equalities Impact Assessment 

has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention.  

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:   

12.1 No direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the recommendations. 

13. Are there any other options? 

13.1 The alternative options were explored as part of approval by Executive in November 

2018, with the chosen approach to develop the Skills Strategy for Exeter. This report 

presents a revised version of the Strategy originally approved in March 2020. 

 

Director Net Zero Exeter & City Management , David Bartram 

Author: Rosie Bates 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

None 

 
 

Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 4.36 
01392 265275 
 

Page 36



  

 
  

Exeter Skills Strategy 
 

May 2022 

 

 

DRAFT 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Developed by 

 

 
 

Page 37



  

Wavehill: social and economic 

research 
 
West England office: 2-4 Park Street, Bristol, 
BS1 5HS   
 
Tel:    01545 571711 
Email:    wavehill@wavehill.com  
Twitter:    @wavehilltweets 
Web:     www.wavehill.com  
 
 
 
 

Exeter City Council 
 
 
Exeter City Council, Civic Centre, Paris Street, 
Exeter, EX1 1JN 
 
Tel:  01392 277888 
Twitter:  @ExeterCouncil 
Web:   www.exeter.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Wavehill Authors: 
Declan Turner 
Oliver Allies 
Saana Kärnä 
Megan Clark 

Exeter City Council Authors: 
Rosie Bates 
Victoria Hatfield 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Any questions in relation to this report should be directed in the first instance to Rosie Bates: 
rosie.bates@exeter.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
Date of document: May 2022 
Version: Draft v2 
 
 
 

Page 38

mailto:wavehill@wavehill.com
http://www.wavehill.com/
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/
mailto:rosie.bates@exeter.gov.uk


 

This page will be removed before the report is finalised. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 
 
This is a draft version of the report and the following errors and omissions may still appear. These, 
however, will be re-checked before the report is generated in its final version: 
 

 Grammar 

 Punctuation 

 Font 

 Graphs: Alignment / numbering / source 

 Tables: Alignment / numbering / source / headings 

 Bullet Point Alignment 

 Page / Section Breaks 

 Header / Footer content 

 Contents Page 
 
Also, please be aware that formatting variations occur when documents are sent electronically as the 
set up for individual PC’s and printers varies considerably.  This can lead to pagination, page length, 
header and footer and objects all appearing to be incorrect.  However, the hard copy print out on the 

original PC that the document was set up on would not produce such problems. 
  

Page 39



 

Contents 
Contents ..................................................................................................................................... ii 

Table of tables ....................................................................................................................... iii 

Table of figures ..................................................................................................................... iii 

1 Context ............................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Strategic Context ......................................................................................................... 3 

1.2 Latest Context ............................................................................................................. 5 

1.3 Exeter Baseline ............................................................................................................ 6 

2 Opportunities & Challenges ............................................................................................... 9 

2.1 Growth Sectors ............................................................................................................ 9 

2.2 Declining Sectors ....................................................................................................... 12 

2.3 Automation ............................................................................................................... 13 

2.4 General Skills Needs .................................................................................................. 13 

2.5 Skills Provision ........................................................................................................... 15 

2.6 Knowledge Gap ......................................................................................................... 16 

2.7 Accessibility ............................................................................................................... 17 

2.8 Employment Leavers ................................................................................................. 17 

2.9 Net Zero ..................................................................................................................... 18 

2.10 Underemployment ................................................................................................ 18 

2.11 Commuting and Living Patterns ............................................................................ 19 

2.12 Localised Deprivation ............................................................................................ 19 

2.13 Future of Work ...................................................................................................... 19 

2.14 Stagflation and Recession ...................................................................................... 20 

3 Priorities ........................................................................................................................... 21 

3.1 Overarching Priorities ............................................................................................... 21 

3.2 Specific Priorities ....................................................................................................... 22 

3.3 Priority Sectors .......................................................................................................... 27 

4 Facilitation ........................................................................................................................ 30 

4.1 Funding ...................................................................................................................... 30 

4.2 Labour Market Intelligence ....................................................................................... 31 

4.3 Partnerships and Communication ............................................................................. 31 

4.4 Governance ............................................................................................................... 31 

5 Action Plan ....................................................................................................................... 32 

 

Page 40



 

 
 

Table of tables 

Table XX: Qualification levels among the economically active working age population .......... 7 

Table XX: Vacancies by sector in Exeter TTWA 2019/20 to 2021/22 ........................................ 7 

 
 
 
 

Table of figures 

Figure XX: Skills clusters in demand among job listings in the Exeter TTWA .......................... 13 

Figure XX: Qualification and experience requirements for job vacancies in Exeter TTWA ..... 14 

 

Page 41



Exeter Skills Strategy 

1 

Executive summary 
 
Developing the skills and employability of the labour market is essential to driving prosperity.  
 
To continue to thrive, Exeter needs to constantly enhance the training provision available in 
the city and make sure the labour force has the skills mix to meet the local economic need. 
Ensuring that all individuals have the opportunity to improve their skills and find good 
employment facilitates their success and wellbeing. This strategy sets out the employment 
and skills priorities for Exeter until 2025, based on the national and local evidence, and the 
action undertaken in response by stakeholders across the city. 
 
Exeter has a strong foundation for skills provision with an Ofsted Outstanding college (since 
2014), a leading Russell Group University (frequently ranked in the top 20 in the UK), an 
innovative Mathematics School, and a new Institute of Technology, as well as a host of 
independent training providers. Many of the schools in the city are Good or Outstanding 
Ofsted ranked and GCSE attainment 8 scores are above the England average. A higher 
proportion of the working age population are qualified to Level 4 and above than in England 
and average earnings for city residents are some of the highest in Devon. While provision is 
strong support needs to be accessible and available to all to ensure the widest benefits, and 
this requires overcoming barriers and reaching isolated individuals and groups. 
 
The growth of sectors in Exeter, notably Health and Social Care, Professional services, Creative 
Arts and Culture, Education and Construction will drive training needs locally, as well as 
replacement demand for existing roles moving out of employment. In some areas of the 
economy, sectors are declining, or the impact of automation will shift the skills required for 
roles, leading to many needing to retrain. Data from vacancies in Exeter (which have been 
high given a tight labour market) suggests that many of the skills needs are around digital 
skills, business skills, and core life skills.  
 
Some of the key challenges for Exeter are around retention of young people (a longstanding 
trend) and staff locally (particularly driven by cost of living in Exeter, housing and competition 
for employees). Further, the pandemic has led to some people leaving the labour market with 
a decrease in the numbers of economically active individuals in Exeter, particularly over 50s. 
This is partly driven by the Great Resignation with individuals re-evaluating their careers and 
how they want to work. Changing working patterns with increased flexibility are likely to 
continue to influence employment and skills over the coming few years. Other 
macroeconomic trends including the net zero commitments and potential for stagflation and 
recession will further affect the skills needs and employment in Exeter, to which the city must 
respond. 
 
The priorities for Exeter are: 
 

 Talent retention and attraction to ensure there is a diverse and skilled labour market 
available to support the local economy, considering the offer of Exeter and how this 
can be capitalised. 

Page 42



Exeter Skills Strategy 

2 

 Alignment of training provision and future skills needs to safeguard the skills base 
against changes, including digitalisation and green skills, while ensuring there is 
adequate provision to meet latest demands and market shifts. 

 Clear map of skills provision available within Exeter so that businesses and individuals 
know what the right skills are for their organisation or career and who can provide the 
training they need. 

 Support those furthest from the labour market into work and ensure there is a 
sufficient supply of labour to fulfil the roles in the local economy, supporting inclusion 
and opportunity for Exeter’s residents. 

 Raising aspirations for all people in Exeter to realise their potential and seek exciting 
careers or pursue self-employment, improving wellbeing. 

 Apprenticeships will continue to be encouraged at all levels to provide the ability for 
learners to work and learn offering opportunities for those seeking different career 
pathways. 

 
In addition to an action plan for the next three years, responding to these core priorities, 
Exeter will also continue to support skill development in the following key sectors: 
 

 Digital technology 

 Construction 

 Health and social care 

 Creative arts, culture and digital media 

 Voluntary sector 
 
Building on the success of Exeter Works, utilising stronger careers education, information, 
advice and guidance, and encouraging people into the right jobs, aligned to robust labour 
market intelligence will help respond to these challenges. Better utilising internships, 
traineeships and apprenticeships to broaden workplace skills while continuing to offer 
specialist higher level qualifications, supported by digital training, will help meet the needs of 
the market. Encouraging community initiatives to overcome barriers and access those most 
in need while working to integrate employers more closely with support will help to join up 
this space. 
 
By working in partnership, the Exeter Skills Advisory Group and Exeter City Council will engage 
with a wide range of relevant stakeholders to respond to the priorities. The actions taken will 
improve education and training, strengthen the labour market and increase resilience, 
support growth, and improve prosperity and wellbeing, ensuring Exeter remains a vibrant and 
thriving city. 

Page 43



Exeter Skills Strategy 

3 

1 Context 
Exeter is a vibrant and dynamic city embracing the future whilst celebrating a past that is rich 
in heritage. At the centre of the South West peninsula, the city has been an engine for growth 
and development of Devon. Through its major institutions, desirable location and expanding 
sectors Exeter has gone from strength to strength. The local labour market is a key part of this 
and further improvements to skills and employment will enable Exeter to build on its 
successes and ensure a shared prosperity for all. 
 
This strategy sets out the employment and skills priorities for Exeter aligned to the 
opportunities and overcoming challenges, thereby supporting the city to continue to thrive. 
A skills strategy for Exeter provides an opportunity to assess the latest changes in the labour 
market following the Covid-19 pandemic, explore the priority areas for the city and outline an 
appropriate response. 
 
This strategy is also an opportunity to align the local agenda with the latest regional and 
national priorities. The Heart of the South West LEP recently published their Local Skills 
Report, while nationally the Skills and Post-16 Education Bill (based on the Skills for Jobs 
whitepaper) will revise the skills provision landscape. Further, the Government’s Levelling Up 
agenda and replacement of European Funding through the Shared Prosperity Fund, will 
provide opportunities for employment and skill interventions at a local level. 
 

1.1 Strategic Context 

A skills strategy for Exeter is important to help inform policy in the local area and respond to 
wider trends, however, it is only a small part of a much broader strategic context. 
 
While this strategy focuses on local challenges, opportunities and priorities in Exeter, the 
impacts of regional, national and global policy and macroeconomic trends has a far more 
significant impact on employment and skills. Furthermore, at a global level, climate change is 
likely to bring real changes in areas such as migration, energy and food sufficiency, and 
economic transition; the ambition for net zero is already creating policy shifts in response. 
The ageing population in the UK and particularly in Devon will bring implications for pensions 
and spending, social care and the ratios of the working age population to retirees, placing 
considerable burden on the welfare state. Changing patterns in globalisation from offshoring 
to reshoring (brought into relief by supply chains during the Covid-19 pandemic and energy 
dependency in the Ukrainian War) will affect how economies are structured and goods and 
services distributed. Technology is one of the biggest drivers of human progress, but 
digitalisation creates challenges as well as solutions from communities to politics. 
 
Nationally, the UK’s departure from the European Union means the current European funding 
round (2014-2020) will be the last for the UK (though it will run until the end of 2023). The 
use of European funding for infrastructure, innovation, business support and skills and 
training has been a mainstay of local interventions for decades. Its removal and replacement 
by Shared Prosperity Funding will bring changes in the way projects and interventions are 
structured and funding allocated. In April 2022 the funding allocations under the Shared 

Page 44

https://skillslaunchpad.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/2022-Local-Skills-Report-for-Heart-of-the-South-West.pdf
https://skillslaunchpad.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/2022-Local-Skills-Report-for-Heart-of-the-South-West.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/21/enacted


Exeter Skills Strategy 

4 

Prosperity Fund for England were announced based on Combined (Mayoral), Unitary and 
Local Authorities with Exeter receiving £1.4m.1 In addition, a centrally run adult numeracy 
programme, Multiply, will be delivered by upper tier authorities with Devon County Council 
receiving £3.1m to deliver this programme. 
 
Under the Levelling Up Agenda, parts of England have been granted further devolution 
through the County Deals.2 Devon, Plymouth and Torbay have been awarded a County Deal 
which will bring additional powers and resource to improve economic and social conditions 
in the local area. Skills will be part of the devolved powers and likely draw on the Local Skills 
Improvement Plans, creating a policy response at a local level. This will likely influence the 
provision of training in Exeter. 
 
The Skills and Post-16 Education Bill will legislate for Local Skill Improvement Plans to be 
developed in partnership between employers and education and training providers, setting 
the skills needs and provision locally. This will bring employers and the needs of the local 
economy more closely into the development of courses and training provision. A lifelong 
learning entitlement will be created providing opportunities for more flexibility in how adults 
and young people study and get funding. There will also be shifts in how technical education 
and higher education provision is overseen and approved. 
 
The Gatsby Benchmarks were introduced in England in 2017 and provide a common standard 
against which schools in England could set their employability and careers support.3 There is 
now a statutory obligation for schools to improve their performance on careers guidance, and 
initial evaluations on the use of the Gatsby Benchmarks were positive.4 However, schools 
continue to face funding pressures in delivering careers education and guidance, and work 
experience has been severely curtailed by the pandemic across the country. Despite this, 
employers were innovative in their use of digital support and have been instrumental in 
supporting careers education through the Careers Hubs.5 Awareness of options does also 
seem to be improving nationally, especially by Key Stage 4 and there is a good awareness of 
Apprenticeships though signposting to careers support for younger students needs 
improvement.6 Policy and Department for Education investment into careers support will 
continue to shape much of the careers education and guidance for those of school age. 
 
Regionally, the Heart of the South West LEP published their Local Skills Plan in January 2022, 
setting out the objectives for skills in the area under the vision that:7 
 
Every individual in the Heart of the South West should be able to access the skills they need 
to thrive in a productive job they value, supporting businesses, inclusion and growth 

                                                      
1 UKSPF Allocations, Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, April 2022 
2 Levelling Up the United Kingdom White Paper, Department for Levelling Up, Homes and Communities, 
February 2022 
3 Good Career Guidance, Gatsby, 2014 & Careers Strategy: making the most of everyone’s skills and talents, 
Department for Education, HM Government, December 2017 
4 Careers guidance and access for education and training providers, Department for Education, HM 
Government, July 2021 
5 Employers Engagement in Careers Education: Insights 2020/21, The Careers and Enterprise Company, 2021 
6 Insight Briefing: Mid-year update on student career readiness, The Careers and Enterprise Company, 2022 
7 Local Skills Plan, Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership, January 2022 

Page 45



Exeter Skills Strategy 

5 

 
The core objectives of the Heart of the South West over the next 5 years are to: 
 

 Ensure that our skills and training environment is responsive and forward facing, 
meeting business and individual need 

 Ensure that every individual can access the skills and training they need to achieve 
their own potential 

 Ensure that all skills and training investment and activity contributes to both improve 
our shared prosperity and collective productivity 

 
The Exeter Skills Strategy aligns to these objectives supporting the Heart of the South West 
vision at the city level. 
 
Drawing on the strengths of Devon and Exeter’s geographic position is important to maximise 
the benefits from the endowments the county has. Devon County Council are refreshing their 
Inward Investment Strategy which will inform how the county is positioned to attract 
organisations and individuals. A recent study of the labour market in Devon provides insight 
into the shifts that have taken place since the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in the local 
area, with falling rates of employment for the over 50s and increasing demands for flexible 
working appearing as key challenges for Exeter.8 
 

1.2 Latest Context 

Exeter has been at the heart of growth in Devon and the South West peninsula over the last 
decade. With a large travel to work area and wide range of job opportunities it is responsible 
for 18% of employment in Devon and is home to 16% of the adult population. The need for a 
strong and diverse labour market is reflected in the variety of the industries in the city. 
Employment and skills are also a fundamental determinant of productivity, a route out of 
deprivation and a vehicle for sustainable development. 
 
In March 2020, Exeter published a skills plan setting out the priorities, opportunities and 
challenges for skills in the city based on primary research and secondary evidence.9 Soon 
after, the Covid-19 pandemic caused widespread disruption to the global economy and 
fundamentally altered some of the labour market characteristics and employment 
opportunities in the UK and its cities and regions. In some areas the pandemic has altered the 
way the economy functions, in others it has compounded existing trends. 
 
In Q2 2020, economic output in the UK fell 19.2% following a widespread lockdown measure 
to prevent viral contagion.10 Unemployment was expected to rise to 8-11% nationally,11 
though through major government interventions such as the furlough scheme, was kept to 
5.2% at peak.12 Since then, the economy has recovered in many areas and the labour market 
has tightened considerably, with unemployment returning to pre-pandemic levels. However, 

                                                      
8 Labour Market Study for Devon, Wavehill on behalf of Devon County Council, April 2022 
9 Skills Strategy for Exeter, Exeter City Council, February 2020 
10 UK Gross Domestic Product, ONS, 2022 
11 Monetary Policy Report March-June 2020, Bank of England. March 2020 
12 Labour Force Survey, ONS, 2022 

Page 46



Exeter Skills Strategy 

6 

widespread implications of the crisis remain, not only with future risks of lockdowns, but the 
relationship the labour market has with work and the skills needs of the future. 

 
Further, the UK officially left the European Union on January 31st 2020 and the implications 
of this are beginning to emerge. Though leaving the EU has been synchronous with the Covid-
19 pandemic, making assessment of impact complicated, the disruption of leaving the single 
market from increased regulatory checks are well documented. The full economic impact of 
leaving the EU may not be felt for some time (estimates vary between 1.8% and 6.4% loss in 
economic output for the UK over the next decade),13 however, initial figures suggest that 
imports from the EU fell 20% during the first 9 months of 2021 and 24% of companies were 
exporting less by April 2021.14 The current trading arrangements are expected to lead to a 
one-third decline in UK-EU trade and a 13% fall in total UK trade with trade in 2021 down 
£20bn compared to 2018 (last comparable year).15 
 
These considerable external influences have led to the production of this new skills strategy, 
building on some of the priorities identified previously and considering the new environs in 
which the labour market and jobs operates. 
 

1.3 Exeter Baseline 

The performance of Exeter over the past decade has been strong, regularly featuring in the 
top growth cities in the UK.16 Its population has expanded at some of the fastest rates of all 
UK cities (13.8% since 2011 compared to 6.5% in England) and a large proportion of the 
resident population are of a working age (68.6% compared to 62.3% in England and 58% in 
Devon). 17 There is a high availability of jobs per head of working age population (job density 
of 1.22) in Exeter and the city serves as a major employment hub for Devon, with a large travel 
to work area (TTWA) and good transport links to Plymouth, Bristol and London.18 
 
Productivity in Exeter is high compared to the rest of Devon (GVA per hour of £35.80 against 
£30.10 in Devon) driven in part by the sectoral composition of the city. Proportions of 
employment in Exeter in the Professional services (9.4%), IT (4.7%) and Administration (8.3%) 
sectors are similar to the UK while they are lower in the rest of Devon. There are also higher 
concentrations of employment in the Health (19.8%) and Education (11.5%) sectors, 
influenced by large employers such as the RD&E hospital, the University of Exeter and Exeter 
College. Over a quarter of occupations (27.3%) are professional roles, above the Devon 
average of 21.4% and England average of 23.4%. 
 

                                                      
13 Expecting Brexit, Dhingra and Sampson, UK in a Changing Europe, working paper 01/2022. Accessed at: 
https://ukandeu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Expecting-Brexit-1.pdf  
14 Unravelling deep integration: Brexit and UK-EU trade, Freeman et al., 2022 
15 The economic impact of Boris Johnson’s Brexit Proposals, Bevington et al., CEP Brexit Analysis, 2019 & UK 
Trade, ONS, 2022 
16 Cities Outlook, Centre for Cities, various years 
17 UK Population Estimates, ONS, 2022 
18 Jon Density, ONS, 2021 

Page 47

https://ukandeu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Expecting-Brexit-1.pdf


Exeter Skills Strategy 

7 

Average earnings among Exeter residents are £459.30 per week, similar to the £467.10 per 
week for those who work in the city (compared to £509.70 for England). This gap is reflective 
of the inward commuting to higher paid jobs in Exeter from the travel to work area. 
Qualifications rates among the economically active of the city’s residents are high, as shown 
in Table XX; 48.2% are qualified at Level 4 and above and 19.6% at Level 3 compared to 45.1% 
and 17% in England respectively.19 
 
Table XX: Qualification levels among the economically active working age population 
 

Qualification Exeter England 

Level 4+ 48.2% 45.1% 

Level 3 19.6% 17.0% 

Level 2 15.5% 14.6% 

Level 1 4.6% 9.3% 

No qualifications 2.9% 4.4% 

 
The latest unemployment rates in Exeter are 3.3% after rising to 4.6% during the pandemic. 
This level of unemployment constitutes a very tight labour market and is contributing to high 
rates of vacancy in 2021 and the first half of 2022. However, economic activity rates have 
declined by 6.1 percentage points since before the pandemic to 73.4% bringing implications 
for the supply of labour to the market. The total labour market is now comprised of 68,200 
individuals in Exeter. A key part of this reduction in economic activity has come from the over 
50s demographic with a 13.1 percentage point reduction in participation, equivalent to 1,900 
fewer individuals in the labour market in Exeter. These figures represent a higher proportional 
reduction than found elsewhere in England but remain reflective of a national pattern, with 
6 in 10 reporting they would not return to work.20 
 
Vacancies in Exeter are high across many sectors and occupations as shown in Table XX.21 
Some sectors, such as Transportation, have experienced a doubling in the rate of vacancies, 
while others have remained near to their pre-pandemic baseline. More moderate increases 
in the vacancy rates also mask some of the scale. For instance, a 55% increase in the vacancies 
for Health care including nursing equates to 2,168 additional vacancies. 
 
Table XX: Vacancies by sector in Exeter TTWA 2019/20 to 2021/22 

 

Sectors 

Vacancies 
May 2019 - 
April 2020 

Vacancies 
May 2021 - 
April 2022 

Percentage 
Change 

Health Care including Nursing 3,921 6,089 55% 

Hospitality, Food, and Tourism 3,069 5,325 74% 

Business Management and Operations 3,061 4,894 60% 

Sales 2,745 4,102 49% 

Information Technology 2,621 3,066 17% 

                                                      
19 Three year average 2019-21, Annual Population Survey, ONS, 2022 
20 Reasons for workers aged over 50 years leaving employment since the start of the coronavirus pandemic, 
ONS, March 2022 
21 Vacancy Labour Insight, Exeter TTWA, Burning Glass, Accessed May 2022 

Page 48



Exeter Skills Strategy 

8 

Clerical and Administrative 2,449 4,020 64% 

Education and Training 2,287 3,260 43% 

Finance 1,975 2,534 28% 

Engineering 1,913 2,095 10% 

Community and Social Services 1,365 2,422 77% 

Law, Compliance, and Public Safety 1,313 1,952 49% 

Maintenance, Repair, and Installation 1,186 1,645 39% 

Construction, Extraction, and Architecture 1,174 1,592 36% 

Manufacturing and Production 1,168 1,614 38% 

Transportation 1,156 2,464 113% 

Customer and Client Support 1,150 1,874 63% 

Human Resources 788 1,158 47% 

Planning and Analysis 780 956 23% 

Marketing and Public Relations 471 669 42% 

Science and Research 457 525 15% 

Design, Media, and Writing 340 467 37% 

Personal Services 182 220 21% 

Agriculture, Horticulture, & the Outdoors 151 283 87% 

Performing Arts 21 31 48% 

 
Despite growth in the housing stock in Exeter, housing is becoming increasingly unaffordable 
with annual house price growth increasing from 2.8% in 2019 to 13% in 2021 and a house 
price to earnings ratio of 9.7 in 2021.22 Further, between 2019 and 2021 the volume of rental 
properties in Exeter appears to have decreased by 41% (3,330 to 1,960).23 This restricts the 
ability of lower earners who cannot afford to save and buy property and face limited available 
rental options. 
 
More detailed information on the baseline socio-economic and labour market conditions in 
Exeter are available in Annexe A. 
 

                                                      
22 UK House Price Index, HM Land Registry, January 2022 
23 Private Rental Market Statistics, Table 2.7, 2019 and 2021, ONS. The robustness of this ONS data at lower 
geographic levels and across time periods should be noted as cautionary, though the direction of travel is clear. 

Page 49



Exeter Skills Strategy 

9 

2 Opportunities & Challenges 

2.1 Growth Sectors 

The sectors below are identified in national literature as those likely to experience increased 
employment growth over the next 5-8 years. These sectors are expected to drive skill demand 
to fulfil roles within the sectors in addition to the steady replacement demand needed as 
individuals leave roles and need to be replaced by skilled recruits.  
 

2.1.1 Health and social care 

Following Covid-19, health aids, technicians and care roles are expected to increase by 27% 
by 2030 in the UK.24 Health professionals are expected to increase by 20%. In Exeter this 
would represent an increase of ~3,500 health and care staff given the prevalence of 
employment in the sector in the city.25 As these figures are derived from national evidence 
they may be underestimates given the acute ageing population in Devon where Exeter 
provides a major health and care centre for the surrounding local authorities who all have 
rapidly ageing populations.  
 
Social Care 
Skills needs for the social care sector include qualifications at GCSE level in Maths and English 
as well as higher level leadership and management skills to replace managerial staff who left 
during the pandemic. Soft skills are also vital for roles in the sector, and it is important that 
those coming into the role are confident and willing to engage with training as those joining 
the sector may not have had a positive experience in prior education. Additionally, care is also 
becoming more complex, with both care needs and solutions changing, raising new skill 
requirements for both existing staff and those looking to join the sector. The sector could 
greatly benefit from expanded employer engagement across training providers and colleges 
to ensure that the training meets the needs of social care providers. With BTEC and OCR 
qualifications being phased out, it is essential that the T-Level reflects the needs of social care 
as well as health care. 
 
There are also barriers to employment and skill development in social care that need to be 
overcome. The sector struggles to compete with health care for career progression and pay, 
with structural challenges that mean those with higher skills achievements and experience 
are not necessarily recognised with higher pay. There is often a social stigma associated with 
roles and a lack of understanding of the opportunities among influencers which needs to be 
overcome through campaigns like Proud to Care showcasing available careers. Due to 
resource constraints, it can be hard for care providers to release staff for training and those 
who are able to develop their qualifications and skills often leave the sector to work for the 
NHS with better pay, progression structure and long term benefits. Meanwhile, hours of work 
can be challenging and with rising pay in sectors such as hospitality and distribution, there are 
opportunities for more regular hours elsewhere. 

                                                      
24 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 
25 Based on Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS figures and job roles from Exeter Sectors Overview 
2020, Emsi scaled from the UK anticipated increases. 

Page 50



Exeter Skills Strategy 

10 

 
Health care 
Stakeholders report that the key challenges in the health care sector are around barriers to 
employment rather than skills, where there are shortages in many roles, but these change 
frequently and as an employer the NHS provides the experience and functional skills for all 
staff. There are then generally good structures in place for external training through the likes 
of Petroc for in work courses and a pipeline of nurses and medics from universities in Bolton, 
Birmingham, Plymouth and Exeter. One difficulty that the local NHS Trusts in Exeter and 
Devon face is being able to offer sufficient salaries to trainees that would attract individuals 
who are changing careers. Therefore, school and college leavers and graduates are targeted, 
but the challenges of housing affordability, transport and attractiveness of Exeter as a 
destination are then key considerations. Once employed in the NHS there are challenges of 
retention, with the pressures of the job, differing expectations between generations, and 
difficulties instilling resilience when there is alternative employment available. 
 

2.1.2 Professional services 

Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) professionals, managers, and 
business and legal professionals are all anticipated to see a net employment increase by 2030. 
STEM roles are expected to increase by 16%, managers by 10% and business and legal 
professionals by 6%.26 This would account for a further ~700 managers in Exeter, an additional 
~750 business and legal professionals and ~450 additional STEM professionals.27 In Exeter, 
the strengths of sectors such as environmental science, advanced engineering and digital 
technology will require a highly skilled labour supply to service and expand activities in these 
industries. 
 
Given the breadth of the sector, ongoing vacancy challenges and continued shifts in ways of 
working, the skill needs of the professional services sector are many and varied. However, 
digital skills were widely cited as key skill priorities now, and in the future. There are also 
needs for higher level specialist skills, particularly in areas such engineering and technology, 
as well as soft skills. Barriers to employment in the sector reflect some of the broader issues 
of high employment and general shortage of people, attracting people to Exeter, and 
sufficient pay for the high cost of living. Retention issues are also commonly cited with 
competition for staff, professionals re-evaluating their careers and many over 50s retiring (see 
section XX below). 
 

2.1.3 Wholesale and distribution 

The pandemic has accelerated the growth of the wholesale and distribution sector while 
consumer spending patterns are increasingly online in accordance with longer term trends. 
As the high street continues to decline, the growth in distribution and wholesale has 
increased. Nationally, transportation roles are expected to increase by 5% by 2030, 
representing a significant shift of +113,000 between pre and post Covid-19 estimates. In 
Exeter this would account for another ~200 roles, though siting of major distribution centres 
(as with Amazon and Lidl) will have a big impact on whether there are further additional roles 

                                                      
26 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 
27 Estimated as above. 

Page 51



Exeter Skills Strategy 

11 

locally in the sector. Skills needs for the sector are mostly soft skills, as well as short course 
qualifications in health and safety.  
 

2.1.4 Creative arts and culture 

The number of roles in the creative sector are expected to increase, particularly alongside 
digitalisation and shifting consumer patterns for content production. Creatives and arts 
management occupations are anticipated to increase by 17% by 2030.28 This would bring an 
estimated 150-200 more roles to Exeter, though could be bolstered by any relocation or the 
scaling of start-ups of creative companies in the city. That said, given the nature of the sector 
is often one of self-employed freelancers, with fewer permanent roles with organisations, 
much of the employment required will be through creating an environment for creative and 
cultural activity to flourish. 
 
Skills needs of the creative and cultural sector are varied but improving digital and leadership 
skills were cited by stakeholders as key to the sector’s development. The challenges for 
employment are often around salary, with pay being traditionally low while cost of living in 
Exeter and the South West is comparatively high. Freelance portfolio work can also be 
precarious making soft skills and entrepreneurial and business skills important to those in the 
sector, but something that can be lacking from those who pursue academic courses. It can 
also be difficult supporting individuals into the sector, particularly where there are fewer 
permanent lower level roles in organisations where an individual can gain experience. It can 
also be difficult to find or fund start-up spaces for creative and cultural businesses, limiting 
the opportunities for such organisations. 
 

2.1.5 Education 

Education is anticipated to increase its employment base as a sector across the UK by 5%. This  
equates to a further 128,000 jobs in England, where the sector employs 8.7% of the 
workforce. In Exeter this would account for an additional 550 jobs where the sector 
represents 11.5% of employment. Many skills required for education are at degree level for 
teachers and education professionals. Academic routes into teaching, such as PGCEs at Exeter 
University, will need to be complemented with other routes of School-centred initial teacher 
training (SCITT) or programmes such as Now Teach for career changers. It is also important 
that there is a response to the shortages of vocational trainers, particularly for workplace 
courses and qualifications. Stakeholders report that there needs to be more opportunities for 
individuals to work in colleges and at independent training providers as assessors and course 
leads for vocational qualifications. Without trainers, not only will the sector struggle, but the 
economy will be disadvantaged as demand for skill provision will not be met. The ability of 
the colleges and training providers to compete with employers for skilled staff to lead training 
courses was cited as a key challenge by stakeholders in Exeter. 
 

                                                      
28 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 

Page 52



Exeter Skills Strategy 

12 

2.1.6 Construction 

There are mixed forecasts on the future of employment in construction. One estimate is that 
construction jobs will decline by 4% in the UK by 2030, along with a 4% decline in property 
maintenance.29 Other estimates suggest that there will be a modest growth of 0.2% in the 
sector, though this will be less than the working population increase, reflecting a real terms 
decline. However, the employment needs of the construction sector are likely to be different 
across different regions and local areas of the UK, where construction activity will be driven 
by investment and demand for property. Devon traditionally has a high demand for 
renovation and refurbishment given the inward migration of older demographics purchasing 
homes and the rate of second home ownership. There are also continued investments in 
housing developments to accommodate the growing population across Devon. Insight from 
the local sector is that they expect the continued levels of demand over the medium term, 
though the sector is susceptible to external shocks and economic downturn making 
predictions challenging. 
 
One of the key challenges the sector currently faces is simply a lack of people, with shortages 
in many roles and skill areas. Ignoring the potential growth of the sector, replacement 
demand alone is estimated to require 30,000 new workers in the sector in the South West by 
2025, exacerbated by an ageing workforce, but without the supply coming through skill 
shortages may increase. Colleges, training providers and universities need to be supported to 
encourage individuals to get qualifications and skills in the construction sector. The training 
offered also needs to continually be developed and improved with building practices and 
policy. ‘Green skills’, for instance, will require new courses and retraining for the existing 
employment base of the construction sector, as well as introducing the new skills for the 
replacement employment coming into the sector in response to the move to net zero. While 
construction standards such as Passivhaus or skills to install air source heat pumps are 
increasingly in demand, there is also demand for training in existing practices which will need 
to be balanced in any provision. 
 

2.2 Declining Sectors 

Several industries in the UK are expected to decline within the decade, both due to long term 
trends and the changes brought by the pandemic. This includes those in the food service 
sector, business administration, customer service and sales and leisure. 8.1% of those in the 
labour market may need to change roles by 2030, up from 7.1% before the pandemic showing 
the catalytic affect the crisis has had. The pandemic has also caused upheaval for businesses 
in sectors such as real estate, with the implications of the shift in working practices yet to be 
resolved. Other sectors that have been facing long term transition, such as manufacturing and 
retail, still face uncertainty with likely continued shifts between subsectors (for instance 
between high street retail and online retail). Those who are currently working in these sectors 
facing declining or shifting employment over the next decade will need retraining as they 
move careers. Further, the risk of global recession is increasing, with potential repercussions 
for labour markets in the UK, pivoting away from the current full employment. Ensuring there 
is an availability of training to move people positively into growth sectors which avoids lateral 

                                                      
29 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 

Page 53



Exeter Skills Strategy 

13 

movement into other sectors also at risk is important to ensure that individuals avoid long 
term employment challenges. 
 

2.3 Automation 

Large numbers of jobs in England are at risk of having some of their tasks automated by the 
end of the decade. The risk of automation varies by sector with lower potential in health care 
and higher potential in sectors with elementary roles, including construction, mechanics and 
leisure. An estimated 39% of roles in Exeter are at risk of automation and women are more 
likely to be in roles at risk, bringing in an equality dynamic. 30 Given the roles more at risk of 
automation, the effects will disproportionately affect those with lower qualifications and 
education creating challenges for inclusion.31 This will generate further shifts in the labour 
market and skills needed for employment, driving the digitalisation agenda and need for IT 
literacy among many roles and pursuit of stable careers in sectors that may be less effected. 
 

2.4 General Skills Needs 

In addition to sectoral skills needs, there are some acute skills shortages in Exeter which are 
generally consistent with the South West and UK. These include both short term skills gaps 
and the longer-term skills needs born of trends affecting job roles and tasks. It is important 
to recognise however, that many of the current vacancies and skills shortages are due to a 
very tight labour market, with insufficient numbers of people seeking work for the number of 
roles available. This will need to be resolved alongside any skills support initiatives. 
 
The following table presents the skill clusters most requested by vacant positions in the Exeter 
TTWA between May 2021 and April 2022. Microsoft Office and other IT productivity skills are 
highly demanded alongside the customer service (driven in part by transition volumes in the 
leisure, retail and food and drink sectors), teaching and health. Much of the other skill areas 
in demand are for business skills such as sales and budget management. 
 
Figure XX: Skills clusters in demand among job listings in the Exeter TTWA 

                                                      
30 Which occupations are at higher risk of being automated?, ONS, March 2019 
31 Will robots really steal out jobs?, PWC, 2018 

Page 54



Exeter Skills Strategy 

14 

 
 
A high proportion of qualification levels required by those recruiting have generally been 
bachelors degrees. However, there are also high demands for those with some experience as 
well as qualifications, even at the lower levels as shown in figure XX. Among consultees, 
foundational skills were frequently cited as areas where those trying to access lower-level 
qualifications and jobs face challenges. Young people leaving education without English and 
Maths GCSE require entry level 3 courses to provide them with the basic skills and 
qualifications they need to access other training programmes for level 1 and 2 courses. This 
creates barriers which are often coupled with others including soft skills (covering time 
management to teamwork and communication) as well as general lack of work readiness 
among many applicants. 
 
Figure XX: Qualification and experience requirements for job vacancies in Exeter TTWA 
 

43.3%

20.5%

18.8%

16.7%

15.6%

13.3%

12.8%

12.5%

12.0%

11.7%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0%

Customer and Client Support: Basic Customer Service

Information Technology: Microsoft Office and
Productivity Tools

Sales: General Sales

Administration: General Administrative and Clerical
Tasks

Education and Training: Teaching

Business: Project Management

Administration: Administrative Support

Finance: Budget Management

Personal Care and Services: Food and Beverage Service

Health Care: Mental and Behavioral Health Specialties

Page 55



Exeter Skills Strategy 

15 

 
 
Further, while younger people have digital awareness, it was often noted by consultees they 
may not have the digital skills needed for the workplace. For many companies, social media 
skills are much less relevant than Excel, payment systems, databases and word processing. 
However, the announcement in April 2022 that ICT user and functional skills funding would 
be removed from the ESFA at the end of the academic year may make offering these skills 
more challenging.32 
 

2.5 Skills Provision 

As the principle urban area within Devon, Exeter is responsible for large amounts of the 
training and qualification provision. The average attainment 8 score per pupil in Exeter for 
GCSE was 49.4 in 2017.33 More recent data (2020/21) is only available by school in Exeter, and 
this ranges from 40.7 to 50.9, suggesting similar results to the England average of 46.7.34 
Secondary schools in Exeter had ~8,600 pupils in 2020/21, from <100 at the smallest schools 
to almost 1,300 at the largest, therefore making averaging between schools difficult. At A-
Level the proportion of pupils getting AAB or higher ranges between 10.4% at Exeter College 
(1,035 leavers), to 71.7% for Exeter Mathematics School (62 leavers).35 The average for 
England is 14.1% and Devon 13.6%. 
 
For apprenticeships, 150 individuals achieved an apprenticeship outcome in Exeter in 
2021/22 with a further 570 starts.36 This was a decrease on the two previous years (2019/20 

                                                      
32 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/level-2-ict-qualifications-removed-funding-from-1-august-
2022  
33 Secondary Attainment Data 2015/16, Department for Education, 2017 
34 KS4 attainment 8 distribution by local authority district data 2020/21, Department for Education, 2021 
35 A Level and other 16-18 results 2020/21, Attainment and other performance measures, Department for 
Education, 2021 
36 Apprenticeships and traineeships, 2019 - 2022 Academic Years, Department for Education, 2022 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Bachelor's Degrees, Graduate Certificates/Diplomas

GCSEs, Standard Grades, Level 2 S/NVQs

A-Levels, Highers, Level 3 S/NVQs

Postgraduate Degrees, Level 5 Certificates/Diplomas,
Level 5 S/NVQs

HNCs, Level 4 Certificates/Diplomas, Level 4 S/NVQs

Foundation Degrees, HNDs

Level 1 S/NVQs

0 to 2 years of experience 3 to 5 years of experience 6 to 8 years of experience 9+ years of experience

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/level-2-ict-qualifications-removed-funding-from-1-august-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/level-2-ict-qualifications-removed-funding-from-1-august-2022


Exeter Skills Strategy 

16 

and 2020/21) when 800 and 840 individuals began an apprenticeship and there were 390 and 
450 achievements respectively. Although the proportions of those seeking apprenticeships in 
Exeter and Devon are higher than in England, reflecting the roles and sectors locally (4.6% 
compared to 2.7%), there are opportunities for improvements in participation. 
 
Across Devon, 58.5% of pupils from mainstream schools progressed on to university degrees 
in 2017/18 compared to 69.6% in England.37 In Exeter 32.6% of 16-18 year olds go into a 
sustained education destination with 12.2% going into a sustained apprenticeship and 36% 
going into sustained employment.38 In the UK, far more 16-18 year olds go into sustained 
education (47.4%) and fewer go into apprenticeships (8.4%) and employment (24.9%). While 
the balance of employment and education is useful for Exeter, the city could benefit from an 
increase in the proportion remaining in education to gain higher qualifications. 
 
Student figures from the University of Exeter for 2018/19 graduates show that the majority 
(74.7%) are domiciled outside of the South West and therefore tend to return to these areas 
after graduation.39 15 months after graduating 15.7% of University of Exeter graduates are 
still in Devon (8.9% were domiciled there before) and 19.7% are in the wider South West.40 5 
years after graduating, 23.8% of University of Exeter graduates are in the South West with 
58.4% now in London and the South East.41 Retention of graduates is therefore a key 
challenge for Exeter, especially given the wider out-migration of young people from Devon. 
 

2.6 Knowledge Gap 

The gap in the knowledge of what training businesses need, the awareness of what training 
is available and the understanding of individuals of what training is appropriate is a constant 
challenge. Some training provision is well taken up, and sufficient demand does encourage 
the development of new courses. However, there can be challenges with demand for new 
courses that are responding to future need (such as retrofit construction skills) and updating 
existing courses to meet the latest business needs. Exeter College and the training providers 
work closely with business groups to ensure their skills provision is appropriate for the need, 
though there is a sometimes a time constraint with skills becoming outdated faster than 
courses can be developed (particularly in digital skills). 
 
Exeter offers a good range of training provision and providers do work together to ensure 
gaps are minimised, the nature of funding, networks and demand means there are difficulties 
around coordination. Duplication or overlap of provision is common and without clarity for 
prospective learners and businesses on which routes are most suitable or provide the 
appropriate skills, there is some competition for learners. However, it was reported by 
stakeholders that this was improving as the landscape tried to meet the need of the widest 
range of people with their own target market and specialisms. 
 

                                                      
37 Progression to higher education or training: 2019/20, KS4, Department for Education, 2020 
38 KS4 & KS5 destinations of 2019/20 leavers, 16-18 destination measures, Department for Education, October 
2021 
39 Where do HE students come from?, Higher Education Statistical Agency, February 2022 
40 HESA Graduate Outcomes Survey Results Record 2018/19, HESA, 2022 
41 Graduate Outcomes (LEO): provider level data, 2018/19, Department for Education, 2020 

Page 57



Exeter Skills Strategy 

17 

Prospective learners also struggle to understand what courses are suitable for the careers 
they wish to pursue, lacking the insight on progression pathways. Work experience and 
practical knowledge of the workplace has been slowly stripped from the curriculum and it was 
widely commented that one week work of experience throughout the whole of the education 
programme is insufficient for young people to make life choices. The impact of the pandemic 
has meant no formal work experience as part of education and very little substitute for the 
past 2 years. Too many young people have little knowledge of practically what work is like 
and therefore cannot be expected to have the right skills or to know whether the career they 
choose is right for them. This leads to inappropriate training and qualifications being pursued 
and individuals having to reskill despite only having completed education recently. 
 

2.7 Accessibility 

While there is good availability of training and learning in Exeter, it has to be accessible to all, 
and there are many and various barriers that individuals face in gaining the skills and 
experience they need to secure employment. The pandemic has created further challenges 
with isolation for hard to reach groups, and there are constant challenges with inclusion and 
equality of opportunity including financial, time and educational barriers. There are 
individuals in Exeter who face mental health and wellbeing challenges, those who want to 
develop new skills but are unable to commit unpaid time or cannot afford the transportation 
costs. The pandemic has, however, brought some opportunities through digital innovations 
enabling online delivery of training courses helping improve accessibility for some. For others 
the move to online provision instead creates a further barrier for those in data poverty or 
digitally excluded. 
 
Exeter College is increasing its offer of evening courses and shorter boot camps to encourage 
participation among those who may struggle to engage for longer duration courses during the 
day. However, it remains hard to get adults back into education, particularly where they may 
not have had a good experience in the past and struggle with labels of ‘college’. Restrictions 
of funding can also lead to a disconnect between community budgets and the Adult Education 
Budget causing gaps in the learning journey from those trying to gain and improve lower-level 
skills. There are also challenges with recruitment and retention among training providers 
themselves, who struggle to offer sufficient salary, particularly where they need staff to 
deliver courses in the evenings and at weekends. 
 

2.8 Employment Leavers 

The pandemic has provided the context needed for many individuals to reconsider their 
careers and ways of working. This has in part led to the ‘Great Resignation’ in 2021 with large 
numbers of workers considering changing employers and many over 50s leaving the labour 
market. 8.5% of the over 50s who left the labour market would consider working again if they 
could do so flexibly and 1 in 10 would be encouraged back if they could work from home with 
most wanting to work part time.42 However, the current systems are not structured to help 

                                                      
42 Reasons for workers aged over 50 years leaving employment since the start of the coronavirus pandemic, 
ONS, March 2022 

Page 58



Exeter Skills Strategy 

18 

such individuals back into work and many are unaware of the employability support 
available.43 In November 2021, 69% of workers surveyed were confident of moving to a new 
role in the next few months, while 24% were planning a change role in 3 to 6 months.44 
Retention of staff has therefore become a key challenge for businesses in the UK and Exeter 
as staff consider better packages elsewhere (including flexible working) and take stock of 
whether their current career is what they really want to pursue. 
 
With many individuals in senior roles leaving, and difficulties with recruitment, those in more 
junior roles have been promoted within their organisations. This has left gaps at lower levels 
as well as middle and senior roles where vacancies have not been filled. Here there may be 
an opportunity to secure employment for those furthest from the labour market who can fill 
elementary or junior level roles. The local labour market could also be boosted by filling the 
higher-level roles with individuals from outside of the travel to work area if they can be 
enticed to relocate to Exeter. 
 

2.9 Net Zero 

The climate crisis has led to the declaration of reaching net zero carbon emissions by 
individuals, organisations and governments. The UK has committed to reaching net zero by 
2050 and Exeter is looking to be net zero by 2030. The shift to net zero will require 
fundamental redirection of how the economy at a national and local level operates, with 
shortening supply chains, innovation and different working practices. Figures in a forthcoming 
report by the Centre for Energy and the Environment at the University of Exeter highlight the 
extensive shifts required to enable Exeter to meet its net zero pledge by the end of the 
decade.45 The skills needed by individuals and organisation operating in this net zero economy 
will be different for many, with the level of change determined by the role and sector. 
Estimates suggest that in the South West, 20% of all jobs will be affected by the transition to 
net-zero with 10% going to need some form of retraining as sectors decline and 10% support 
to take advantage of emerging opportunities, such as retro-fit.46 For manufacturing, an 
estimated 17% of employees will need to reskill, in transport and storage 26% are going to 
need to reskill while an estimated 30% of those in Construction will need to reskill. Green 
skills for construction will be particularly important if Exeter is to reach its target with 
thousands of premises requiring reinsulating, having photovoltaic panels installed and heat 
pumps fitted every year until 2030. 
 

2.10 Underemployment 

Many of those employed in Exeter have skills and qualifications beyond the requirements of 
the role they are performing and are therefore considered underemployed. In Devon (Exeter 
statistics are not available) 42% of individuals are in a role for which they are over-qualified 

                                                      
43 Working Together: The case for universal employment support, Demos, May 2022 
44 The great resignation: 69% of UK workers ready to move job, Ranstad UK, November 2021 
45 Exeter’s 2019 greenhouse gas inventory and sector emissions monitoring, Centre for Energy and the 

Environment, University of Exeter, February 2022 
46 Investing in a Just Transition in the UK, How investors can integrate social impact and place-based financing 
into climate strategies, Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, London School of 
Economics, February 2019 

Page 59



Exeter Skills Strategy 

19 

and 33% are underutilised. In some cases, this may be that individuals have different 
employment motivations, however, there are opportunities to draw on other underemployed 
individuals to fulfil roles more appropriate to their skills and improve productivity. This will 
provide employment prospects for those who may be further from the labour market or don’t 
have the skills to obtain higher roles. 
 

2.11 Commuting and Living Patterns 

One of the key challenges facing Exeter relates to its economic success. Given the prominence 
of the city as a centre of employment, education and culture in predominantly rural 
surroundings, Exeter has a large travel to work area in Devon which faces high house prices. 
Public transport from rural locations is limited and where it is available is expensive, forcing 
many individuals working in the city but living outside to commute via car. This can be 
unaffordable for many which, alongside the cost of housing, prevents those on lower earnings 
from either remaining in, or locating to, the area. The standard of living for those without the 
skills or qualifications to access higher paid jobs who do remain can therefore be low, limiting 
the wellbeing of residents. 
 

2.12 Localised Deprivation 

Despite the relative prosperity of Exeter as a whole, there are parts of Exeter that face various 
deprivation challenges. Education and skills, employment and income, as well as health, are 
all contributing factors to the deprivation in these communities.47 The challenges facing 
individuals living in these areas of Exeter are often many and complex, contributing to some 
of these groups being furthest from the labour market. As well as insufficient skills and 
qualifications, there are those with physical and mental health care needs or disabilities. Ex-
offenders who struggle to re-join the labour market due to their criminal record, and those 
with drug or alcohol problems or victims of domestic abuse facing confidence challenges. 
Responding to the challenges in these areas will require nuanced employability support 
alongside other interventions that may differ from the skills and employment support 
necessary for other parts of the city. 
 

2.13 Future of Work 

In the UK it is estimated that 26% of employees can work 3 or more days a week remotely 
and a further 22% can work 1-2 days per week remotely.48 As a key driver of the Great 
Resignation, the flexibility to work from home, keep the hours that suit you and work in a 
rewarding role is important to the future of work for many sectors. 85% of those who had 
worked from home during the pandemic now want some form of hybrid working and 18.3% 
of businesses intend to use greater home working.49 Some sectors will not be able to offer 
such flexibility, while the impacts on other sectors are still being fully understood. However, 
employment in Exeter is likely to be driven by changing dynamics in remote working affecting 
where individuals are based and who they work for. Implications include the potential for 

                                                      
47 Indices of Deprivation, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2019 
48 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 
49 Business and individual attitudes towards the future of homeworking, UK: April to May 2021, ONS, June 2021 

Page 60



Exeter Skills Strategy 

20 

individuals to live in Exeter while earning high salaries working for firms based elsewhere, 
potentially bringing in additional income but also taking potential staff away from local firms 
unless they can compete on price. This scenario may eventually lead to a two tier economy 
dynamic in desirable places to live such as Exeter, where residents either work remotely in 
high skilled, high value roles, or work locally in lower skilled service sectors supporting these 
individuals, with risks for rising inequalities. 
 
Hybrid working models also make it more difficult for organisations to train and develop staff. 
For young people coming into work for the first time, the new working environment has been 
recognised as a barrier to development, without the personal connections and learning 
opportunities that come with working alongside those with more experience in a shared 
workspace. For SMEs there is a risk that recruiting young people becomes too challenging 
without the capacity to support them day to day while working in a hybrid way. This may 
leave young people with fewer employment options except with larger companies where 
programmes and schemes can be efficiently employed. Given there are few of these in 
locations such as Exeter, this could have implications for the local labour market. 
 

2.14 Stagflation and Recession 

Despite the strong employment figures of late 2021 and early 2022, the UK is facing increasing 
economic pressures with rising inflation and global slowdown. Forecasts from the Bank of 
England are predicting looming recession, or very low growth, and likelihood of stagflation 
causing an increase in the rate of unemployment in Q4 2022 and throughout 2023.50 The 
implications of such a scenario could be to catalyse the decline of sectors that have been 
struggling, creating a rising demand for employability support. Coupled with a rising cost of 
living, the challenges facing policy makers and Government are likely to stretch support 
services (some of which have not recovered since the pandemic) and shift a focus of 
individuals towards secure employment. A labour market with high unemployment is a very 
different context against which activity and interventions are to be delivered. 
 

                                                      
50 Monetary Policy Report, Bank of England, May 2022 

Page 61



Exeter Skills Strategy 

21 

3 Priorities 
In response to the available evidence this section outlines the employment and skills priorities 
for Exeter to address over the next three years. 
 

3.1 Overarching Priorities 

3.1.1 Inclusivity 

It is essential that Exeter looks to address the skills gaps to ensure that everyone in the city is 
able to benefit from the local economic opportunities. Skills and employment are an enabler 
for many other social and economic factors from mobility to wellbeing, employability to 
progression. There are many disadvantaged groups in Exeter; some who are connected with 
support providers and others who are harder to reach. Equality of access is paramount to 
providing prospects for all and social justice, and this stretches from digital inclusion through 
to the core skills required to undertake training. Social Mobility in the South West outlines 
four recommendations of a school-centred cradle to career model, a university led tutoring 
service, sharper focus on disadvantage and post-16 skills reform.51 Exeter City Council will 
endorse these recommendations and look to support a local response. This requires 
coordinating local assets to address multiple life challenges across ages, raising attainment in 
schools, bridging the gap between education and work and consideration of how training is 
provided, overcoming the different barriers in accessing courses and work. 
 

3.1.2 Productivity 

It is widely acknowledged that skills are fundamental to the productivity of an economy, from 
efficiency in an individual’s role, the output they generate and the contribution of the 
organisation they work for to a supply chain. Raising the productivity of the UK is at the core 
of national and regional economic strategies (Building Back Better, Local Industrial Strategy) 
and funding programmes (European Structural and Investment Funds, Community Renewal 
Fund and forthcoming Shared Prosperity Fund). By developing the skills base of the labour 
market in Exeter, productivity of the local economy can be improved. This covers all skill and 
qualification levels but is particularly important for those with low or no skills and sectors that 
are either more labour intensive or suffer from low productivity. Getting the right skills for 
the right people to get into the right jobs is important if productivity is going to be improved 
and lead to benefits in earnings and standard of living. 
 

3.1.3 Digital skills 

Consistent across a large number of the stakeholders engaged and reflected in wider 
literature is the need for greater digital skills, both in the short term and the future. Exeter 
has opportunities for higher levels skills in this space in large organisations, such as the Met 
Office, and in Exeter’s strong SME base. The changing labour market will also mean most roles 
are likely to require some form of digital skills, from basic use of generic software and 
databases (including MS Office) through to specialist products including CAD and accounting 

                                                      
51 Social Mobility in the South West, Centre for Social Mobility, University of Exeter, April 2022 

Page 62



Exeter Skills Strategy 

22 

tools. Working in partnership with employers and training providers, Exeter City Council will 
identify what the full range of digital skills needs that are required both now and in the future 
are, and whether suitable courses are available to meet that need, and how any gaps will be 
filled. Digital innovation will be important to the success of local economies and ensuring 
there are the high level skills to fulfil this is fundamental to realising the ambition of Exeter. 
 
Training providers such as Tech South West, Eat that Frog and Learn Devon (among others), 
are offering accessible digital training to overcome the barriers that many face and promote 
inclusion. Exeter City Council will support this work to ensure all digital skills offers are 
available to all. It is important that all training provision includes some digital skill 
development or modules to offer those at all levels the appropriate skills for the workplace in 
an increasingly digital world. Encouraging employers to recognise the value in upskilling staff 
with digital techniques and approaches will further drive economic development and ensure 
the economy is resilient. The Council supports the work of the University of Exeter in 
supporting local SMEs with placements for digital students to address organisational 
challenges. 
 

3.1.4 Life skills 

There is widespread evidence both locally and nationally that poor life skills are creating 
challenges with recruitment, and Exeter needs a labour market who have the right behaviours 
and attitudes to work. Life skills refers to the non-qualified elements that contribute to an 
individual’s ability to be employed including confidence, time keeping, communication, 
resilience, leadership, teamwork and critical thinking. Though it is difficult to develop training 
in response to life skills needs, partners in Exeter such as the National Careers Service and 
Careers Hub are providing valuable advice and support to individuals to help them with core 
skills needed to get a job. This activity will be continued and enhanced by closer engagement 
of a business forum which can offer experiential insight for individuals into the workplace. 
This is important for all people, and especially young people when life skills, such as attitudes, 
are forming. 
 
Where learners are engaged with training, life skill development should be consciously 
included within modules to help improve these facets of an individual’s offer. Many of the 
training providers already build in modules on business acumen to support those undertaking 
vocational qualifications and Exeter City Council encourages more deployment of practical 
business skills into a range of qualifications and courses to support individuals transition into 
work and potentially self-employment. 
 

3.2 Specific Priorities 

3.2.1 Talent retention and attraction 

As well as supporting skills at all levels, it is important that Exeter and the TTWA are able to 
attract and retain talent, particularly those of a younger age who will contribute to the 
economy over a longer period of time. This requires both the jobs and training opportunities, 
but also appropriate housing, amenities, and transport. While the latter are not the subject 
of this strategy, it is important that plans for housing and transport locally are meeting the 

Page 63



Exeter Skills Strategy 

23 

needs of all workers and pay levels. The Liveable Exeter programme and its objectives to 
facilitate vibrant communities and enhanced neighbourhoods through an improved built 
environment and sustainable transport, will help to fulfil this element of the attraction 
priority. Further, the continued success of the city will encourage investment in amenities and 
services that attract a diverse population and build on Exeter’s strengths of location and 
existing offer. 
 
From a skills and employment perspective, talent attraction and retention depends on the 
training environment and jobs available. Exeter City Council will work alongside partners at 
the university and training providers, as well as the business community, to ensure that all 
those leaving education are aware of the employment opportunities in the city. An employer 
forum will be convened, drawing on existing networks, to support with careers information, 
advice and guidance for young people. An employer forum can also work with partners to 
support routes into employment through internships, traineeships and graduate recruitment 
programmes, building on the successes of the University of Exeter programme to place 
students with SMEs across the city and South West. 
 
Other alternative initiatives, such as the university’s scheme to help graduates to start their 
own businesses locally, will continue to be supported. Enhancement of the business skills and 
training offer in areas such as financial management, leadership, marketing and resource 
management, particularly in traditional trade roles or sectors with high rates of self-
employment will encourage start-ups.  
 
Further, employers in the city are encouraged to consider their offer to prospective staff, how 
this competes with other parts of the country and where flexibility, wellbeing and company 
ethos can offer additional incentives beyond renumeration to attract individuals to the area. 
Utilising the strong skills and training offer available locally to support career development 
will play an important part in raising the attractiveness of the area, if employers are providing 
such training to their staff. 
 

3.2.2 Alignment of training provision and future skills needs 

Supported by the forthcoming changes in the Skills and Post-16 Education Bill, skills and 
training providers in Exeter will build on their existing business relationships to work closely 
together when designing provision to match this with the local economic need, supported by 
Exeter City council. By gathering and feeding in labour market intelligence, linking in with the 
Local Skills Improvement Plans at a LEP level, appropriate training for the future skills needs 
can be developed. Bringing together a city-wide employer forum and encouraging 
collaboration between providers will enhance this piece of work. Collaboration between 
Exeter College, the University of Exeter and the independent training providers will also 
encourage sharing of best practice and minimisation of duplication in provision to ensure 
resources are best utilised. 
 
Of particular importance over the next few years is the net zero agenda and the green skill 
requirements to respond to the economic changes that this will bring. Key changes in skills 
across many sectors from manufacturing to transport will need to be met, with green skills in 

Page 64



Exeter Skills Strategy 

24 

construction a particular area of need given the requirements of the city to meet its net zero 
targets by 2030. 
 
Training provision has to consider the alignment of both current skills shortages and future 
needs; if training for the future is not encouraged within businesses now, the delay and gaps 
that this will create could lead to additional challenges in some sectors. However, provision 
has to recognise the existing needs of the market and respond accordingly. Training providers 
particularly need support to help facilitate transitions to future skills provision where demand 
may be currently insufficient to warrant investment in developing a new course. Therefore, 
employers need to be encouraged to provide the necessary training for staff both now and in 
the future while training providers need to continue with a flexible offer. 
 
Continuing to support digital skills across all training provision will be important for many 
future job roles as well as ensuring individuals are able to progress in their sector and career, 
or transition into another. This includes basic digital skills through to more specialist and 
technical skills that will be increasingly needed across many sectors as the pace of 
digitalisation continues. 
 
Exeter boasts some cutting-edge businesses and organisations operating in innovative sectors 
including agritech and environmental science, advanced engineering and technology. To 
facilitate the continued development of these sectors, Exeter needs to maintain its provision 
of specialist skills that will drive innovation. Exeter City Council will work with the university, 
college and other training providers in the city to ensure that high level skills provision is 
aligned to the needs of key sectors in the city. This will support the LEP growth sector priorities 
and could dovetail with any pilot activity for the skills escalators in Digital Futures, Engineering 
Futures and Energy Futures. 
 
Balancing strategic skills provision with reactive training support is also necessary to build 
some resilience into the system and Exeter City Council will work with organisations who 
provide services in accordance with immediate requirements. The rising prospects of 
recession in the UK, as well as the sectors cited above that are forecast to decline, may create 
challenges for the future labour market in Exeter. Facilitating the ability to respond to any 
external shocks through provision of employability and skills support will be important to 
safeguard livelihoods and wellbeing. Working with partners, Exeter City Council will also look 
to encourage skills and training that can facilitate transitions between careers and continue 
to develop Exeter Works as a means to provide employability support to those who may lose 
their jobs or look for a career change. 
 

3.2.3 Clear map of skills provision available 

Exeter needs to ensure that there is an awareness of courses available among not just the 
employers but individuals looking to upskill. Understanding whether a course is appropriate 
for the skill needs of an organisation or individual (aligned to their career, prospects and 
interest) is vital to ensuring that provision is suited to the market and currently the landscape 
can be confusing to navigate. This links directly with the provision of strong careers 
information, advice and guidance for all ages, from young people leaving education, to those 
seeking a career change or returning to the labour market. Exeter City Council will therefore 

Page 65



Exeter Skills Strategy 

25 

work with partners to develop a road map of career pathways with skills needs and the 
availability of existing courses and providers in Exeter, particularly for priority sectors. This 
will also enable those providing careers information, advice and guidance to have the latest 
insight and identify where skills can be transferred. This will be particularly useful for Exeter 
Works, as well as partners such as the National Careers Service, to ensure suitable referrals 
can be made to training provision among those receiving support. 
 
While Exeter has a good range of academic and vocational pathways it is important individuals 
fully understand all the options available to them. A lack of understanding by influencers, 
including parents, and individuals causes misperceptions of industries and roles. This can 
create challenges to fill vacancies in some sectors and Exeter will continue to support 
campaigns aimed at reducing these stigmas that can act as a barrier to employment. By 
mapping the provision available in Exeter, the City Council will work with the education and 
training providers to identify where it is possible to move between pathways to facilitate 
movement between careers. This will support all individuals who wish to move into new 
careers and will be of particular importance for responding to shifting sectors and potentially 
those in the over 50 cohort who have been leaving the labour market. Exeter City Council will 
further work with the business community to encourage them to see the value in employing 
older, more experienced individuals and providing them with training to overcome any hard 
skill gaps they may have. 
 

3.2.4 Support those furthest from the labour market 

A good job52 is a key part of an individual’s wellbeing and a major factor in the standard of 
living for Exeter residents. A good job needs to be available to all, which requires supporting 
those facing other challenges into the workplace who are likely to be further from the labour 
market. This need is heightened during periods of labour market shortages where more 
people are required to fill vacant roles, as currently experienced. Further, as the working age 
population continues to decline, it will become increasingly important that those who are 
able to work, can. This necessitates continued and enhanced support to those from 
disadvantaged and hard to reach groups to gain basic qualifications and soft skills, as well as 
overcoming wider barriers to employment. Individuals with multiple barriers to employment 
are more likely to face social challenges such as housing and debt, which means employability 
assistance must be integrated into the wider social support agenda (as exemplified by the 
Exeter and Cranbrook Sport England pilot which includes an employability element). 
 
Initiatives and organisations such as Co-Lab, Exeter College, Eat That Frog and Learn Devon 
will continue to be supported to offer community and bespoke support to help those furthest 
from the labour market find work. Exeter City Council will look to broker relationships 
between these organisations and the city’s skills providers to ensure that referrals can be 
made to deliver employment enabling training. 
 
Developing courses that are inclusive and can meet the needs of these individuals (including 
those who are neurodivergent) will also be important for training partners in the city, as well 

                                                      
52 A good job is one that provides basic needs through pay, career pathway and employment security as well as 
meeting higher needs of meaningfulness, personal growth, belonging, achievement and recognition. Source: 
Good Jobs Institute, https://goodjobsinstitute.org/what-is-a-good-job/  

Page 66

https://goodjobsinstitute.org/what-is-a-good-job/


Exeter Skills Strategy 

26 

as encouraging employers to consider recruitment of individuals who may not have all the 
skills but can receive appropriate training. Skill providers in Exeter are already delivering 
courses in new ways such as bootcamps and shorter modules to cut down on the time 
required to obtain a specific skill and make access easier. Partners in the city will explore how 
they can better facilitate training in the community and online to reduce access barriers, as 
well as putting on courses in the evenings and weekends to reduce the indirect financial 
burden on learners. Where courses are developed and delivered as much digital and life skill 
provision will be embedded to help overcome these barriers to employment. 
 
The effect of the pandemic has been to disadvantage some young people in their education 
as well as create long term unemployment challenges for others. Delivering training and 
support to individuals who have been adversely affected by the pandemic will be important 
to ensure that the risk of further gaps in the labour market can be limited. Exeter City Council 
will work in partnership with Jobcentre Plus, the National Careers Service and other 
organisations to develop solutions to get the long term unemployed back into work. 
 
To support removing barriers to training, Exeter City Council will explore the development of 
an Urban Learning Academy in collaborative partnership with Exeter College and Co-Lab to 
offer a safe space for learning without the barriers or stigma of returning to an education 
setting. This will be important to help those who were unable to find work during the 
pandemic, particularly younger individuals and education leavers, as many will have gained 
no work experience or training for several years. 
 
It is not enough to provide training and support to those furthest from the labour market into 
work; individuals need help to remain in work and employers need to be encouraged to 
facilitate employment, particularly for individuals with disabilities or other needs. Businesses 
struggle with providing enablement to those who are disadvantaged often because they lack 
the understanding, resources or time. Through the employer forum, Exeter City Council and 
partners will work to improve understanding among employers of how they can facilitate the 
needs of those who are disadvantaged in the workspace while offering insight into the 
benefits that diverse employment can have for a business. Working with partners, including 
Devon County Council, Exeter City Council will encourage values based recruitment and 
supported employment schemes so disadvantaged individuals can receive support while 
working, helping them to achieve their potential and maximise the benefits for their 
employer. 
 

3.2.5 Raising aspirations 

Many young people in Exeter have high aspirations for their careers, however a lack of 
ambition and awareness that some career options exist stymies opportunities for some. 
Exeter needs to celebrate the innovative organisations and exciting opportunities across the 
city and how young people can be a part of the continued success. More engagement with 
employers is needed to inspire young people to seek more ambitious futures. This will be 
harnessed through the employer forum, and Exeter City Council will work with the Careers 
Hub to raise aspirations in secondary schools and further education settings. Providing 
experiences to young people is important for raising aspiration and developing life skills so 

Page 67



Exeter Skills Strategy 

27 

encouraging the business community to offer meaningful work experience opportunities will 
be key to achieving this priority. 
 
Given high rates of self-employment in Exeter and more widely in Devon, individuals need to 
be encouraged to view entrepreneurship as an aspiration. Business leadership skills and 
training need to consider how they can support individuals to consider starting businesses 
and link in with start-up support and incubator hubs. Aspiration also needs to be fostered 
among those who pursue vocational or creative routes to careers, alongside the skills to 
enable them to become self-employed. 
 

3.2.6 Apprenticeships 

Despite having a strong apprenticeship base and a wide range of apprenticeship provision, 
the decline in the number of apprentices over recent years needs to be reversed. Alongside 
other work-based learning provision, apprenticeships should be promoted as part of the 
career pathway options for all ages. Exeter City Council will work with local businesses to 
overcome their knowledge barriers with taking on apprentices and lobby to reduce the 
administrative burdens for employers. Apprenticeships also need to be recognised as a viable 
means to changing career and there needs to be support available for adults to facilitate this 
where currently it can be challenging due to pay levels. Exeter City Council will explore 
securing funding to develop a programme to facilitate workplace-based training among 
adults, as well as continuing to support traineeships by local businesses. Further, the Council 
will continue to support the development and expansion of degree apprenticeships at the 
University of Exeter and higher level apprenticeships with the further education providers to 
support career progression. 
 

3.3 Priority Sectors 

3.3.1 Digital Technology 

Much of the future economic growth will come through digitalisation and the digital 
technology sector requires constant training to ensure that the solutions being developed for 
other industries are facilitated. Exeter’s strong presence of technology companies will 
continue to drive specialist skills needs and corresponding training and development. Some 
of the key challenges for the sector are around attraction and retention, and so beyond 
training, Exeter needs to ensure that it remains a destination where individuals want to work. 
Tech South West are already progressing a significant programme of work in this area, and 
Exeter City Council will work with them to realise the benefits of this for the city.. 
 

3.3.2 Construction 

The need for replacement demand, new skills for sustainability and potential for new 
investment in local projects will drive further training requirements for construction in Exeter 
over the next few years. The Building Greater Exeter initiative is highly regarded by the 
training providers and local businesses, and Exeter City Council will continue to lead the 
initiative and the partnerships it is creating. Building Greater Exeter will develop its support 
for people looking to work in the industry through the Construction Job Shop, the training 
directory and careers education, information, advice and guidance. Helping to overcome 

Page 68



Exeter Skills Strategy 

28 

misconceptions of the industry, Building Greater Exeter will campaign to improve perceptions 
of construction. 
 
Through its partnerships with local skills providers, and the Devon Retrofit Academy, Building 
Greater Exeter will also help to identify and develop training for the future skills needs. 
Ensuring that there is a the provision of training available to deliver the green skills necessary 
to meet the net zero targets is important while recognising that training providers have to 
respond to the market demand. Building Greater Exeter will work with the sector to 
encourage businesses to recognise the needs for these skills now, and push their employees 
to participate in appropriate green skill training programmes. 
 

3.3.3 Health and social care 

The need for greater numbers of people to work in the health and social care sector is clearly 
paramount and training to meet the required skill needs now, and in the future, will require 
support from many organisations and institutions. Working with partners at Devon County 
Council, Proud to Care and the NHS Trusts, Exeter City Council will support training provision 
in health and social care to meet the need. This includes offering core skills, such as English 
and Maths, as well as soft skills including communication, to enable individuals to get onto 
the appropriate courses and programmes to pursue careers in health and social care. 
Promoting career progression and pathways through training opportunities and encouraging 
participation in the Health and Social Care Skills Accelerator Programme (HSSAP) will be 
important to responding to shortages in social care. Exeter City Council will also work with 
relevant stakeholders to facilitate the flow of overseas skilled labour into the sector who are 
increasingly going to be needed to plug gaps in the market, especially as the UK population 
ages. 
 

3.3.4 Creative arts, culture and digital media 

The ways in which Exeter City Council can support employment in the creative arts and culture 
sector are mainly outside of the skills landscape, focusing on how the industry can be 
encouraged within the city. As well as creating an environment to encourage the sector to 
grow locally on the skills agenda Exeter City Council will look to support individuals in the 
sector into leadership and management training, where there is evidence of need. It is also 
important that clear pathways are identified in the sector, with the appropriate training 
provision available to enable individuals seeking a career in the industry locally to participate. 
With much of the future growth in the sector coming through digital creativity and integration 
of these skills with other industries, supporting skill development is aligned to the Digital 
Futures priority for the LEP. 
 
The creative arts and culture skill base will also benefit from the promotion and parity 
between pathways and clarity over the skills mapping. Involving organisations from the 
creative and cultural sector in an employer forum will also help to bring in different 
perspectives on skills needs and develop awareness among young people looking at their 
career options. 
 

Page 69



Exeter Skills Strategy 

29 

3.3.5 Voluntary Sector 

Social enterprises, charities, community interest companies and voluntary organisations are 
all becoming increasingly woven into the fabric of the local economy in Exeter as elsewhere 
in the country. Employment in the sector continues to grow and has provided an important 
safety net for many who lost their jobs during the pandemic (particularly those over 50), both 
through the activities of organisations in the sector and direct employment in these 
organisations.53 The sector needs to overcome challenges of misperception around pay and 
generally raise awareness of the careers available and through the careers information, 
advice and guidance, as well as careers education, Exeter Works and the City Council will 
support this endeavour. Local businesses will be encouraged to engage and collaborate with 
the voluntary sector to bring mutual benefit and potentially facilitate transitions of 
employment more easily between different sectors, helping to create a more dynamic labour 
market. 
 

                                                      
53 UK Civil Society Almanac 2021, NCVO, 2021 

Page 70



Exeter Skills Strategy 

30 

4 Facilitation 
To meet the above priorities interventions are necessary from a range of stakeholders 
working in partnerships with close communication and strong governance underpinned by 
robust evidence and sufficient resources. 
 

4.1 Funding 

The Shared Prosperity Fund, replacing European Structural Funding, will become a key source 
of funding for local skills and employability initiatives. The Shared Prosperity Fund is split 
between three investment priorities; Community and Place, Supporting Local Business and 
People and Skills. The latter priority, People and Skills, will be enabled from 2024-25 after 
remaining European Social Fund investments have ended in 2023. Exeter will look to support 
the objectives to boost core skills and in work progression, reduce economic inactivity, 
support those furthest from the labour market and fund gaps in local provision. The Shared 
Prosperity Fund objectives align to the Levelling Up Fund missions to improve pay, 
employment and productivity, improve wellbeing, increasing high quality skills outcomes, and 
reducing the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy by 2030. 
 
The Shared Prosperity Fund encourages collaboration between local areas to maximise the 
value and avoid duplication with existing activity and funding such as the Adult Education 
Budget, national initiatives, including Multiply, and the interventions of the National Careers 
Service and Jobcentre Plus. With the County Deal for Devon, Plymouth and Torbay granting 
increased control of skills budgets, likely through an Adult Education Budget, Exeter will work 
closely with the new devolved arrangement to ensure all gaps in provision are filled. Exeter 
City Council will be producing an investment plan to outline how they intend to allocate the 
budget available through the Shared Prosperity Fund (initially for Community and Place and 
Support Local Business priorities). 
 
The Department for Education have also announced the National Skills Fund to help adults 
gain skills through expansion to the Skills Bootcamps and increasing eligibility for free level 3 
qualifications. Operated through the Education and Skills Funding Agency (until the County 
Deal is ratified) this will support those unemployed and looking for work, those earning less 
than the National Living Wage or individuals between 19 and 23. The courses available are in 
a range of sectors including digital, engineering, construction, health and social care, 
hospitality and catering, and public services and can cover technical training (such as HGV 
driving) and green skills (such as solar PV installation). Exeter will ensure that any city level 
interventions enhance the support offer from the National Skills Fund, alongside other 
Education and Skills Funding Agency allocations. 
 
Core funding for skills and training to colleges and training providers will continue to support 
the majority of the provision locally for those 16-19. This includes funding for T-Levels, A-
Levels, traineeships, supported internships while apprenticeships continue to be funded by 
the apprenticeship levy. Working with and building on the funding landscape for 
employability and skills is essential to the successful outcomes of any interventions devised. 
 

Page 71



Exeter Skills Strategy 

31 

4.2 Labour Market Intelligence 

There are strong sources of LMI that can help inform advisors and policy makers in this space 
on the appropriate interventions and recommendations to respond to current and future 
needs. However, this information needs to be commonly accessed, shared and disseminated, 
and would likely benefit from being available at a LEP or Devon County level to allow some 
economies of scale. The National Careers Service and DWP hold information, as does the Local 
Authority, which helps to facilitate better decision making. Improvements to the speed at 
which LMI can be updated and shared, as well as enhancements from both businesses and 
skills providers would take the current strengths of the intelligence further. It would allow for 
a quicker response by frontline employability services to redundancies and vacancies and 
allow for greater clarity on potential career opportunities. 
 
More robust information can also inform better judgements of demand and development for 
skills and training courses, ensuring they are appropriate to need. Therefore, strong LMI in 
Exeter needs to continue to enable successful employment and skills interventions and be 
enhanced where possible to generate improvements in accuracy. 
 

4.3 Partnerships and Communication 

Strong partnerships between stakeholders and delivery organisations in Exeter need to be 
maintained and developed. Initiatives like Exeter Works should be encouraged for the role 
they play in bringing together key organisations and overcoming the knowledge and 
information barriers for individuals and businesses to access the skills they need. Cross 
referrals facilitate improved outcomes for individuals and ensure that there are no wrong 
doors for those seeking employability or training support. 
 
Further, a joined-up landscape that communicates effectively to work in partnership will 
avoid duplication of resource, fill gaps in provision and share learning to generate better 
outcomes. Within Exeter there are lots of strengths offered by the stakeholders, from 
community activity through to higher level skills provision. In recent years these organisations 
have been increasingly working together and there are increasing opportunities for closer 
collaboration, particularly in response to the changing funding landscape, to discuss solutions. 
This is beneficial to the employability and skills support ecosystem. 
 

4.4 Governance 

The University of Exeter, Exeter College, the independent training providers, Jobcentre Plus, 
National Careers Service and community and third sector organisations in this space will 
continue to deliver skills and employability support in Exeter. Exeter City Council will maintain 
its relationship with all these organisations and continue to convene the Exeter Skills Advisory 
Group. The Group will oversee activity in this space and ensure delivery in accordance with 
the Action Plan (see section XX) as well as identifying further priorities in response to the 
evidence collated and shared. Exeter City Council will provide a central brokerage role for 
communication and a governance and oversight role to link the policy agenda with the 
delivery agents. 
 

Page 72



Exeter Skills Strategy 

32 

5 Action Plan 

Priority Action Lead Stakeholders 2022 Actions 
2022/23 Budget or funding 
required 

Ta
le

n
t 

R
et

e
n

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 A
tt

ra
ct

io
n

 

Embed and Develop Exeter Works as the city-wide 'Go-to' for all 
support in relation to careers, skills and training. Develop support 
offer for employers as well as individuals. 

ECC Chamber / JCP / NCS / DCC 
/ TPs / College / University 
/ Business Community  

2022 - consolidate offer / drive customers 
to Hub / develop Employer offer              
2023 - develop future plan depending on 
future use of hub space / online offer 

22 / 23 £20k from Core Budget 
and £45k from DCC for hub                            
2023 onwards explore future 
funding options 

Develop a stronger partnership with University of Exeter - 
particularly the Student Employability Team, to ensure maximum 
impact of programmes to provide graduate employment and 
opportunities locally. Includes annual reporting on graduate 
retention numbers and local businesses engaged in programmes. 

ECC / University of 
Exeter 

 Business Community 2022 - Develop partnership and 
programme of activity / set baseline                            
2023 - Embed activity / review progress            
2024 - further development / review 

ECC = £0 / University 
investment in programmes 

Develop the Exeter 'offer' to current and prospective workforce. 
Strongly linked to local attractiveness, housing, transport and 
education  

ECC - including 
Liveable and ELB 

Business Community / 
Education / DCC - 
transport and Inward 
Investment 

2022 - develop the offer and plan  TBC 

Support the ongoing development of business skills / key self-
employment skills. BIPC have a well established and highly 
regarded programme. Explore demand / needs and fit with SPF.  

BIPC ECC 2022 - explore fit of current programmes 
for SPF and demand / needs 

SPF 

A
lig

n
m

en
t 

o
f 

tr
ai

n
in

g 
p

ro
vi

si
o

n
 a

n
d

 f
u

tu
re

 

sk
ill

s 
n

ee
d

 

ECC to play an active role and support the development of the 
Local Skills Improvement Plans, ensuring local needs and met 
and supported with current LMI. 

Devon Chamber  DCC / College / TPs / ECC 2022 - develop of LSIP and submission to 
government 

N/A 

Develop an Exeter Training Provider Group to ensure 
collaboration / maximise funding available / reduce duplication 
and ensure clarity of offer to businesses and individuals. Add 
clarity to the offer through Exeter Works. 

ECC / DCTPN TPS / College / DCC / 
Youth Hub Devon 

2022 - short up by Autumn and agree ToR / 
ways of working 

£900 (DCTPN membership fee) 

Employer Engagement - scope an employer forum / assessment 
of current structures - to support the collaboration between 
business and providers and define the skills needs / training 
required now and in the future. 

ECC Chamber / FSB / Other 
business groups and 
forums / College / TPs 

2022 - scope the need and potential 
structure of a forum by Autumn 

£0 

Digital Skills in the workplace - work with Digital Skills 
Partnership and other stakeholders to fully understand the digital 
skills requirements within businesses and ensure the provision is 
in place. 

ECC / DSP businesses / TPs / College 
/ University 

2022 - scope the requirement for this piece 
of work /review existing research and 
intelligence 

£TBC may need to commission  

C
le

ar
 m

ap
 o

f 
th

e 
sk

ill
s 

p
ro

vi
si

o
n

 
av

ai
la

b
le

 

Comprehensive mapping of current providers and provision in 
Exeter and TTWA. This will support the offer through Exeter 
Works, guidance to individuals and support the businesses. 
Explore mechanism to 'present' and make accessible. Use to 
ensure the gaps are identified and included within UKSPF 
Investment Plan. 

ECC TPs / College / University / 
Current ESF providers 

2022 - undertake mapping exercise / link to 
TP forum (see above) / identify gaps / 
develop plans for UKSPF 

£TBC for support for mapping / 
UKSPF 

P
age 73



Exeter Skills Strategy 

33 

Priority Action Lead Stakeholders 2022 Actions 
2022/23 Budget or funding 
required 

Develop career pathways / skills needs / qualifications for 
priority sectors, working with partners e.g. Proud to Care for 
Health and Social Care. Use these to support Careers Hubs / NCS 
and other partners and providers working with individuals, 
including career changers and those returning to the labour 
market. 

ECC / Sector 
partners 

NCS / Careers Hub / TPs / 
College / University / 
Advice Organisations 

2022 - work with ESAG to determine 
priority order for sectors to develop. 

from £20k Exeter Works 
budget if needed 

Su
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
o

se
 f

u
rt

h
es

t 
fr

o
m

 t
h

e 
la

b
o

u
r 

m
ar

ke
t 

Work in partnership with JCP, Seetec and other organisations 
supporting people not currently engaged in the labour market. 
Develop plan / initiatives based on evidence to focus on groups 
and locations of most need for support. Linked to UKSPF 
Investment Plan 

ECC / JCP Seetec / NCS / Co Lab / 
TPs / Community based 
organisations 

2022 - Convene discussions / develop plan 
/ identify priorities for UKSPF investment 
plan 

UKSPF 

Continue to support priority groups through Exeter Works and 
Youth Hub Devon. 

ECC / DCC Chamber / JCP / NCS / DCC 
/ TPs / College / University 
/ Business Community  

2022 - consolidate offer / drive customers 
to Hub / develop Employer offer              
2023 - develop future plan depending on 
future use of hub space / online offer 

Exeter Works budget 

Explore the concept of an Urban Learning Academy for those 
furthest from engaging in any kind of learning to provide 
community access. 

ECC / Co-Lab / 
Exeter College 

community groups / TPs / 
support organisations 

work with partners to develop the concept 
and explore feasibility 

TBC / UKSPF 

Work with community learning providers to determine best use 
of funding available and avoid duplication, improving impact 
achieved and accessibility while addressing digital and life skills 
needs. 

ECC Exeter College / Learn 
Devon / Eat that Frog / 
AEB holders 

as part of mapping exercise above £0 

Support employers to address barriers to recruitment and 
retention, with support, advice and guidance in relation to 
approaches such as; values based recruitment, understanding 
trauma, addressing wellbeing, support for mental health in the 
workplace. Offer as package of support through Exeter Works. 

ECC / DCC  Business Community / 
specialist support 
providers 

undertake research with employers to 
understand needs and support 
requirements / undertake scoping of 
support available 

£2k Core Budget 

Kickstart Scheme - conclude involvement in 2022. Evaluation of 
impact and engagement in role as Gateway Organisation. 

ECC DWP / Businesses 
Engaged 

finalise role / make all payments / evaluate 
with employers and young people / 
produce overview report 

Kickstart budget 

Continue to organise Jobs Fairs in partnership with JCP twice a 
year. Ongoing review and development to ensure both those out 
of work and seeking a job / career changers are targeted. 

ECC / DWP Businesses  agree dates for fairs / review business 
engagement / develop marketing plan 

£2k from core budget (JCP also 
contribute) 

R
ai

si
n

g 
as

p
ir

at
io

n
s 

Continue to work with the Careers Hub to support our secondary 
schools and college to embed and develop their careers 
programmes for young people. Raising Aspirations and 
developing understanding about future opportunities. Ensuring 
employer engagement. 

ECC / Careers Hub Schools / College / 
businesses 

scope support for Careers Hub and agree 
joint working 

TBC 

Manage and deliver the Empowering Girls Programme, offering 
mentoring and workshops to year 9 girls in Exeter and TTWA 
secondary schools building on previous pilot activity. 

ECC  Schools / business 
community / Howmet / 
Careers Hub 

deliver121 mentoring and workshops as 
outlined in Howmet application 

externally funded - Howmet 
foundation 

P
age 74



Exeter Skills Strategy 

34 

Priority Action Lead Stakeholders 2022 Actions 
2022/23 Budget or funding 
required 

Use Exeter Works as the key programme and driver to support 
people who want to continue to develop their skills and careers. 
Develop offer through the hub to 31 March 2023. Scope offer 
from April 2023 onwards. 

ECC DCC / JCP / chamber / NCS 
/ TPs 

2022 - consolidate offer / drive customers 
to Hub / develop Employer offer              
2023 - develop future plan depending on 
future use of hub space / online offer 

Exeter Works budget 
A

p
p

re
n

ti
ce

sh
ip

s 

Develop Employer Engagement. Work with employers and 
develop a communications plan to support understanding of 
apprenticeships by removing barriers and creating opportunities, 
as well as explore funding to support adults to use 
apprenticeships as a route to change careers. 

ECC DCTPN / Businesses scope understanding / needs / barriers and 
develop plan to respond.                           
Programme of activity for National 
Apprenticeship Week 2023 

TBC 

Use our Apprenticeship Levy underspend when available to 
support employers who need to access funding. 

ECC Businesses promote availability and assess on ongoing 
basis 

levy underspend when 
available 

Work with providers / schools / careers hub to ensure the profile 
of apprenticeships is high amongst our young people and 
potential learners of all ages. Use Exeter Works as a key delivery 
vehicle for support. 

ECC  Careers Hub / Schools / 
College / TPs / DCTPN  

develop approach with Careers Hub and 
through Exeter Works 

TBC 

Priority Sectors 

Digital 
Technology 

Work with Tech SW to maximise the impact of their work in the 
city. Develop a partnership / action plan. 

Tech SW ECC By end 2022 - scope partnership and joint 
working with Tech SW 

£0 

Construction 

Continue to support and develop Building Greater Exeter, act as 
accountable body. 

ECC / BGEX East Devon and 
Teignbridge and all 
construction industry and 
training provider / 
education partners 

oversee delivery of 2022/23 project plan / 
ensure financial sustainability from 2023 / 
24 onwards 

£10k ECC contribution / 
partner contributions 

Health and 
social care 

Work with Proud to Care to support actions for the sector in 
Exeter. 

Proud to Care ECC By end 2022 - scope partnership and joint 
working with Proud to Care 

£0 

Creative 
arts, culture 
and digital 
media 

Scope support requirements for the sector - skills and business 
development / entrepreneurial skills. 

Exeter Culture ECC (inc; Arts and Events) 
/ City of Literature / Sector 
representatives 

By March 2023 - scope support 
requirements / skills needed / ESAG role 

£0 

Voluntary  

Work with the sector and key representatives to scope the 
support needed to promote jobs / careers and pathways within 
this sector to all. 

ECC / VCSE Sector Sector representatives By March 2023 - scope support 
requirements 

£0 

Facilitation 

Fu
n

d
in

g 

Develop the Skills and Training plan for the UKSPF Investment 
Plan. 

ECC ESAG by UKSPF deadline 1 August UKSPF 

Provide input and ensure Exeter priorities for Skills and 
Employment are represented in the Devolution Deal for Devon, 
Plymouth and Torbay. 

DCC ECC / ESAG actively contribute as required £0 

P
age 75



Exeter Skills Strategy 

35 

Priority Action Lead Stakeholders 2022 Actions 
2022/23 Budget or funding 
required 

Support where needed and appropriate with funding bids and 
ensure funding such as AEB / Community learning is directed 
towards priorities identified in this strategy. 

ECC As appropriate and when 
needed 

when required £0 

Labour 
Market 

Intelligence 

Work with DCC to ensure that high quality, accurate and timely 
LMI can be provided to those who need to supporting individuals 
and businesses to make decision about training and skills 
development. 

DCC NCS / Careers Hub / Exeter 
Works 

establish LMI available and needs / regular 
updates 

£0 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
an

d
 C

o
m

m
s Ensure strong and effective partnership working across the city to 

continue to drive success and prosperity. 
ECC ESAG see individual actions above £0 

Communicate the skills successes of the city! Ensure calendar of 
relevant dates / weeks is up to date and cross-city activity 
planned. 

ECC ESAG / ECC 
communications team / 
partner communications 
team 

calendar of key events and activity £1k 

Annual Skills Event for Exeter to support the ongoing monitoring 
of this action plan and seek feedback (based on feedback from 
April 22 event). 

ECC ESAG plan date for annual review event / ensure 
significant business engagement 

£2k Core Budget 

Governance 

Review Exeter Skills Advisory Group Governance and 
representatives. Ensure review processes and cycles for this 
action plan. Arrange briefing session for all ESAG members. 

ECC ESAG By end July - review governance / set 
meeting cycles / arrange briefing session 

£500 

 
 
 

P
age 76



 

 

 
 

 

01545 571711  

wavehill@wavehill.com  

wavehill.com 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Annex A: Evidence Base 
This annex presents the evidence base for the Exeter Skills Strategy. It draws on various 
available data sources from the public sources, such as the ONS and Department for 
Education, and commercial sources such as Burning Glass. It is supported in the strategy by 
additional findings from stakeholder consultations conducted with 25 individuals and 
organisations across Exeter, as well as qualitative data from attendees at an Exeter skills event 
held in April 2022. 
 

1.1 Demographics 

Exeter is one of the largest cities in the South West, with a population of 133,300.1 This 
compares to 262,000 in Plymouth, 136,000 in Torbay and 60,400 in Taunton, Exeter’s nearest 
neighbours. Exeter’s population grew by 13.8% in the last decade, the highest growth rate of 
any local authority district in Devon. Exeter’s gender split has marginally more males (50.2%), 
the highest proportion of males of all of Devon’s local authority areas. It is also higher than 
the English average of 49.5%. 
 
Reflecting the city’s large student population, Exeter’s age profile is relatively young. The city 
has a high proportion of 16 to 24-year-olds: 19.7% of the city’s population belongs to this age 
group, which is 9.2% higher than the English average. The proportion of 16 to 24-year-olds in 
Exeter has grown by 1.1% since 2011. Although this may seem like a modest increase, Exeter 
is the only local authority area in Devon to have experienced any increase in this age banding. 
Devon saw a decrease in the proportion of 16 to 24-year-olds, and England saw a drop of 1.3% 
in the same period. Compared to England’s age profile, Exeter also has a higher proportion of 
25 to 34-year-olds but is below national average for all of the older age groups. 
 

  

                                                      
1 Population estimates, ONS, 2020 

Page 79



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 1: Age profile of Exeter compared with England 
 

 
 
Exeter has a large working age population of 91,500 people, representing 68.64% of the city’s 
population. This is considerably higher than the average for both England (62.31%) and Devon 
(58.09%). While many areas of Devon have seen a decrease in their working age populations 
since 2011, Exeter has experienced a considerable growth rate of 14.4%. The city attracts 
working age people at a higher rate than Devon (3.5%) and England (2.6%). Though there is 
less of an ageing population challenge in Exeter, the surrounding local authorities in Devon 
all face significant ageing challenges which will likely affect Exeter. 
 
The proportion of people living with a work-limiting disability (considered to be ‘EA core or 
work-limiting disabled’) before the Covid-19 pandemic was a lower percentage in Exeter than 
the average for both Devon and England.2 This includes people who have a long-term 
disability which substantially limits their day-to-day activities, or which affects the kind or 
amount of work they might do. However, there has been a sharp increase in this percentage 
from 18.5% in December 2019 to 24.9% in September 2021. This 6.4 percentage point 
increase is higher than the figure for Devon (5.4 percentage points) and significantly higher 
than that for England (1.3 percentage points). Exeter now has a considerably higher 
proportion of people of working age with a work-limiting disability than the average for 
England (22.5%) and has almost closed the gap with Devon (25.3%). 
 
  

                                                      
2 Annual Population Survey, ONS, 2021. Results at lower geographies including Exeter are less robust and should 
be treated with caution. 

15.4%

19.7%

17.1% 16.5%
15.3%

16.0%

19.2%

10.5%

13.4%

19.2% 19.2%
18.5%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

0-15 16-24 25-34 35-49 50-64 65+

Exeter England

Page 80



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 2: Percentage of working age population who are EA core or work-limiting disabled 
 

 
 

In terms of ethnicity, 91.7% of those aged 16+ in Exeter are white.3 Although this is lower than 
the Devon average (96.3%), Exeter still has considerably less ethnic diversity than the English 
average (where 86.2% are white). Since 2011, the proportion of white people in Exeter has 
decreased by 3.1 percentage points – a faster rate than the 2.4 percentage point decrease in 
Devon and 1.4 percentage point decrease in England over the same period. 
 

Exeter experiences relatively high inflows of migration, the majority of which has been 

international. The city has the highest rate of international migration of all the districts in 

Devon due extensively to the University of Exeter attracting high numbers of international 

students. In 2020, Exeter had a net international migration rate of 1.26%, compared to only 

0.29% in Devon and 0.41% in England.4 Since 2011, the rate of international migration has 

been positive every year and remained relatively stable, with figures ranging between a low 

of 0.41% in 2019 and a high of 1.26% in 2020. Internal migration has a much lower net 

impact on Exeter’s population, with a rate of only 0.19% in 2020 compared to 1.05% in 

Devon and -0.4% in England. Again, these flows have remained stable, ranging between 

0.16% and 0.8% since 2011.  

 

  

                                                      
3 Annual Population Survey, ONS, 2021 
4 Local area migration indicators, ONS, 2020 

17.0

18.0

19.0

20.0

21.0

22.0

23.0

24.0

25.0

26.0

Jan 2019-Dec
2019

Apr 2019-
Mar 2020

Jul 2019-Jun
2020

Oct 2019-Sep
2020

Jan 2020-Dec
2020

Apr 2020-
Mar 2021

Jul 2020-Jun
2021

Oct 2020-Sep
2021

Exeter Devon England

Page 81



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 3: Net migration across Exeter in 2020 by age group 
 

 
 

The above figure shows the net migration across ages in Exeter, with very high inflows of 15 
to 19 year-olds, mirrored by comparative outflows for ages 20-24. This reflects the influx and 
departure of university student populations in the city. There is a net loss of all the other 
younger age groups (up to 44), decreasing as the age groups get older. From 45 to 49 years-
old onwards, the rate of net migration becomes a net inflow. From this point onwards, almost 
all of the older age groups experience a net gain in migration. 
 
Figure 1.4 indicates the net migration of 20 to 24 year-olds as percentage of the population 
over time, which demonstrates the ‘brain drain’ effect. Since 2016 the net loss of 20 to 24 
year-olds has increased; in 2016 the 20 to 24 year-old population in Exeter was declining by 
6.2% , where as in 2020 this was as high as 14.5%. 
 
In 2020 in Devon the net decrease in 20 to 24 year-olds was at its lowest in 5 years, which 
contradicts the pattern seen in Exeter. This is likely to be caused by the disruption of the 
pandemic affecting student destinations including Exeter. 
 
  

-2,000

-1,500

-1,000

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Page 82



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 4: Net migration of 20 to 24 year-olds as a percentage of the sample population 
 

 
 

1.2 Deprivation 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) provides insight into the relative deprivation by 
neighbourhoods (Lower Super Output Area). While there are no neighbourhoods in Exeter in 
the lowest 10% of deprived LSOAs in the country, there are several in the lowest 20%.5 These 
include parts of Priory Ward and St Loyes Ward (particularly the area around Burnthouse 
Lane), Mincinglake & Whipton Ward (around Leypark Road and North to St Lukes and around 
Beacon Heath), the Newtown part of Newtown & St Leonards Ward, and St David’s Ward 
(around Southernhay and South Street). 
 
12% of LSOAs in Exeter are in the ‘most deprived’ 10% category for living environment, 5% 
for education, skills and training and 4% for health and disability. Exeter’s deprivation 
performance is poorer than Devon average for health and disability, crime, and education, 
skills and training. 
 
  

                                                      
5 Indices of Deprivation, Department for Communities and Local Government, 2019 

-20.0%

-18.0%

-16.0%

-14.0%

-12.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Exeter Devon

Page 83



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 5: Map of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 for Exeter6 
 

 
 

1.3 Sector structure 

The composition of Exeter’s industry is somewhat dominated by Health and social work, with 
nearly a fifth of employment in this industry alone. As shown in figure 1.5, there is higher 
employment in Professional, scientific and technical activities than the Devon average, which 
demonstrates Exeter’s role as a hub for higher-skilled professional employment.7 Exeter also 
has a significant proportion of employment in education (11.5%) which is higher than the UK 
average (8.7%). 
 
44.8% of employment in Exeter is within its three largest industries, compared to 36.9% in 
England, suggesting a greater reliance on the sectors of health, retail and education.  
 

                                                      
6 http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html#  
7 Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS, 2020 

Page 84

http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html


Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 6: Exeter’s industrial sectors by employment 

 
 
Measuring sectoral structure by business count reveals a higher business count for the 
Professional scientific and technical sector (16.4%), and for Information and communication 
(6.9%) than Devon average, which reinforces Exeter as a hub of this activity in Devon. 
Although the volume of businesses in these industries are proportionately higher than the 
South West average, they still remain lower than English average. The distribution of business 
counts by sector is spread over a greater number of industries than the England average, with 
a marginally larger share of construction businesses than nationally.  
 

1.6

1.3

19.8

11.5

7.3

8.3

9.4

1.8

1.8

4.7

6.2

2.6

13.5

4.7

3.1

0.3

2.0

2.0

12.7

9.0

3.9

6.2

6.5

2.3

0.8

3.1

10.1

3.7

16.3

6.2

7.6

6.5

2.0

2.3

12.9

8.7

4.1

8.8

9.1

2.0

3.5

4.5

7.1

5.2

14.9

4.9

7.6

1.4

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0 25.0

S : Other service activities

R : Arts, entertainment and recreation

Q : Human health and social work activities

P : Education

O : Public administration and defence; compulsory social
security

N : Administrative and support service activities

M : Professional, scientific and technical activities

L : Real estate activities

K : Financial and insurance activities

J : Information and communication

I : Accommodation and food service activities

H : Transportation and storage

G : Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles
and motorcycles

F : Construction

C : Manufacturing

A : Agriculture, forestry and fishing

England Devon Exeter

Page 85



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.4 Occupation categories 

The 2020 figures on occupation categories indicate that the highest occupation category is 
professional occupations (27.3%), which is higher than both Devon and England. Caring, 
leisure and other service occupations is the second largest occupation category (12.8%), 
which reflects Exeter’s reliance on healthcare and is again higher than Devon and England. 
 
The proportion of people who are in elementary occupations (11.9%) are also higher than 
Devon and England, suggesting an ‘hourglass’ labour market, with a weighting towards the 
higher-skilled and lower skills occupations, with less representation of middle skilled 
occupations in Exeter. By comparison, Devon has a larger proportion of skilled trade and 
process, plant and machine operatives, and administrative and secretarial occupations than 
Exeter, which occupy this middle skilled area.  
 
Figure 7: Occupation categories in Exeter (ONS, 2020) 

 

 
 
 

11.9

2.9

7.6

12.8

6.8

8.1

12.3

27.3

10.2

10.1

6.2

7.6

11.4

12.0

8.2

11.7

21.4

11.5

9

5.5

7

8.9

8.9

10.3

15.6

23.4

11.2

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

9: elementary occupations

8: process, plant and machine operatives

7: sales and customer service occupations

6: caring, leisure and other service occupations

5: skilled trades occupations

4: administrative and secretarial occupations

3: associate prof & tech occupations

2: professional occupations

1: managers, directors and senior officials

England Devon Exeter

Page 86



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.5 Business size and demography 

In total, Exeter has 4,430 businesses, which represents a 28% increase from 2011.8 The 
distribution of business sizes in Exeter is mostly micro (1-9 employees) accounting for 85.1% 
of businesses though at a lower proportion than in Devon and England (88.6% and 89.8% 
respectively). 11.6% of businesses in Exeter are small (10-49 employees) compared to the 
lower England average of 8.3%. The percentage of medium and larger businesses are also 
higher than both England and Devon averages. 
 
Since 2011, the number of large businesses in Exeter has grown by 50%. This growth was 
faster than both Devon (33%) and England (24%). 
 
Figure 8: Business size as proportion of business stock (2020) 
 

 
 
Exeter has overtaken the English average of business births to 12.5% of active enterprises in 
2020 compared to 12.1% in England.9 The rate of new business births in England has been 
consistently decreasing since 2016, whilst Exeter has been broadly increasing over the same 
period. Exeter also accounts for a significant proportion of business births in Devon, 
accounting for between 15.6% and 21% of new births in the county in 2015 and 2020. 
 
  

                                                      
8 UK Business Count, Interdepartmental Business Register, ONS, 2021 
9 Business Births and Deaths, ONS, 2021 

85.1%

11.6%

2.6%

0.7%

89.6%

8.8%

1.4%

0.2%

89.8%

8.3%

1.5%

0.4%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0% 90.0% 100.0%

Micro (0 to 9)

Small (10 to 49)

Medium-sized (50 to 249)

Large (250+)

England Devon Exeter

Page 87



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 9: Business Births (2020) 
 

 
 
Business deaths in Exeter have also been decreasing since 2015, from 10.4% to 8.8% in 2020, 
which is lower than the England average (10.7%). Exeter has accounted for between 14.2% 
and 17.6% of business deaths in Devon during that period.  
 
Figure 10: Business deaths (2020) 
 

 
 
However, the business survival rate in Exeter is marginally lower than Devon, and broadly 
consistent with the England averages for 1 and 2 year survival.10 For businesses between 3-5 
years old, the business survival in Exeter is consistently higher than the England average, as 
shown in figure 1.10. 
 
  

                                                      
10 Business Survival Rate, Interdepartmental Business Register, ONS, 2021 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

England Devon Exeter

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

England Devon Exeter

Page 88



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 11: Business survival rate (2020) 
 
 

 
 

1.6 Employment and economic activity 

The rate of economic activity in Exeter (the number of people participating in the labour 
market including those in work and unemployed but seeking a job) has experienced a large 
fall since the Covid-19 pandemic. In March 2020 the economic activity rate in Exeter was 
81.3%. The latest figures are 73.4%, or a fall of 7.9 percentage points over the two year period. 
Devon experienced a 5.5 percentage point fall in economic activity though from a higher 
starting point 83.3%. This brings Devon into line with the England average of 77.8%, whilst 
Exeter’s is below the England average. 
 
Though the data at lower geographies needs to be treated with caution due to scaling to this 
level, there is sufficient evidence that there has been an extensive shift in the number of 
working age individuals engaging with the labour market. The changes in economic activity 
rate in 2020 and 2021 may be a result of the ‘Great Resignation’ as individuals re-evaluate 
their working life and leave the labour market or move into other roles. One pattern seen 
across the post-pandemic economy in Exeter and Devon, is that many of the 50 to 64 year-
old cohort has left the labour market. In Exeter, the proportion of 50 to 64 year olds 
economically active has fallen by 13.1 percentage points compared to 6.2 percentage points 
in Devon. A study by the ONS indicates that 6 in 10 would not be prepared to return to the 
labour market, and while 1 in 10 would, part time and flexible working patterns would be 
required to encourage them back.11 
 
There are also far fewer economically active people in 20 to 24 age group in Exeter compared 
to Devon and England. This is likely a result of fewer students in the city and therefore looking 
for work. 
 

                                                      
11 Reasons for workers aged over 50 years leaving employment since the start of the coronavirus pandemic, 
ONS, March 2022 

89.7

71.4

55.2

45.9
39.5

91.5

76.1

62.9

53.9
48.7

87.6

71.4

58.1

48.6
43.8

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

1-year survival 2-year survival 3-year survival 4-year survival 5-year survival

England Devon Exeter

Page 89



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 12: Economic activity across age groups 16+ (ONS, 2021) 
 

 
 
The employment rate in 2021 in Exeter was at 73.4%, which is marginally lower than both 
Devon (76.9%) and England (74.4%).12 The employment rate has decreased considerably since 
the beginning of the Covid-19, where previously the employment rate for Exeter was 78.1%, 
higher than the England average (76.2%). 
 

  

                                                      
12 Annual Population Survey, ONS, 2022 

36.4

74.2

88.0 87.8

74.3

46.2

73.1

91.1 91.1

72.2

47.6

62.3

83.9

89.1

70.3

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

16-19 20-24 25-34 35-49 50-64

England Devon Exeter

Page 90



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 13: Employment rate 2004-2020 

 

 
 
The unemployment rate for Exeter reflects these changes, and closely mirrors the national 
trends, albeit lower. In December 2019, unemployment was 2.6% in Exeter, 3% in Devon and 
4% in England. By December 2020 this has increased to 4.6% in Exeter, 4.2% in Devon and 
4.9% in England. In 2021, unemployment had fallen in Exeter and Devon and latest data shows 
unemployment is heading below 3% in these areas while in England it is still at 5%. While 
unemployment remains low, and there have been record levels of vacancies in the labour 
market (see below), the potential for unemployment to rise as the UK economy faces 
recession and inflation is increasing.13 Latest indicators from those claiming universal credit 
for unemployment (where data is available up to March 2022) suggests unemployment 
remains low (2.3% by this measure which does not include those who are unemployed but 
not claiming out of work benefits).14 
 

  

                                                      
13 Monetary Policy Committee Report, Bank of England, May 2022 
14 Claimant Count Unemployment, ONS, 2022 

60.0

65.0

70.0

75.0

80.0

85.0

Exeter Devon England

Page 91



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 14: Unemployment rate 2004-2020 (ONS, 2021) 

 

 
 

1.7 Employment patterns 

The rate of full-time employment for those of working age in September 2021 in Exeter was 
72.9%. Though there have been fluctuations in full time employment rates in Exeter over the 
last 5 years, the trajectory has generally been towards more full time employment compared 
to part time. The figures for Exeter are higher than the rate for Devon, but lower than the 
England average, as shown in figure 1.14.  
 
  

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

Exeter Devon England

Page 92



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 15: Employment patterns (ONS, 2021) 

 
 
Rates of self-employment in Exeter were 6.6% in 2021, lower that the Devon figure (14%) and 
below England (9.7%). While robustness of the data limits reliability at the lower Exeter 
geography, rates of self-employment had been trending upwards since 2012, alongside Devon 
and England. Though self-employment in Devon and England was decreasing prior to the 
pandemic, and for Exeter it appears to have been decreasing since 2018, the effect of Covid-
19 has been to move more people away from self-employment and into more secure roles. 
 
The Business Insights and Conditions survey provides some insight into the changing patterns 
of home working since the pandemic across the UK.15 In June 2020, 27.8% of employees from 
currently trading companies were working remotely instead of their normal place of work 
with 41.2% working from their usual place of work as a consequence of the pandemic and 
lockdown measures.16 By May 2021 this had fallen to 21.4% working remotely and 65.5% 
working in their usual place of work (with many having returned from furlough). The latest 
data suggests that 10.8% are working from home whilst 19.2% are using a hybrid model of 
working. 
 
There is variation between sector with manual roles having lower proportions of individuals 
working from home than white-collar roles. 4.6% of construction employees are currently 
working from home, compared to 12.5% when monitoring started in June 2020 and 21.5% at 
the high point in January 2021. By contrast, 23.8% of people employed in the professional 
services are working from home in the most recent data compared to 24.5% in June 2020 and 
46.1% in October 2020. 
 
Among those who had worked from home during the pandemic, 85% want to use a hybrid 
approach to working going forwards.17 In the sectors of prevalence in Exeter expected home 

                                                      
15 It should be noted that survey questions change so data may not be consistent. 
16 Business Insights and Conditions Survey data, Wave 51, ONS, March 2022 
17 Business and individual attitudes towards the future of homeworking, UK: April to May 2021, ONS, June 2021 

73.9

69.5

77.1

26.1

30.5

22.8

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Exeter

Devon

England

Full-time Part-time

Page 93



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

working is 19.1% in Arts, entertainment and recreation, 30.8% in Education, and 35% among 
Professional services with Construction (6%), Health (8.3%) and Accommodation and food 
services (2.8%) all far lower given the nature of work in these sectors. 18 This home working 
shift has had some implications for office space, with evidence suggesting that there is a shift 
from larger to smaller cities, which may increase as leases and working patterns stabilise.19 It 
can also affect house prices with relocation to more desirable areas of the country and may 
be one factor in the increasing house prices in Exeter (see section 1.9 below). Working 
patterns are an important factor in employability and the future of work will have implications 
for the skills needs and labour market in Exeter. 
 

Figure 16: Rates of home working in the UK 2020-2022 

 

 
 

1.8 Furlough claimants 

Many of the impacts of the Covid-19 on Exeter, and the UK labour market more broadly may 

have been deferred due to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (colloquially known as 

the furlough scheme) introduced in April 2020. The cumulative number of employments on 

furlough in Exeter was 21,000. By sector on 30 September 2021 (ie. at the end of CJRR 

scheme), accommodation and food service still had a relatively high amount of furlough 

claimants (16.6%), higher than Devon and England. Wholesale and retail also still had high 

amount of claimants (17.2%), which was the same as Devon but higher than England. 

Equally, Exeter had a lower average for arts, entertainment and recreation (2.8%) and 

transportation and storage (4.1%) than both Devon and UK averages. Otherwise furlough 

claimant numbers were broadly speaking on par with Devon and English averages 

 

                                                      
18 Business Insights and Conditions Survey data, Wave 51, ONS, March 2022 
19 The future of work after Covid-19, Lund et al. McKinsey, 2021 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Page 94



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.9 Job density 

Job density is the number of jobs per head of the working age population. Areas with job 

density above 1 have more jobs than residents and therefore have roles being filled by 

individuals commuting into work from other areas. This is the case in Exeter as a hub for the 

wider region, with a job density of 1.22, higher than both Devon and the England average 

but also London and Manchester. The effect on skills and the labour market is that training 

has to be provided beyond the city and to residents within the wider travel to work area to 

ensure that there is the skills base to serve the number of roles in the local economy. 

 

1.10 Output 

Total Gross Value Added to the economy in Exeter was £5709m in 2019, which is a 38.9% 
increase since 2009.20 Per hour (an indicator of productivity) GVA is £35.80 in 2019, an 
increase of 22% since 2009.21 This figure is comparable with the average for England, but 
higher than the Devon average of £30.10. 
 
Figure 17: Gross Value Added 2004-2019 
 

 
 

1.11 Hours and earnings 

Mean hours worked reflect the balance of part time to full time workers, with mean hours 
worked in a week 33.1h for residents of Exeter in 2021, and 32h for those whose workplace 
is in Exeter. These figures are comparable with the England averages, with Devon lower at 
31.8h. 
 
Average earnings per week demonstrate the commuting patterns in Exeter from other areas 
for higher paid roles. The average gross weekly pay by residence is £459.30, whilst this figure 

                                                      
20 Regional Gross Value Added (balanced), ONS, 2020 
21 Subregional productivity: Labour productivity indices by local authority district, ONS, 2020 

 £15.00

 £20.00

 £25.00

 £30.00

 £35.00

 £40.00

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Exeter Devon CC England

Page 95



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

is higher at £467.10 by workplace.  Comparatively, the earnings by workplace are lower than 
the earnings by residence in Devon.  

 

Figure 18: Median weekly earnings by workplace and residence in 2021 (ONS, 2021) 

 

 
Both these averages are lower than the average for England; resident earnings in Exeter are 
10% lower than the England average. Over time, weekly earnings have increased at a similar 
rate to England but the gap has remained constant, as shown by the trendlines in figure 1.18. 
 

Figure 19: Median weekly earnings by residence 2008-2021 (ONS, 2021) 

 

 
 
 

443

459.3

509.3

440.8

467.1

509.7

400

420

440

460

480

500

520

Devon Exeter England

Residence Workplace

250.0

300.0

350.0

400.0

450.0

500.0

550.0

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Exeter Devon England

Linear (Exeter) Linear (Devon) Linear (England)

Page 96



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.12 Qualifications 

Qualifications data for Exeter indicates that a large proportion of the resident population 
holds Level 4 and above qualifications at 43.4% compared to 39.1% in Devon and 40.6% across 
England (three-year average). Only 3.7% of Exeter residents have no qualifications, which is 
almost half the proportion of England at 7.1%. The qualification level and skills of the local 
labour market are one of the key factors in the productivity and earnings in the city. However, 
while qualifications are high, there remain skills shortages and challenges with recruitment, 
as explored in section 1.16 below. 
 
Figure 20: Three-year average qualification rates in the working age population (2018-2020) 
 

 
 

1.12.1 GCSE and A Levels 

In Exeter 20.1% of the working age population hold GCSE grades A-C or equivalent.22 This is 
similar to the England average (20.7%), but below the average for Devon (23.9%). Average 
attainment 8 scores in Exeter are only available by school in the recent data and vary between 
40.7 to 50.9 where nationally the average is 46.7.23 City wide data from 2017 had average 
attainment 8 figures for Exeter as 49.4. 
 
  

                                                      
22 KS4 Outcomes, Department for Education, 2022 
23 KS4 attainment 8 distribution by local authority district data 2020/21, Department for Education, 2021 

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

No qualifications NVQ1+ NVQ2+ NVQ3+ NVQ4+

Exeter Devon England

Page 97



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 21: GCSE Attainment Levels 2004-2021 
 

 
 
A level attainment in Exeter (21.8%) is slightly higher than the England average (21.7%).24 The 
proportion of pupils getting AAB grades or higher ranged from 10.4% at Exeter College to 
71.7% for Exeter Mathematics school. 25 However, it should be pointed out that Exeter College 
accounted for over 1,000 individuals compared to 62 at the Mathematics school. In England 
the average number of students getting AAB or higher was 14.1% in 2020/21 and 13.6% in 
Devon. 
 
Figure 22: A Level Attainment Levels 2004-2021 
 

 
 

                                                      
24 KS5 Outcomes, Department for Education, 2022 
25 A Level and other 16-18 results 2020/21, Attainment and other performance measures, Department for 
Education, 2021 

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

Exeter Devon England

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

Exeter Devon England

Page 98



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.12.2 Apprenticeship achievement 

Apprenticeships and traineeships data (2021/22) show that more young people in Exeter and 
Devon undertake an apprenticeship than nationally (4.6% compared to 2.7%) though the 
types of apprenticeship pursued are relatively similar to the national picture.26 Exeter has a 
larger proportion of apprentices completing construction and education apprenticeships, 
with fewer in engineering and business apprentices than the national average. There has been 
a decrease in the number of participants in apprenticeships, as there has been nationally with 
570 starts in 2021/22 compared to 800 in 2019/20 and 840 in 2020/21. 
 

1.12.3 Higher education qualifiers 

Data from the Higher Education Statistics Agency show that the University of Exeter has a 
large proportion of graduates in psychology, biology and sport sciences, social sciences, 
languages, history and philosophy compared to the national averages.27 It produces 
comparatively fewer graduates in law, computing, and engineering.  
 
  

                                                      
26 Apprenticeships and traineeships, 2019 - 2022 Academic Years, Department for Education, 2022 
27 Graduate Outcome Data, Higher Education Statistics Agency, 2018/19 

Page 99



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 23: Higher Education graduates by course 2018/19 
 

 
 

2%

1%

1%

2%

8%

8%

12%

18%

4%

12%

2%

0%

1%

5%

3%

2%

0%

0%

7%

6%

3%

2%

1%

8%

2%

1%

8%

3%

4%

19%

6%

10%

1%

2%

4%

6%

2%

2%

1%

0%

4%

4%

10%

2%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

26 Geography, earth and environmental studies (social
sciences)

25 Design, and creative and performing arts

24 Media, journalism and communications

23 Combined and general studies

22 Education and teaching

20 Historical, philosophical and religious studies

19 Language and area studies

17 Business and management

16 Law

15 Social sciences

26 Geography, earth and environmental studies (natural
sciences)

13 Architecture, building and planning

11 Computing

10 Engineering and technology

09 Mathematical sciences

07 Physical sciences

06 Agriculture, food and related studies

05 Veterinary sciences

04 Psychology

03 Biological and sport sciences

02 Subjects allied to medicine

01 Medicine and dentistry

England University of Exeter

Page 100



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.13 16-18 destinations 

Destination data for 16-18 year old school leavers for the academic year 2019/20 shows that 
Devon and Exeter have significantly lower rates of young people going into education than 
the UK average. 28 Instead, 36% of 16-18 year olds in Exeter go into employment compared to 
25% in the UK and 12.2% pursue an apprenticeship. Across Devon, 58.5% of pupils from 
mainstream schools (6th Form) progressed on to university degrees in 2017/18 compared to 
69.6% in England.29 
 
Figure 24: Destinations of 16-18 year olds 2020 
 

 
 
Total progression to higher education and training demonstrates that the proportion of level 
3 students that progressed onto level 4 or higher destination has been increasing year-on-
year in Exeter, from 49.6% in 2016/16 to 57.5% in 2017/18.30 Exeter remains below both 
Devon and England but the gap is closing; there has been a 7.9% increase since 2015/16 
compared to 4.1% in Devon and England. Exeter has also experienced an increase in the 
proportion of L3 students progressing onto apprenticeships, from 0.7% in 2015/16 to 1.9% in 
2017/18. The rate in Exeter is higher than in Devon and is also now above the England 
average. 
 
Exeter has seen a further increase in the proportion of L3 students progressing into degrees, 
from 41.4% in 2015/16 to 50.1% in 2017/18, however this is still behind Devon and England 
averages, reflecting the different destination choices for 16-18 year-olds above. However, the 
pattern is shifting with change over time increasing in Exeter is 8.7%, compared to 5.3% in 

                                                      
28 KS4 & KS5 destinations of 2019/20 leavers, 16-18 destination measures, Department for Education, October 
2021 
29 Progression to higher education or training: 2019/20, KS4, Department for Education, 2020 
30 Further education: outcome-based success measures 2018/19, Destinations by local education authority, 
Department for Education, October 2021 

32.6%

12.2%

36%

37.6%

10%

33.4%

47.4%

8.4%

24.9%

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0% 30.0% 35.0% 40.0% 45.0% 50.0%

Sustained education destination

Sustained apprenticeships destination

Sustained employment destination

UK Devon Exeter

Page 101



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Devon and 4.1% in England. Finally, Exeter has seen a decrease in the proportion of L3 
students progressing onto L4 or L5 destination, from 7.5% in 2015/16 to 5.4% in 2017/18, 
though this is still higher than Devon and England averages. This could be due to the 
substitution effect towards more university degrees. 
 
Figure 25: Progression to higher education or training over time from L3 
 

 
 
 

1.14 Graduate attraction and retention 

Graduate retention is a key challenge facing Exeter. Figures show that students at the 
University of Exeter mostly come from outside of the South West, particularly from London 
and the South East and upon graduating many return to their home domicile.31 In the 15 
months after graduating 15.7% of University of Exeter graduates are still in Devon with 8.9% 
domiciled there before, attracting a net gain of 5.8%. 19.7% are in the wider South West 
where 16.4% were located previously (with much of the addition going to Bristol).32 
 
  

                                                      
31 Where do HE students come from?, Higher Education Statistical Agency, February 2022 
32 HESA Graduate Outcomes Survey Results Record 2018/19, HESA, 2022 

49.6
53.9

62.1

52.3
55.9

63.7

57.5 58.0

66.2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Exeter Devon England

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Page 102



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 26: University of Exeter graduate domicile location 2018/19  
 

 
5 years after graduating, there is a larger shift towards the South East and London where 
58.4% now reside, though 23.8% are in the South West, though this is the same proportion 
who were in the South West to begin with so there has been no net gain.33  
 

                                                      
33 Graduate Outcomes (LEO): provider level data, 2018/19, Department for Education, 2020 

74.7%

8.9%

3.7%

2.9%

1.9%

1.6%

1.5%

1.2%

1.0%

1.0%

0.9%

0.8%

64.6%

15.7%

4.5%

2.6%

1.5%

1.6%

4.2%

1.7%

0.9%

0.6%

1.2%

0.9%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0%

Non South West

Devon

Cornwall

Somerset

Gloucestershire

Dorset

City of Bristol

City of Plymouth

Bournemouth, Poole and Christchurch

North Somerset

Torbay

Bath and North East Somerset

Domicile Destination

Page 103



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Table 1: Graduate destination by graduate home region 2018/19 
 

 

Current region 

North 
East 

North 
West 

Yorkshire 
& the 

Humber 

East 
Midlands 

West 
Midlands 

East of 
England 

London 
South 
East 

South 
West 

Scotland Wales 
Northern 

Ireland 
Total 

H
o

m
e

 r
e

gi
o

n
 

North East 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

North West 0.0% 1.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.1% 

Yorkshire & the 
Humber 

0.0% 0.0% 0.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.8% 

East Midlands 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.7% 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 0.0% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.4% 

West Midlands 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.6% 0.0% 2.1% 0.0% 0.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.5% 

East of England 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.3% 3.8% 0.8% 1.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 12.0% 

London 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 12.2% 0.8% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 14.4% 

South East 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.6% 10.5% 18.8% 2.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 32.9% 

South West 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.6% 4.8% 1.5% 16.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 23.8% 

Scotland 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 

Wales 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.8% 0.0% 0.8% 0.0% 2.3% 0.0% 3.8% 

Northern 
Ireland 

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Total 0.0% 1.1% 0.8% 1.7% 4.0% 8.0% 36.5% 21.9% 23.8% 0.0% 2.3% 0.0% 100.0% 

 

P
age 104



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

1.15 Graduate outcomes 

Graduate activities for the academic years 2017/18 to 2018/19 show that University of Exeter 
and Exeter College both have lower rates of graduates attaining employment than UK 
average, however both have higher than UK average rates for employment and further study. 
University of Exeter graduates are more likely to engage in voluntary or unpaid work than UK 
average or Exeter College graduates, and the same pattern can be seen for those engaging in 
further study. Both University of Exeter and Exeter College have higher than UK average rates 
for unemployment and other outcomes including travel and caring, which is particularly high 
for Exeter College. 
 
Figure 27: Graduate outcomes 2017/2018 and 2018/2019 (HESA, 2021) 
 

 
 
 
Considering further education outcome-based success measures, Devon and Exeter have 
higher sustained positive destination rate than England average, but this figure is marginally 
lower for Exeter than Devon.34 Employment in Exeter and Devon is lower than England 
average (in line with Graduate Outcome findings above). Further Learning is higher in Exeter 
than Devon, but on par with England which is roughly in line with findings above. Combining 
employment and learning is higher in Exeter than in Devon, and both are higher than England, 
again in line with findings above. Combining further study and employment together appears 
popular in Exeter, which may be a reflection of the high cost of living and cost of further study. 
Finally, Exeter and Devon perform better than the English average for destinations not 
sustained or being in receipt of benefits. 
 
  

                                                      
34 Further education: outcome-based success measures 2018/19, Destinations by local education authority, 
Department for Education, October 2021 

61.9%

60.0%

67.7%

1.7%

1.3%

14.3%

11.8%

10.8%

4.8%

12.6%

8.3%

9.5%

5.9%

5.2%

9.5%

8.0%

6.7%

0.0% 10.0% 20.0% 30.0% 40.0% 50.0% 60.0% 70.0% 80.0% 90.0% 100.0%

Exeter College

The University of Exeter

UK

Employment Voluntary or unpaid work

Employment and further study Further study

Other including travel, caring for someone or retired Unemployed

Page 105



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 28: Graduate outcomes breakdown 2017/2018 and 2018/2019 
 

 
 
Data on UK domiciled graduates who obtained first-degree qualification and entered full-time 
paid employment in the UK by provider and salary band indicates that Exeter has a broader 
distribution of salaries than UK averages. More Exeter graduates earn higher salaries from 
£27-£29k salary band onwards.35 Average earnings across all University of Exeter graduates 
are higher at 1, 3 and 5 years after graduating than the UK average. 
 
  

                                                      
35 Graduate outcome data, Higher Education Statistics Agency, 2021 

5%

10%

5%

20%

39%

52%

80%

4%

9%

6%

15%

36%

61%

82%

8%

12%

5%

13%

39%

65%

75%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

In Receipt of Benefits

Destination Not Sustained

Self-Employment

Employment and Learning

Any Sustained Learning

Employment

Sustained Positive Destination Rate

England Devon Exeter

Page 106



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 29: UK domiciled graduates who obtained first-degree qualification and entered full-
time paid employment in the UK for University of Exeter and UK by salary band 2018/19 
 

  
 
Table 2: Average earnings for University of Exeter graduates 2018/19 
 

HEI 1 year after 
graduation 

3 years after 
graduation 

5 years after 
graduation 

University of Exeter £23,000 £28,100 £32,500 

UK £21,100 £25,000 £27,700 

 
 

1.16 Skill gaps and job vacancies 

Burning Glass data for total job postings shows that the annual change in the number of job 
postings since 2013 in Exeter has closely mirrored national and Devon trends.36 Despite a 
gradual decrease in job vacancies leading up to 2019, Exeter witnessed a sharp increase in 
vacancies from 2020 onwards to 2021. This is characteristic of a tighter labour market, with 
too many job roles and too few suitable candidates. 
 
Job postings as proportion of total population since 2012 has been higher than in England and 
Devon. Exeter has consistently stayed between 15% and 25% of total population, while Devon 
and English average has stayed between 5% and 15% of total population. In January 2021, 
Exeter had 32,364 job postings, which was 17.7% as proportion of total population. For Devon 
this figure was 6.9%, and for England 8.7%. This indicates there was a high rate of vacancies 
in Exeter compared to Devon and English averages. However, this also reflects that many of 
the jobs in Exeter will be attracting individuals from the travel to work area to fill the posts. 
 
  

                                                      
36 Job posting data, Burning Glass, Accessed April 2022 

4%
5%

15%
14%

17% 17%

13%

6%

3%
2%

1% 1%
0%

1%

5%
7%

17%
15%

23%

11%
10%

4%
3%

2%
1% 1% 1% 1%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

The University of Exeter UK

Page 107



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 30: Job postings as a proportion of total population 

 

 
 

Broadly, vacancies by occupation in Exeter track trends in England and Devon, with the 
highest amount of vacancies for professional occupations, followed by associate professional 
and technical occupations. This reflects earlier findings that Exeter is a hub for the 
professional services in Devon. Professional occupations represent 29.4% vacancies in Exeter 
compared to 26.5% in Devon. Exeter also has more vacancies for higher-skilled roles than the 
rest of Devon where lower-skilled vacancies are also in demand. There is also relatively high 
demand for caring, leisure and other service occupations, reflecting Exeter’s hospitality 
industry and health & social care sector. It should be noted that Exeter’s figures are more 
closely aligned with English average than with Devon average. 
 
  

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Exeter Devon England

Page 108



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 31: Vacancies by occupation 2021 

 
 
By sector, vacancies in Exeter generally also track national and Devon averages, with the 
highest demand for human health and social work activities, though Exeter has the highest 
proportion of vacancies at 26.3% compared to 25.1% in Devon, and 23.6% in England. 
Education, manufacturing, accommodation and food service activities are also in high 
demand. 
 
Although Exeter is a hub for professional, scientific and technical activities, it has a lower 
proportion of vacancies in this industry than in Devon (7.2% in Exeter, 10.2% in Devon), which 
may suggest that Exeter has a better labour supply for this industry than the rest of Devon. 
Both have higher demand than England average, indicating that there are still some labour 
gaps. 
 
Although there are proportionately much fewer information and communication vacancies in 
Exeter, Devon and England than many of the other industries, it is notable that Exeter has a 
higher proportion of these; 3.3% compared to 2.7% in Devon, 2.6% in England.  
 
  

29.4

16.5

10.6

8.8

7.7

7.3

8.3

6.2

5.2

26.5

15.6

8.6

9.2

9.3

8.1

9.0

8.0

5.7

31.8

17.6

9.9

9.1

7.5

7.7

6.4

6.1

4.1

0.0 5.0 10.0 15.0 20.0 25.0 30.0 35.0

PROFESSIONAL OCCUPATIONS

ASSOCIATE PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL
OCCUPATIONS

CARING, LEISURE AND OTHER SERVICE OCCUPATIONS

ELEMENTARY OCCUPATIONS

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SECRETARIAL OCCUPATIONS

SKILLED TRADES OCCUPATIONS

SALES AND CUSTOMER SERVICE OCCUPATIONS

MANAGERS, DIRECTORS AND SENIOR OFFICIALS

PROCESS, PLANT AND MACHINE OPERATIVES

England Devon Exeter

Page 109



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 32: Vacancies by sector in 2021 

 
 

Reviewing vacancies by industry over time, since 2012, human health and social work 
activities has consistently had the highest number of vacancies in Exeter. There was a sharp 
increase from 2019 to 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic, from 20% of vacancies to 31.6%. 

1.20

1.23

1.48

2.05

3.30

2.60

2.50

2.95

4.15

4.70

7.20

6.25

8.40

11.50

13.53

26.30

1.03

1.20

2.05

1.95

2.70

2.10

2.78

3.60

3.43

5.58

10.15

9.30

7.43

9.60

11.18

25.05

0.55

0.88

1.88

2.48

2.63

3.50

3.78

3.63

4.53

4.30

5.15

7.93

10.90

10.90

12.60

23.58

0.00 5.00 10.00 15.00 20.00 25.00 30.00

ARTS, ENTERTAINMENT AND RECREATION

WATER SUPPLY; SEWERAGE, WASTE MANAGEMENT
AND REMEDIATION ACTIVITIES

REAL ESTATE ACTIVITIES

FINANCIAL AND INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

OTHER SERVICE ACTIVITIES

CONSTRUCTION

ADMINISTRATIVE AND SUPPORT SERVICE ACTIVITIES

TRANSPORTATION AND STORAGE

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION AND DEFENCE; COMPULSORY
SOCIAL SECURITY

PROFESSIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL ACTIVITIES

WHOLESALE AND RETAIL TRADE; REPAIR OF MOTOR
VEHICLES AND MOTORCYCLES

ACCOMMODATION AND FOOD SERVICE ACTIVITIES

MANUFACTURING

EDUCATION

HUMAN HEALTH AND SOCIAL WORK ACTIVITIES

England Devon Exeter

Page 110



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

This has since started declining, but still remains at 26.3% of all vacancies. Education has the 
second-highest amount of vacancies since 2013, with increasing gaps until 2018, after which 
it has steadily decreased but still remains high. Manufacturing and accommodation and food 
service activities have both seen an increase in vacancies since 2020. 
 
Figure 33: Vacancies by industry in Exeter 2012-2021 for 6 biggest sectors by number of 

vacancies 

 

 
 
The skills most cited in vacancy postings (suggesting high demand) in Exeter were customer 
and client support (basic customer service) at 17.5% compared to 16.1% in Devon and 12.7% 
in England. The Top 5 skills in demand in Exeter are: 
 

 Customer and client support 17.6% 

 Information technology 9.2% 

 Sales: 7.6% 

 Administration: 6.4% 

 Business: project management: 5.8% 
 
 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

HUMAN HEALTH AND SOCIAL WORK ACTIVITIES

EDUCATION

MANUFACTURING

ACCOMMODATION AND FOOD SERVICE ACTIVITIES

WHOLESALE AND RETAIL TRADE; REPAIR OF MOTOR VEHICLES AND MOTORCYCLES

PROFESSIONAL, SCIENTIFIC AND TECHNICAL ACTIVITIES

Page 111



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Exeter also has higher demand than Devon and England for Microsoft Office and productivity 
tools, general administrative and clerical tasks and mental and behavioural health specialities. 
The overall themes are that sales, general IT, admin, business and finance skills are needed in 
Exeter, reflecting the sectors locally. 
 
Figure 34: Skills in demand in Exeter 2021 

 

 
 
Qualifications stipulated in vacancy postings suggest that there is a high demand for 
bachelors’ degrees, graduate certificates/diplomas, with 6.8% of job adverts requesting this. 
This was also most in demand in England and Devon but to varying degrees, at 5.7% in Devon 
and 8.4% in England. GCSEs and Level 2 were in greater demand than A Levels or NVQ3, 

4.2%

4.4%

5.3%

5.6%

5.6%

5.8%

6.4%

7.6%

9.2%

17.6%

3.7%

4.0%

4.7%

6.1%

5.5%

5.1%

6.2%

7.2%

8.2%

16.1%

4.4%

3.5%

3.6%

7.2%

6.5%

7.6%

5.0%

8.3%

8.1%

12.7%

0.0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0%10.0%12.0%14.0%16.0%18.0%20.0%

FINANCE: General Accounting

HEALTH CARE: Mental And Behavioral Health
Specialties

ADMINISTRATION: Administrative Support

EDUCATION AND TRAINING: Teaching

FINANCE: Budget Management

BUSINESS: Project Management

ADMINISTRATION: General Administrative And
Clerical Tasks

SALES: General Sales

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY: Microsoft Office And
Productivity Tools

CUSTOMER AND CLIENT SUPPORT: Basic Customer
Service

England Devon Exeter

Page 112



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

reflecting the national trend, with limited demand for postgrad degrees and foundation 
degrees, though more than in Devon and England, driven in part by the university. 
 
Figure 35: Qualifications in demand, 2021 (Burning door, 2021) 

 
 

1.17 Housing 

Average house prices in Exeter are higher than the England averages, but lower than the wider 
Devon averages. There has been a significant increase in house prices in the decade up to 
January 2022, up 58.6% in Exeter and 57.7% in Devon more widely.37 This increase is lower 
than the rise across the rest of England which was 67.4%. However, the increase in house 
prices since the pandemic (January 2020 to January 2022) was significantly higher in Exeter 
than other geographies (17.8% compared to 6.9% in Devon and 7.5% in England). 
 
The ratio between average house prices and annual median earnings is marginally higher for 
Exeter than the English average. In Exeter, with full-time average earnings £30,444 and 
average house price £282,076, the ratio is 1:9.3.38 In Devon this ratio is 1:10.5 and in England 
1:9.1. There has been a sharp fall in house price affordability in all geographies since 2020. In 
Exeter the house price ratio has been high but relatively stable over time, consistently having 
a lower ratio than Devon but higher than England. 
 
  

                                                      
37 Average House Prices, Land Registry, March 2022 
38 House Price to Earnings Ratio, ONS, 2021 

0.1%

0.2%

0.8%

1.3%

1.8%

5.0%

6.8%

0.1%

0.3%

1.1%

0.7%

2.0%

5.5%

5.7%

0.1%

0.3%

0.8%

0.7%

1.8%

4.7%

8.4%

0.0% 1.0% 2.0% 3.0% 4.0% 5.0% 6.0% 7.0% 8.0% 9.0%

Level 1 S/NVQs

Foundation Degrees, HNDs

HNCs, Level 4 Certificates/Diplomas, Level 4 S/NVQs

Postgraduate Degrees, Level 5 Certificates/Diplomas,
Level 5 S/NVQs

A-Levels, Highers, Level 3 S/NVQs

GCSEs, Standard Grades, Level 2 S/NVQs

Bachelor's Degrees, Graduate Certificates/Diplomas

England Devon Exeter

Page 113



Exeter Skills Strategy Annex A: Evidence Base 

Figure 36: Earnings to house price ratio 2021 
 

 
 
Rental prices in Exeter in 2020-2021 are much higher than both Devon and England, with the 
mean rent of £1,085 per month in Exeter compared to £813 in Devon and £893 in England.39 
The median rent in Exeter is £850, compared to £720 in Devon and £755 in England. 
 
The availability of rental property has sharply decreased in Exeter by 41% since the pandemic, 
from 3,330 rents in 2019 to 1,960 in 2021. There has been a similar reduction across Devon 
from 12,740 to 7,920 (-38%). This reduction of the rental housing stock has implications for 
employment and attracting and retaining people in Exeter. 
 
Table 3: Change in rental property stock 2019-2021 
 

Authority Area 2019 2021 Difference 

Exeter 3,330 1,960 -41% 

Devon 12,740 7,920 -38% 

 

                                                      
39 Private Rental Market Statistics, ONS and Valuation Office Agency, 2021. Note that comparisons between 
years should be treated with caution, however the decreasing trend in available rental accomodation is borne 
out nationally suggesting a challenge. 

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

11.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Exeter Devon England

Page 114



 
 

Equality Impact Assessment: Exeter Skills Strategy 
 
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the 
need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not 
 
In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do 
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all 
members of the community. 
 
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular 
groups and worsen inequality.  
 

Committee name and 
date: 

 

Report Title 
 

Decisions being 
recommended:  

 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made:  
 

Executive 
31 May 2022 
 

Exeter Skills Strategy 2.1 To approve the Skills 
Strategy for Exeter. 
 
2.2 To approve development of 
the associated action plan to 
enable the Skills & City Inclusivity 

Race and Ethnicity 
Disability 
Sex / Gender 
Age 
Pregnancy and Maternity 

P
age 115



Committee name and 
date: 

 

Report Title 
 

Decisions being 
recommended:  

 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made:  
 

Manager to address the identified 
priorities. 

Factors to consider in the assessment:  For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed 
decision will have a positive, negative or neutral impact. This is must be noted in the table below alongside brief details of why this 
conclusion has been reached and notes of any mitigation proposed. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low 
assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions 
planned to be carried out in future). 

 

High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc. 
Medium impact –some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence 
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very 
little discretion 

 

Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive 
or 
Negative 
Impact 

High, 
Medium or 
Low 
Impact 

Reason 

Race and ethnicity (including 
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant 
workers; asylum seekers). 

Positive  Whilst the evidence base that supports the Skills Strategy does not 
indicate that any area of work needs to impact on these groups 
specifically, we are aware that through our current work programme, 
specifically Exeter Works that we will be supporting asylum seekers / 
refugees in particular.  
The data does not currently indicate that we would have any need to 
focus on any particular ethnic group /s in any of the delivery of the Skills 
Strategy. This will be reviewed as projects develop and any new work 
streams are identified. 

Disability: as defined by the Equality 
Act – a person has a disability if they 
have a physical or mental impairment 
that has a substantial and long-term 

Positive  Through consultation and engagement with JCP and other partners, it 
has been highlighted that there is potential to engage more and varied 
businesses across the city in supporting those with disabilities in to 
work. In particular encouraging the use of the ‘Disability Confident’ 

P
age 116



Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive 
or 
Negative 
Impact 

High, 
Medium or 
Low 
Impact 

Reason 

adverse impact on their ability to carry 
out normal day-to-day activities. 

scheme, along with a variety of approaches to support inclusion and 
diversity in the workplace. 
The Skills Strategy seeks to promote inclusion – in terms of economic 
activity. 

Sex/Gender Positive  Whilst not currently specifically identified, there may be priority activities 
within the strategy that will present opportunities for women in particular 
to be supported. An example of this is through the Building Greater 
Exeter project, where a funding stream from the CITB has identified that 
supporting women in to jobs and careers in construction is a priority and 
forms part of a project that we are delivering. 
It is envisaged that any activity derived from the strategy that has a 
focus on either gender will be positive, and not necessarily have a 
negative impact on the other. 
 

Gender reassignment Neutral  The Skills strategy will not seek to specifically focus on or exclude this 
group – only through the activity as indicated above for gender. 
 

Religion and belief (includes no 
belief, some philosophical beliefs such 
as Buddhism and sects within 
religions). 

Neutral  The evidence base that supports the Skills Strategy does not indicate 
that any area of work needs to impact on these groups specifically 

Sexual orientation (including 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, bisexual). 

Neutral  The evidence base that supports the Skills Strategy does not indicate 
that any area of work needs to impact on these groups specifically 

Age (children and young people aged 
0-24; adults aged 25-50; younger 
older people aged 51-75/80; older 
people 81+; frail older people; people 
living with age related conditions. The 
age categories are for illustration only 
as overriding consideration should be 
given to needs). 

Positive  The skills strategy has identified that there are particular age groups that 
priority activity will be focussed on.  
Young People – in order to support understanding of jobs, skills that 
employers are going to need, and an understanding of the labour market 
to support decision-making in relation to further and higher education 
and provide inspiration. 

P
age 117



Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive 
or 
Negative 
Impact 

High, 
Medium or 
Low 
Impact 

Reason 

Working age population – particularly in relation to those who are not 
currently active in the labour market – which evidence shows are those 
aged 55+. 
 

Pregnancy and maternity including 
new and breast feeding mothers 

Positive  The evidence base has indicated that there are issues to address in 
terms of attracting and retaining the workforce. There is the potential for 
this group to be impacted by work that is taken forward under this strand 
of activity. 

Marriage and civil partnership 
status 

Neutral  The evidence base that supports the Skills Strategy does not indicate 
that any area of work needs to impact on these groups specifically. 

 
Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion 
 

 All areas of work identified as part of the priorities for the Skills Strategy will consider the impact on all of the above groups as detailed 
work plans are developed. 

 If funding opportunities arise to support Protected characteristic, this will be investigated for its suitability, impact and deliverability in the 
city.  

 Any events, meetings or activities that are planned as part of the Skills Strategy delivery programme will fully take account of the 
identified groups when considering venues and content. 

 

Officer: Skills and City Inclusivity Manager 

Date: 5 May 2022 

P
age 118



 

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 
Date of Meeting: 31 May 2022 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Date of Meeting: 19 July 2022 

Report of: Director of Planning and Development 

Title: New Statement of Community Involvement: Proposed adoption 

Is this a Key Decision?  

No 

Is this an Executive or Council Function? 

Council 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 The report concerns Exeter’s new Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). This is 

a document, that every Local Planning Authority must prepare, that sets out how the 

public, organisations and other interested parties will be involved in planning matters.  

The new SCI will replace the existing SCI that was adopted in 2005.  

1.2 A report was brought to Executive on 8th July 2021 proposing a draft SCI for 

consultation. The draft SCI was published for consultation for a period of eight weeks 

alongside the Exeter Local Plan ‘Issues Consultation’ that took place last autumn. This 

report (together with Appendix A) summarises the consultation comments received, 

presents the Council’s response to these comments, and proposes revisions to the draft 

SCI. A final SCI (Appendix B), incorporating the proposed revisions, is proposed for 

adoption by Council. 

2. Recommendations:  

(1) That the Executive gives delegation of authority to the Director of Planning and 

Development, in consultation with the Council Leader and the Portfolio Holder for City 

Development, to make minor editorial changes to the final SCI document; and 

  

(2) That Executive support and Council adopts the final Statement of Community 

Involvement including any minor changes (as per recommendation 1).  

 

3. Reasons for the recommendation: 

3.1 To provide an up-to-date SCI that addresses all legislative requirements and ensures 

the public, organisations and other interested parties can input into decisions on planning 

applications and help inform policy preparation, including the development of the new 

Exeter Local Plan. 

Page 119

Agenda Item 9



4. What are the resource implications including non financial resources? 

4.1 The drafting and consultation on the draft SCI have already taken place. There are no 

additional resource implications relating to adopting the final SCI.   

5. Section 151 Officer comments: 

5.1 There are no financial implications for Council contained within this report. 

6. What are the legal aspects? 

6.1 The preparation of an SCI, setting out how a local authority will involve its 

communities, businesses and other interested parties in the preparation of planning 

policies and in determining individual planning applications, is a legal requirement under 

section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. There are currently no 

formal or regulatory requirements setting out how an SCI should be prepared and there is 

no legal requirement to consult on its contents. However, in order to follow best-practice a 

draft SCI has been consulted on and amendments made in response to this consultation. 

7. Monitoring Officer’s comments: 

Please see the content of Paragraph 6 above. 

8. Report details: 

Background 

8.1 The 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (section 18) requires local planning 

authorities to prepare an SCI which covers how the Council will consult on planning policy 

preparation and planning applications.  Exeter’s existing SCI was adopted in 2005 and is 

therefore somewhat dated. A review of the existing SCI reveals that it does not meet the 

current legislative requirements, specifically in that it does not specify how the authority 

will deal with the duty to support Neighbourhood Planning (inserted by the 

Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017).   

8.2 A new SCI was drafted in the summer of 2021 and approved by members for 

consultation at Executive on 8 July 2021.    

Consultation 

8.3 Whilst there is no legislative requirement for consultation on the SCI, an eight week 

period of consultation was undertaken (from 20 September to 15 November 2021) to 

meet best practice and adhere to the Council’s Consultation Charter (indeed the period of 

consultation on the draft SCI exceeded the 6 weeks required by the Consultation 

Charter). The draft SCI was published on the Council’s website (alongside the Exeter 

Local Plan ‘Issues Consultation’) so that residents and stakeholders could easily see 

what is proposed and how to comment.   

Comments received and changes to draft SCI 

8.4 Responses to the consultation have been analysed and consideration given to what 

revisions may be needed to the draft SCI.  A summary of the comments made, the 

Council’s response, and the proposed changes, is attached as Appendix A. 

Page 120



8.5 The key amendments proposed to the document are presented below: 

 The final SCI now states that we will always try to communicate in plain English and 

fully explain any necessary technical language or acronyms 

 The list of relevant planning matters has been amended to include economic dis-

benefits 

 Reference to Masterplans has  been added to the ‘planning policy’ section 

 Additional text has been inserted into the final SCI to ensure it is clear that, in 

addition to consulting statutory consultees, we will consider whether there are 

reasons to engage with other, non-statutory, consultees. This text is inserted into 

the sections relating to ‘planning policy’ and ‘planning applications and 

permissions’.  

 Reference to the Consultation Charter has been inserted into the final SCI. This will 

ensure it is clear that all future consultations in relation to planning policy will adhere 

to the Consultation Charter.  

 Text has been inserted to encourage developers and applicants to engage with 

Historic England and other statutory consultees 

 A new appendix has been inserted that lists all the specific and general consultation 

bodies to be consulted during the preparation of a Local Plan and other planning 

policy documents. This includes Historic England.  

 The list of statutory consultees has been revised to include reference to Exeter 

Airport. 

 Some brief additional text has been added to make reference to the Liveable Exeter 

concept.  

 References to Exeter St James Forum have been deleted as this body has been 

dissolved. 

8.6 A number of other minor text changes and corrections have also been made to 

improve readability, clarity and understanding (all proposed changes are listed in 

Appendix A). 

The Final SCI 

8.7 The changes listed above (together with the other minor text changes) have been 

incorporated into the final version of the SCI which is attached as Appendix B.   

8.8 Whilst the final version of the SCI is amended from the draft version, the document 

continues to balance the need to consult with the need to make rapid progress on the 

new Exeter Local Plan and to allow flexibility in changing times, whilst also meeting the 

legislative requirements. 

9. How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan? 

9.1 The new SCI sets out how we will consult on planning applications and the 

preparation of planning policy, including the new Exeter Local Plan.  In this way the new 

SCI will help deliver development that meets three corporate objectives: 

 Building great neighbourhoods; 

 Tackling congestion and accessibility; and 

 Promoting active and healthy lifestyles. 

Page 121



10. What risks are there and how can they be reduced? 

10.1 There are minimal risks as the SCI is a statutory requirement, we have consulted 

and made revisions and we are not committing additional resources.  Furthermore, we 

will need to review the SCI in 5 years (as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) England Regulations 2021 (as amended)). Revisions can be made at 

that point if required. 

11. Equality Act 2010 (The Act)  

11.1 Under the Act’s Public Sector Equalities Duty, decision makers are required to 

consider the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other prohibited conduct; 

 advance equality by encouraging participation, removing disadvantage, taking 

account of disabilities and meeting people’s needs; and 

 foster good relations between people by tackling prejudice and promoting 

understanding. 

11.2 In order to comply with the general duty authorities must assess the impact on 

equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do not prevent the authority 

from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals 

that consider the impacts on all members of the community. 

11.3 In making decisions the authority must take into account the potential impact of that 

decision in relation to age, disability, race/ethnicity (includes Gypsies and Travellers), sex 

and gender, gender identity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, pregnant women and 

new and breastfeeding mothers, marriage and civil partnership status in coming to a 

decision. 

11.4 In recommending the adoption of the new SCI, potential impact has been identified 

on people with protected characteristics as determined by the Act and an Equalities 

Impact Assessment has been included in the background papers for Member’s attention. 

12. Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:   

12.1 There are no direct carbon/environmental impacts arising from the 

recommendations. However, the new SCI puts more emphasis on the potential use of 

significant electronic, online and social media platforms which will help minimise the 

carbon impact of consultations. 

13. Are there any other options? 

No. The preparation of an up-to-date SCI is a statutory requirement. 

 

Director of Planning and Development, Ian Collinson 

Author: Jill Day, Principal Project Manager – Local Plans 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

Page 122



 Statement of Community Involvement (Adopted 13 December 2005) 

 Draft Statement of Community Involvement (September 2021) 

 Equality Impact Assessment: Final SCI 
 

 
Contact for enquires:  
Democratic Services (Committees) 
Room 4.36 
01392 265275 
 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX A: Council response to comments received on the Draft Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 

 

Respondent Summary of comment Council Response Proposed change to SCI 

1 
Julia Neville 

I believe that the title of the statement is rather misleading.  The 
focus of the document is strongly on questions about how 
applications for planning permission are handled.  I would 
understand a 'Statement of community involvement' to be a 
document taking a broader approach and considering how the 
council can engage citizens across the city in contributing with 
ideas and comments on the broader aspects of planning as 
outlined in the concurrent consultation on issues.  
Neighbourhood plans (which I support) are a good idea, but 
they confine involvement to very specific areas, and can't deal 
with city-wide issues. 

The title of the document is 
set by the legislation (under 
section 18 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004) and by 
government guidance.  The 
draft SCI complies with this 
legislation and guidance. 
The document takes a 
flexible approach in 
recognition of the Council’s 
limited resources and the 
need to make progress with 
a new Local Plan; 
nevertheless, the draft SCI 
allows for a range of 
approaches to consultation 
and engagement and, in 
relation to the new Exeter 
Local Plan, these will be 
explored further as we 
move forward. 
 

No change required. 

2  
National 
Highways 

Highways England was renamed National Highways in August 
2021 so we request that the document is updated to reflect this.  
 
National Highways has no specific comments to make on the 
draft consultation document but we look forward to engaging 
with the Council regarding the development of the transport 
evidence base necessary to support the emerging Local Plan. 
 

Noted; Appendix D will be 
updated to reflect the 
renaming of this 
consultation body.  
 

Appendix E will be 
amended to remove 
reference to ‘Highways 
England’ and replace with 
reference to ‘National 
Highways’ 

P
age 125



2 
 

3  
Natural 
England 

We are supportive of the principle of meaningful and early 
engagement of the general community, community 
organisations and statutory bodies in local planning matters, 
both in terms of shaping policy and participating in the process 
of determining planning applications.  
 
We regret we are unable to comment, in detail, on individual 
Statements of Community Involvement but information on the 
planning service we offer, including advice on how to consult us, 
can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/protected-species-and-
sites-how-to-review-planning-proposals.  
 
The only specific comment we do have to make on the draft 
Statement of Community Involvement is to note that the list in 
Appendix D doesn’t appear to be formatted correctly as Natural 
England and Local Planning Authorities are listed alongside 
Lead Local Flood Authority rather than as separate consultation 
bodies. 
 

Noted; the format of 
Appendix D has been 
checked and is correct 
(showing Natural England, 
and all other consultation 
bodies, listed on separate 
lines).  Follow up 
communication with Natural 
England has established 
that the issue probably 
arose from an IT glitch and 
they are happy with the 
presentation and formatting 
of the document. 

No change required. 

4  
DCC 

In terms of the Historic Environment there are a number of 
potential non-statutory consultees who could add value to the 
Development Plan, SPDs, Neighbourhood Plans and also the 
Planning Application process. These include the Exeter Historic 
Buildings Trust, The Devon Archaeological Society and the 
Devonshire Association. In addition, enhancing public access to 
the Exeter Urban Archaeological Database (Exeter’s Historic 
Environment Record for the city’s central area) would improve 
the community’s opportunities to engage with heritage, including 
in the planning and development management process. 
 

Noted; the SCI does not 
attempt to list non-statutory 
consultees. However, in 
regards to planning policy, 
any non-statutory 
organisation can request to 
be added to the 
‘Consultation Database’ to 
ensure they are consulted 
at every stage of the new 
Local Plan preparation 
process (this is already 
stated in the draft SCI).  In 
addition to this we will insert 
text into the final SCI to 
ensure it is clear that, in 

Page 5 – Insert and 
amend text to read: 
‘There are certain bodies 
or organisations that we 
must consult2, but we will 
also consider whether to 
consult more widely with 
non statutory consultees 
as appropriate on a case-
by case basis’ 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 126



3 
 

addition to consulting 
statutory consultees, we will 
consider whether to consult 
more widely with non 
statutory consultees. 
      
In regard to planning 
applications, any 
organisation can comment 
on a planning application 
and these comments will be 
taken into account in 
determining the planning 
application (this is already 
stated in the draft SCI).  In 
addition to this we will insert 
text into the final SCI to 
ensure it is clear that in 
addition to consulting 
statutory consultees, we will 
consider whether to consult 
more widely with non 
statutory consultees. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 9 – Insert and 
amend text to read:  
‘In addition to the statutory 
consultees set out in 
Appendix E, we will 
consider  whether to 
consult more widely with 
non statutory consultees 
as appropriate on a case-
by case basis’ 
 
 
 

5  
Exeter Hindu 
Community 
Centre 

The Hindu community in Exeter is growing very significantly. 
The cultural and spiritual needs of this community are restricted 
by lack of an appropriate place for worship in Exeter. Having a 
temple will not only plug this gap, but also support future growth 
in talent from Hindu community who occupy an important space 
in education (e.g. University of Exeter) and Health sectors 
(including various NHS organisations in Exeter)   

The consultation response 
does not suggest any 
specific change to the draft 
SCI.  Whilst the desire for a 
Hindu place for worship in 
Exeter is noted, this cannot 
be addressed through the 
SCI. This point relates more 
closely with the potential 
content of the new Local 
Plan. The Exeter Hindu 

No change required. 

P
age 127



4 
 

Community Centre are 
invited to respond to future 
consultations on the new 
local plan. 
 

6  
Exeter Civic 
Society 

The document does not focus on government recommendations 
for early and meaningful consultation with communities and 
interested organisations. More detail about the council’s 
process of consultation and a greater commitment is needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The final printed document should provide clear type faces and 
good contrast - avoid text on coloured backgrounds or across 
illustrations, and in colour other than black.  
 
 

The draft SCI complies with 
the legislation (section 18 of 
the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004), the NPPF and the 
Planning Practice 
Guidance.  It is considered 
that the SCI will allow the 
Local Plan to be shaped by 
‘early, proportionate and 
effective engagement’ as 
required by the NPPF. 
 
The document takes a 
flexible approach and 
allows for a range of 
approaches to consultation 
and engagement and in 
relation to the new Exeter 
Local Plan these will be 
explored further as we 
move forward. 
 
 
We will ensure a fully 
‘accessible’ version of the 
final document is available. 
 
 
 

No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 128



5 
 

Express support for positive statements relating to community 
involvement but important that new Local Plan reflects this. 
 
Useful to include information relating to possible changes to 
planning legislation currently being considered by government 
relating to zonal planning areas. 
 
 
 
 
The SCI suggests that the level of consultation will be restricted 
‘within available resources’. The council must set aside funds to 
enable extensive consultation at all stages.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
More details should be added concerning the forms of 
consultation listed. We ask for a commitment to use clear 
language which is jargon free. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In regard to the list of planning issues, if this just relates to 
planning applications make this clear. Add ‘ECC planning 
polices’ to the list and amend ‘economic benefits’ to ‘Economic 
benefits/ disadvantages / risks of the proposal’. 

Noted. 
 
 
There is great uncertainty 
regarding the contents of 
any Planning Bill and 
therefore such a reference 
would not add any further 
clarity. 
 
The documents takes a 
flexible approach and 
allows for a range of 
approaches to consultation 
and engagement. The SCI 
states that methods used 
need to be proportionate 
and within available 
resources; this is factual 
and transparent.  
 
The list of methods on page 
3 presents an overview of 
the consultation 
approaches that can be 
utilised; more detail is 
provided on pages 6 and 9. 
Additional text regarding 
the use of plain English will 
be inserted. 
 
The list relates to both 
planning applications and 
planning policy documents. 
The introductory wording 

No change required. 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 3 – Insert text to 
state ‘We will always try to 
communicate in plain 
English and fully explain 
any necessary technical 
language or acronyms.’ 
 
 
 
 
Page 4  - Amend and 
insert text to read ‘We can 
only take account of 
comments made about 

P
age 129



6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It would be useful in the opening sentence if the council added 
‘and we will engage with community’.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Can ‘Masterplans’ be added to the list of planning policy 
documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We would like to see a clear statement in the final SCI about 
how under-represented groups will be consulted.  The council 
should commit to using all media options (Facebook, twitter 
etc). Should visually and hearing impaired, and those with 
physical disabilities be added to the list? 
 

will be changed to provide 
further explanation and the 
bullet point list amended to 
include ‘economic 
disbenefits’. ECC planning 
policies are already 
covered by the ‘local 
planning policies’ bullet 
point. 
 
This first sentence will be 
amended to ensure it is 
clear that we will engage 
with the community. 
 
 
 
 
 
Masterplans are one form 
of Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) that can 
provide additional guidance 
for development. Additional 
text will be inserted to 
reference this. 
 
 
 
The draft SCI allows for a 
range of approaches to 
consultation and 
engagement and already 
puts more emphasis on the 
use of electronic, online 

relevant planning 
matters.  Some examples 
of relevant planning 
matters include:’ 
And insert text to bullet list 
to read: Economic 
benefits/disbenefits of the 
proposal 
 
 
Page 5 – Insert and 
amend text to read: 
‘This section focuses on 
planning policy; it explains 
how we will engage with 
the community and how 
you can get involved in the 
plan-making process.’ 
 
Page 5 – Insert text to read 
‘Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) can be 
used to provide further 
guidance for development 
on specific sites (in the 
form of Masterplans or 
other site specific plans), 
or on…’ 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 130



7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
It would be more positive if the council committed to consult for 
more than the minimum legal requirement, and make a 
commitment to local engagement and workshops. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The council must commit to consult with interested groups and 
organisations in the preparation of SPDs, so the word ‘may’ in 
the second paragraph should be changed to will. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LPAs should be proactive in supporting communities in 
developing their own Neighbourhood Plans but there is no 
evidence on the council’s website that this has been done, and 
the webpages appear to be out of date, with the protocol not 
being updated since 2012. There is no link to the government’s 
new Neighbourhood Planning webpages 
 
 
 

and social media platforms. 
The list already includes 
‘Those with disabilities 
(both physical and mental)’ 
 
The SCI already states that 
we may go beyond the 
legal requirements and 
already references 
workshops, exhibitions and 
online events.  It should be 
noted that there is no 
statutory requirement to 
consult on the SCI and yet 
we consulted for a period of 
eight weeks. 
 
The council is committed to 
consultation on SPDs as 
stated in the preceding 
paragraph of the SCI.  The 
sentence referred to could 
be misleading and therefore 
will be deleted. 
 
 
The draft SCI already refers 
to the potential for 
communities to bring 
forward a Neighbourhood 
Plan (see page 8).  There is 
also reference to the duty to 
support and the Protocol 
that has been adopted by 
the council. The council’s 

 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 8 – Delete text 
‘Engagement and 
consultation may be 
targeted to relevant groups 
and organisations 
depending on the SPD 
subject matter and impact.’ 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 131



8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Developers should undertake public consultation before 
submitting planning applications. 
 
 
 
 
 
How will the council ensure the SCI is reviewed? 
 
 
 
 
 
How will SPDs be adopted by ECC? 
 
 
 
 
Avoid use of acronyms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
List non-statutory organisations that are hoped to be consulted. 
 
 

Neighbourhood Planning 
webpage has now been 
updated to include a link to 
the Government’s new 
‘Neighbourhood Planning’ 
webpages.  
 
The draft SCI already 
encourages developers and 
applicants to engage with 
the community prior to 
submitting a planning 
application (see page 10) 
 
The draft SCI commits to a 
review every 5 years in 
accordance with the 
statutory requirement (see 
Chapter 5 – page 11) 
 
The draft SCI already 
explains how SPDs will be 
produced and adopted (see 
page 8 and Appendix 6). 
 
Unfortunately it is 
challenging to avoid the use 
of acronyms in all cases but 
where we have used them 
they are explained in the 
glossary. 
 
All organisations that aren’t 
statutory are non-statutory, 
and it would not be 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 

P
age 132



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Council should ask communities if they wish to establish their 
own community plan. 
 
 
 
 
Display a site notice for all types of applications listed or send a 
letter of notification to neighbours. 

appropriate to try to list 
them all here.  However, in 
regards to planning policy, 
any non-statutory 
organisation can request to 
be added to the 
‘Consultation Database’ to 
ensure they are consulted 
at every stage of the new 
Local Plan preparation 
process (this is already 
stated in the draft SCI).  In 
regard to planning 
applications, any 
organisation (or individual) 
can comment on a planning 
application and these 
comments will be taken into 
account in determining the 
planning application (this is 
already stated in the draft 
SCI). 
 
The draft SCI already refers 
to the potential for 
community’s to bring 
forward a Neighbourhood 
Plan (see page 8) 
 
The SCI already explains 
that ‘In most cases, we 
send letters to immediate 
neighbours that share a 
common boundary with a 
planning application site, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 9 – Insert text to 
read: ‘The case officer may 
use a site notice when it is 
difficult to identify the 
neighbours or if the land 
ownership is unknown. 

P
age 133



10 
 

and in some cases we 
place a site notice in the 
local area.’ (See page 9). 
However, we will insert 
additional text to explain 
further. 

Additionally, a site notice 
may be used where the 
case officer judges that the 
case is of interest to an 
audience not limited to the 
immediate neighbours.’ 
 

7  
Devon CCG 
and RD&E 
NHS Trust 

The plan needs to take in the population growth and the effects 
it has on health services – developers should be expected to 
provide s106 contributions to mitigate the impacts generated 
from new developments. 
 

The consultation response 
does not suggest any 
specific change to the draft 
SCI.  The comments will be 
considered in relation to the 
New Local Plan. 
 

No change required. 

8  
Devon 
Archaeological 
Society 

Inclusion of the Devon Archaeological Society as non-statutory 
consultee for planning policy and the planning application 
process. 
 
Enhancing public access to ECC’s Historic Environment Record 
would improve the community’s opportunity to engage with 
heritage. 

The SCI does not list non-
statutory consultees. 
However, in regards to 
planning policy, any non-
statutory organisation can 
request to be added to the 
‘Consultation Database’ to 
ensure they are consulted 
at every stage of the new 
Local Plan preparation 
process (this is already 
stated in the draft SCI).  In 
addition to this we will insert 
text into the final SCI to 
ensure it is clear that, in 
addition to consulting 
statutory consultees, we will 
consider whether to consult 
more widely with non 
statutory consultees. 
      

Page 5 – Insert and 
amend text to read: 
‘There are certain bodies 
or organisations that we 
must consult2, but we will 
also consider whether to 
consult more widely with 
non statutory consultees 
as appropriate on a case-
by case basis’ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 134



11 
 

In regard to planning 
applications, any 
organisation can comment 
on a planning application 
and these comments will be 
taken into account in 
determining the planning 
application (this is already 
stated in the draft SCI).  In 
addition to this we will insert 
text into the final SCI to 
ensure it is clear that in 
addition to consulting 
statutory consultees, we will 
consider whether to consult 
more widely with non 
statutory consultees. 
 

Page 9 – Insert and 
amend text to read:  
‘In addition to the statutory 
consultees set out in 
Appendix E, we will 
consider  whether to 
consult more widely with 
non statutory consultees 
as appropriate on a case-
by case basis’ 
 
 

9  
Exeter Green 
Party 

Comment and consultation alone do not constitute community 
involvement and therefore this is a wholly inadequate offering. 
 
The draft SCI does not meet the requirements of the NPPF as it 
does not enable Plans to be shaped by early, proportionate and 
effective engagement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The draft SCI does not ‘contain policies that are clearly written 
and unambiguous’ as required by the NPPF 
 

The draft SCI complies with 
the legislation (section 18 of 
the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004), the NPPF and the 
Planning Practice 
Guidance.  
It is considered that the SCI 
will allow the Local Plan to 
be shaped by ‘early, 
proportionate and effective 
engagement’ as required by 
the NPPF. 
 
The SCI is not a ‘Plan’ and 
does not include policies as 
such, but does try to 

No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 

P
age 135



12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Consultation Charter applies to planning 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

explain how the public can 
get involved in planning; it 
is considered that the 
document does this in a 
clear and concise fashion. 
 
The preparation and 
consultation on the new 
SCI have complied with the 
Consultation Charter and 
this is referenced in the 
accompanying reports to 
committee (indeed the 
consultation on the draft 
SCI was held for longer 
than required by the 
Consultation Charter).  
However, a reference to the 
Consultation Charter will 
also be added to the final 
SCI to ensure it is clear that 
all future consultations, in 
relation to Planning Policy, 
will also adhere to the 
Consultation Charter (it 
should be noted that the 
Consultation Charter is not 
intended to apply to 
planning applications which 
are governed by their own 
specific statutory 
consultation arrangements; 
this is specifically stated in 
the Charter).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Text to be inserted (page 
6) to state: 
‘All consultations relating 
to planning policy 
documents will adhere to 
the Consultation Charter’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 136



13 
 

Comment in not community involvement; the principles and 
approaches to community involvement should be set out in full. 
 
There should be continued engagement on developing the local 
plan between the formal statutory consultation stages. 
 
 
 
 
 
The draft SCI appears to have been prepared without reference 
to the Exeter Community Strategy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
There is no evidence in the SCI that the Council is being 
proactive in informing communities of neighbourhood planning 
 

The document takes a 
flexible approach and 
allows for a range of 
approaches to consultation 
and engagement and in 
relation to the new Exeter 
Local Plan these will be 
explored further as we 
move forward. 
 
There is no reason for the 
SCI to refer to this strategy 
as it has no bearing on the 
LPA’s approach to 
consultation.  In any case 
the Exeter Community 
Strategy is no longer 
current, as it was not 
updated after 3 years and 
has been superseded by 
the Grants policy for ECC.   
 
The draft SCI already refers 
to the potential for 
communities to bring 
forward a Neighbourhood 
Plan (see page 8).  There is 
also reference to the duty to 
support and the Protocol 
that has been adopted by 
the Council.  The 
‘community builders’ 
already take an active role 
in promoting 
Neighbourhood Planning; it 

No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 

P
age 137



14 
 

is not the role of the SCI to 
do this. 
 

10 The  
Progressive 
Group of 
Councillors 

Statement of Community Involvement is inadequate for both the 
Authority and our communities in light of the challenges that 
Exeter faces. 
Should be going beyond consultation to enable proper 
community engagement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SCI should be redrafted with particular reference to: 
 

 Proactively supporting and promoting Neighbourhood 
Planning 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The draft SCI complies with 
the legislation (section 18 of 
the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004), the NPPF and the 
Planning Practice 
Guidance. 
The document takes a 
flexible approach and 
allows for a range of 
approaches to consultation 
and engagement and in 
relation to the new Exeter 
Local Plan these will be 
explored further as we 
move forward. 
 
 
 
 
The draft SCI already refers 
to the potential for 
community’s to bring 
forward a Neighbourhood 
Plan (see page 8).  There is 
also reference to the duty to 
support and the Protocol 
that has been adopted by 
the Council.  The 
‘community builders’ 
already take an active role 
in promoting 

No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 138



15 
 

 
 
 
 

 Liveable Exeter: to date there has been marketing rather 
than community engagement; if these new developments 
are to meet the ‘Garden City Principles’ then community 
involvement is of paramount importance. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Include recently adopted Consultation Charter 

Neighbourhood Planning; it 
is not the role of the SCI to 
do this. 
 
This comment does not 
relate directly to the SCI.  
However, the Liveable 
Exeter team have been 
working on community 
engagement plans and 
there will be engagement 
projects coming forward in 
2022. 
 
The preparation and 
consultation on the new 
SCI have complied with the 
Consultation Charter and 
this is referenced in the 
accompanying reports to 
committee (indeed the 
consultation on the draft 
SCI was held for longer 
than required by the 
Consultation Charter).  
However, a reference to the 
Consultation Charter will 
also be added to the final 
SCI to ensure it is clear that 
all future consultations, in 
relation to Planning Policy, 
will also adhere to the 
Consultation Charter (it 
should be noted that the 
Consultation Charter is not 

 
 
 
 
No change required. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Page 6 – Insert text to 
read: 
‘All consultations relating 
to planning policy 
documents will adhere to 
the Consultation Charter’. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 139



16 
 

intended to apply to 
planning applications which 
are governed by their own 
specific statutory 
consultation arrangements; 
this is specifically stated in 
the Charter).  
 

11 Historic 
England 

While we welcome acknowledgement of Historic England as a 
statutory consultee for certain types of planning application in 
Appendix D, we consider that the SCI should also mention our 
role as a statutory consultee in other areas of decision-taking, 
notably:  
  
• certain listed building consent applications; and 
• environmental impact assessment for cultural heritage.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
You may also wish to encourage pre-application discussions 
with relevant statutory consultees such as Historic England.  

Noted.  Text will be inserted 
to ensure it is clear that we 
will consult with Historic 
England, and all other 
statutory consultees, for all 
relevant applications and 
assessments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Text will be inserted to 
encourage developers and 

Page 9 – amend and insert 
text to read: 
For specific applications 
(including planning 
applications, listed building 
consent applications and 
other assessments such 
as Environmental Impact 
Assessments) we may will 
consult with specialist 
organisations all relevant 
statutory consultees such 
as Natural England, 
Historic England, the 
Environment Agency, utility 
providers, and Devon 
County Council (on 
education and transport 
and some other topics). 
We may also consult with 
other specialist 
organisations and other 
internal teams, such as 
Environmental Health. 
 
Page 10 – Amend and 
insert text to read: 

P
age 140



17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We would also like to see the SCI mention that Historic 
England’s role as a statutory consultee in the plan-making 
process. We are a specific consultation body for local plans and 
a prescribed body under the Duty to Co-operate. We should 
also be consulted on draft neighbourhood plans where our 
interests are considered to be affected. We should also be 
consulted at each stage of preparing Sustainability Appraisals 
and Strategic Environmental Assessments.  
 

applicants to engage with 
Historic England and other 
statutory consultees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A new appendix will be 
inserted that lists all the 
Specific (including Historic 
England) and General 
consultation bodes for 
preparation of a Local Plan 
and other planning policy 
documents.  

However, developers and 
applicants are encouraged 
to engage as appropriate 
with statutory consultees 
(such as Natural England, 
Historic England and the 
Environment Agency) and 
the broader community, 
neighbours or Exeter St 
James Neighbourhood 
Forum, as early as 
possible in developing their 
proposals. 
 
Page 5 – Insert text to 
read: 
‘The specific and general 
statutory consultees for 
planning policy are set out 
at Appendix A’ 
 
A new Appendix A to be 
inserted. 
 

12 Ross Bright Ensuring we have facilities in central areas in Exeter for 
recycling, services that are well maintained and a recycling 
scheme to a similar standard, if not better, than that of East 
Devon and the recycling bins offered to households. Ensure 
communities are at the heart of city development, 
pedestrianising central Exeter to reduce air pollution as well as 
people feeling more comfortable than squashed to the sides of 
the high streets, there is no need for buses to drive through 
central Exeter with the new bus station entrance on the edge, 
as well as better designed road infrastructure to ensure 

The consultation response 
does not suggest any 
specific change to the draft 
SCI.  The comments will be 
considered in relation to the 
New Local Plan 

No change required. 

P
age 141



18 
 

smoother transport whilst investing in cycle lanes as much as 
that of roads. 
 

13 Exeter 
Airport 

The city of Exeter falls within the Aerodrome Safeguarded area 
of Exeter Airport and any future development must continue to 
consult with the Airport to ensure that there are no adverse 
impacts that could compromise aircraft safety or aerodrome 
operations. Exeter Airport appears to be missing from Appendix 
D: Statutory Consultee list. 
 

Noted. Appendix D draws 
on the Planning Practice 
Guidance, ‘Table 2 – 
Statutory Consultees’.  
However, this Government 
Guidance does not include 
the requirements of ‘The 
town and country planning 
(safeguarded aerodromes, 
technical sites and military 
explosives storage areas) 
direction 2002’.  This is an 
omission and the SCI will 
be amended to include 
reference to Exeter Airport 
as a statutory 
consultee.The town and 
country planning 
(safeguarded aerodromes, 
technical sites and military 
explosives storage areas) 
direction 2002 

Appendix E – Insert text to 
add ‘Exeter Airport’ to the 
list of statutory consultees 
and to amend the footnote 
to read: 
‘List draws on the Planning 
Practice Guidance , ‘Table 
2 – Statutory Consultees 
on applications for 
planning permission’, but 
has been revised to focus 
on those statutory 
consultees more likely to 
the be relevant in Exeter, 
including Exeter Airport 
(where development falls 
under the ‘The town and 
country planning 
(safeguarded aerodromes, 
technical sites and military 
explosives storage areas) 
direction 2002’ 
 

14 Exminster 
Parish Council 

Affected neighbouring parishes outlying Exeter City should be 
included as part of the Statutory Consultee List; i.e. Exminster, 
Ide, Shillingford Abbot and Whitestone Parish Councils. 

Parish Councils are 
included in the list of 
statutory consultees in 
Appendix D. 
 

No change required. 

15 Yvonn 
Atkinson 

I agree with the issues. On design it is also important to take 
into account women's safety issues. The design of infrastructure 
should be such that women feel safe at all times of the day and 
nights on the streets of Exeter. 

The consultation response 
does not suggest any 
specific change to the draft 
SCI.  The comments will be 

No change required. 

P
age 142



19 
 

 considered in relation to the 
New Local Plan 
 

16 John 
Mooney 

The best community involvement processes in the world are 
worthless if the planning issue at hand is not subject to Planning 
Approval.  This is the case for Houses Of Multiple Occupancy in 
most of the city.  The council has the tool (Article 4 orders) to 
change this situation and, if it really is committed to utilising 
"local knowledge and expertise to help shape places", then it 
should do make more use of that tool. 
 

The consultation response 
does not suggest any 
specific change to the draft 
SCI. 
However, it should be noted 
that the Council has 
committed to reviewing the 
HMO Article 4 direction to 
determine if the extent 
needs to be revised. 
 

No change required. 

17 Julie 
Chapman 

I would like it to say, you MUST publish applications via social 
media.  A weekly link to all new applications please. 

New applications are 
already advertised via 
social media; the final SCI 
will be amended to ensure 
this is clear. 

Page 9 - Text to be 
amended/ inserted to read: 
 ‘Details of every valid 
each planning application 
received are also 
displayed and accessible 
on our website. We also 
publish a weekly 
newsletter that anyone can 
subscribe to, plus new 
applications out for 
consultation are published 
on the website and 
advertised via social media 
every working week.’ 
 

 

 

 

P
age 143



20 
 

Other minor text changes proposed to improve readability, clarity and understanding: 

Page 1 – Second sentence – delete ‘Planning decisions shape our lives’ and amend to read ‘Therefore it is important that everyone can 

comment on and be involved in making planning decisions.’ 

Page 1 – Third sentence – delete and amend to read ‘We need residents, businesses and other organisations to use local knowledge and 

expertise to help shape development in Exeter.’ 

Page 1 – Second paragraph – amend to read ‘Exeter City Council, as the local planning authority’ 

Page 2 – First paragraph – amend to read ‘Exeter City Council, as the local planning authority’ 

Page 3 - Under ‘How do we consult’, 1st paragraph - Amend to read “We consult in a variety…” 

Page 4 - Final sentence - Amend to read ‘…relevant part of the Council’s website…’ 

Page 5 - 4th paragraph -  Delete ‘process’ so sentence reads ‘Planning policy also includes other documents including…’. 

Page 5 – Under ‘Planning Policy’ insert new paragraph to read ‘Finally, related to the Local Plan, the City Council has a delivery concept called 

Liveable Exeter. This includes a series of ambitions to deliver high quality development on potential sites within the city. Engagement will be a 

key part of the Liveable Exeter concept’ 

Page 5 - 7th paragraph - 1st sentence - Delete ‘in relation to planning policy’. 

Page 6 - Under ‘How do we consult’ reword bullet points as follows: 

 Website – to report progress on producing documents and to ensure consultation documents are available to view. 

 Document deposit points – to make available paper copies of consultation documents at Exeter Civic Centre and at libraries. 

 Direct notification – to notify, by email or by post, interested bodies, organisations or individuals that the Council considers would have 
an interest in the consultation or need to be consulted according to legislation. 

 Face-to-face consultation – Presentations, exhibitions, or information events for the public and other interested parties to discuss 
proposals and encourage engagement. If appropriate, more involved consultation methods may include bespoke meetings of 
representative groups, workshops, or focus group sessions where a specific issue needs more in-depth discussion. 

 Online events – the use of digital platforms for video calls, conferencing and discussions to discuss proposals and encourage 
engagement. 

 Media advertising – the use of radio, TV, newspapers and social media to notify stakeholders of an opportunity to view and/or comment 
on planning documents. 

  

P
age 144



21 
 

Page 6 – Under ‘How do we consult’ insert new paragraph to read ‘Looking more widely, there will be opportunities to engage on Liveable 

Exeter through processes of communication, consultation and collaboration. This work will feed into the Local Plan and other policy 

preparation’.  

Page 8 - Under ‘Supplementary Planning Documents’ amend the 1st paragraph to read ‘The process for producing SPDs also involves 

gathering evidence and engaging with relevant bodies…’ 

Page 8 - Under ‘Neighbourhood Plans’ amend the 2nd paragraph to read ‘We have adopted a ‘Neighbourhood Planning Protocol’ which 

explains how we will support local communities in undertaking neighbourhood planning.’ 

Page 9 – Under ‘Who do we consult?’ amend last sentence of the 2nd paragraph to read ‘You can object, comment on, or support a planning 

proposal.’ 

Page 9 – Under ‘How do we consult?’ amend existing third sentence of 3rd paragraph to read ‘In all cases we will provide a named contact, on 

our consultation correspondence and on our website, so that residents and stakeholders know who they can speak to about proposals.’ 

Page 9 – Under ‘How do we consult?’  3rd pagaraph – Delete ‘Within the St James Neighbourhood Plan area, we also notify the St James 

Forum’  

Page 9 – Under ‘How do we consult?’, amend first and second sentences of 4th paragraph to read ‘Details of every valid planning application 

received are displayed and accessible on our website. We also publish a weekly newsletter that anyone can subscribe to, plus new applications 

out for consultation are published on the website and advertised via social media every working week. The website allows comments to be 

submitted on planning applications electronically when the consultation period is open.’ 

Page 10 – Under ‘Pre-application Discussions’ – amend third sentence of 1st paragraph to read: ‘However, developers and applicants are 
encouraged to engage as appropriate with statutory consultees (such as Natural England, Historic England and the Environment Agency) and 
the broader community, as early as possible in developing their proposals.’ 
 
Page 10 - Under ‘What happens to the comments I make?’, amend first sentence of 3rd paragraph to read ‘Comments received will be made 

available for others to see once private, personal information (such as email addresses and personal signatures) have been removed.’ 

Page 17 – Appendix E - second bullet point – delete: ‘- Exeter St James Forum’ 
 

 

 

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Exeter Statement 
of Community 
Involvement

Appendix B

Page 147



Chapter 1. 
Introduction

Planning affects us all, shaping the places we work and live and the services and facilities we use. 
Therefore it is important that everyone can comment on and be involved in making planning 
decisions. We need residents, businesses and other organisations to use local knowledge and 
expertise to help shape development in Exeter.

Exeter City Council, as the local planning authority, is required to explain how we will involve the 
community in decision making. This Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a legal requirement1 
and sets out how we want to involve our communities, organisations and other interested parties 
when we prepare our planning policies and make decisions on planning applications.

We will use different ways to work with you so that everyone can be well informed and understands 
how they can contribute, engage with and influence planning policy and decisions on planning 
applications. People with local knowledge are valuable in helping to shape the places where they live 
and work, particularly as they are the people who will be most affected by the decisions made.

1 Under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Chapter 1. 

Introduction        1

Chapter 2. 

Community involvement in planning   3

Chapter 3. 

Planning policy       5

Chapter 4. 

Planning applications and permissions  9

Chapter 5. 

How this Statement of Community    11
Involvement will be updated   

Glossary         12

Appendix A-F        13-18

Draft Statement of Community Involvement • Date 2021 1

Exeter
Planning 

Statement of Community Involvement 1

Exeter
Planning

P
age 148



More information:

Further information in relation to both planning policy and planning applications can be found on our 
website:
www.exeter.gov.uk/planning-services  

Or, if you still have questions, the teams can be contacted via email and phone:

Planning Policy

General enquiries:
planning.policy@exeter.gov.uk 
01392 265080

Planning Applications and Permissions

General enquiries: 
planning@exeter.gov.uk
01392 265223

Planning Policy:
The Development Plan - Exeter City Council, as the local planning authority, is responsible for 
deciding where development takes place. All local planning authorities are required to produce what 
is called a ‘Development Plan’. The Development Plan is the starting point for determining planning 
applications, although there are other matters which will be considered as part of decision making.

The Development Plan can consist of a single planning document or a series of planning documents. 
Taken together, these documents will steer the future development of the area. More specifically the 
documents must set out our priorities for development, identify sites for development and provide a 
comprehensive set of policies to address both strategic and detailed planning issues.

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) - Local planning authorities can choose to develop 
separate documents to provide additional detailed guidance to support the policies set out in the 
Development Plan. SPDs can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites or 
on a particular issue. SPDs must also be taken into account when making planning decisions.

Neighbourhood Planning – Communities may decide to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for their 
area; if, following a successful referendum, the plan is ‘made’, the policies within it become part of the 
Development Plan and must be considered when making decisions on planning applications. As the 
local planning authority, Exeter City Council has a duty to support the communities that may choose 
to undertake Neighbourhood Planning.

Planning Applications and Permissions:

Planning Permissions - Planning applications are required for a specific development at a specific 
location, which can range from an extension to someone’s house to proposals for larger schemes 
such as new shopping centres, offices and housing developments. These applications are submitted 
to the local planning authority for a decision as to whether planning permission is granted. This 
decision will be made in accordance with the planning policies in the Development Plan and any other 
relevant considerations.

Other Planning Permissions - Some forms of development require a prior notification of the intention 
to undertake works and in some cases consultation with neighbours may be carried out in accordance 
with legal requirements. Certain types of development do not require planning permission as they are 
Permitted Development. 

Exeter
Planning 

2

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 149



Chapter 2. 
Community involvement in planning

This chapter sets out our general approach to involving communities in planning decisions.  It covers 
those elements of our approach that are common to planning policy and planning applications and 
permissions. It answers the following questions:

 n How do we consult? 
 n What is the best way to make a comment?
 n What can you comment on?

The chapters that follow deal with the elements of our approach to consultation that are specific to 
planning policy (see chapter 3) and planning applications and permissions (see chapter 4).

How do we consult?

We consult in a variety of ways ensuring that methods are proportionate to the scale and impact of 
the plan, policy or proposal, appropriate to those we need to consult and within available 
resources. Such methods may include:

 n Digital communication
 Website, emails, video conferencing, social media, online discussions

 n Paper communication
 Letters, site notices, local press, documents made available at public libraries 
            and other public buildings

 n Face to face discussions
 Meetings, exhibitions, through local elected Members, representative groups, workshops

We will always try to communicate in plain English and fully explain any necessary technical language 
or acronyms. Documents may also be available in different languages or formats (such as large print 
or Braille) if requested. 

What is the best way to make a comment?
We would prefer you to contact us electronically as this saves time and cost. We prefer comments to 
be made to us online, as this is quicker and means that your comments are more readily available. 
However, we understand that not everyone can or wishes to contact us online and therefore written 
or emailed comments can be made, but we cannot take your views by telephone or via social media 
(unless part of an event formally organised by us).

With both planning policy and planning applications, the ways you can respond, and the timescales, 
will be set out in the consultation information and we will also give you any relevant reference
numbers to quote to ensure your comments are matched with the relevant planning application 
or section of a policy document.

Exeter
Planning

3

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 150



What can I comment on?
We can only take account of comments made about relevant planning matters.  
Some examples of relevant planning matters include:  

 n National and local planning policies

 n Effect of the proposed development on the appearance of an area

 n Quality of design and how the proposal fits in 

 n Significant overbearing impact and loss of sunlight and daylight 
     (e.g. significant overshadowing from a new building)

 n Loss of privacy to neighbouring properties

 n Economic benefits/disbenefits of the proposal

 n Effect on parking, traffic and highway safety issues

 n Significant increase in noise and general disturbance

 n Loss of important trees or impact on wildlife

 n Intrusion into the countryside

 n Impact on historic buildings or structures

Concerns which are not normally relevant to the planning process:

 n Loss or harm to a private view

 n Loss of property value

 n Breach of private covenant

 n Loss of trade to a competitor

 n Level of profit a developer might make

 n Personal circumstances of the applicant (other than in exceptional cases)

 n Character of the applicant

 n Nuisance caused by building works

 n Moral objections (e.g. to uses such as amusement arcades and betting offices)

 n Boundary or neighbour disputes

 n Conflict with private access

Oral, defamatory, offensive or anonymous comments cannot be taken into consideration.

We need to ensure our consultation is valid and therefore we will need to ask for the names and 
contact details of consultees and any organisations that they represent (if appropriate). We may 
also need further information to help us understand who is responding and to help monitor the 
effectiveness of the ways we consult.

When comments are received they will be uploaded to the relevant part of the Council’s website
(planning application or plan consultation) once email addresses and personal signatures 
have been removed.  

Exeter
Planning

4

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 151



At the heart of planning policy is the Development Plan which is the starting point for making 
decisions on planning applications. The existing Development Plan includes the Exeter Core Strategy, 
which sets out the vision for Exeter and includes policies to address strategic issues, and saved 
policies from the Exeter Local Plan First Review, which sets out more detailed policies. We are 
currently working on a new Local Plan which will eventually replace these documents. The Exeter 
St James Neighbourhood Plan has been ‘made’ and also forms part of the Development Plan as do the 
Devon Minerals and Waste Plans.

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) can be used to provide further guidance for development 
on specific sites (in the form of Masterplans or other site specific plans), or on specific issues and, 
once adopted, are also a relevant consideration when making decisions on planning applications. 

Planning policy also includes other documents including this one, the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI), and the Local Development Scheme (LDS) which sets out the timescale for the 
production of policy documents. 

Finally, related to the Local Plan, the City Council has a delivery concept called Liveable Exeter. This 
includes a series of ambitions to deliver high quality development on potential sites within the city. 
Engagement will be a key part of the Liveable Exeter concept.

Who do we consult?
We are committed to open and honest dialogue with the community and try to include a wide range 
of groups, organisations and individuals in the writing of planning policy. This section explains who we 
consider to be the ‘community’. 

’The community’ means residents, businesses, community and interest groups, landowners, 
developers, adjoining local authorities, government agencies and any other individuals, groups and 
organisations interested in the development and use of land in the City. We have developed a list 
of consultees based on relevant legislation, Planning Practice Guidance, our past experience and 
previous consultations. Anyone can request to be added to, or removed from, this planning policy 
consultation database at any time.

Legislation sets out requirements for who we should consult, and when. There are certain bodies or 
organisations that we must consult2 but we will also consider whether to consult more widely with 
non statutory consultees as appropriate on a case-by-case basis.  Sometimes policies or proposals 
will have a localised impact within a particular area and in this instance consultation is carried out 
on an area basis rather than across the City as a whole. This is subject to fulfilling the minimum 
legal requirements. The specific and general statutory consultees for planning policy are set out at 
Appendix A.

2 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012, Regulation 18 (2)(c)

Chapter 3. Planning policy
This section focuses on planning policy; it explains how we will engage with the community 
and how you can get involved in the plan-making process.

Figure 1: Planning Policy

Exeter
Planning

5

Exeter
Planning

Exeter Development Plan 

Exeter Core Strategy
Exeter Local Plan First Review

Neighbourhood Plans
  (produced by neighbourhood planning groups)

Minerals and Waste Plans  
(produced by Devon County Council)

Supplementary 
Planning 

Documents 

Statement 
of Community 
Involvement 

Local 
Development

Scheme

Authority Monitoring Report

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 152



How do we consult?
We will select the most appropriate consultation methods depending on what document we are 
producing, what we are seeking to achieve and which stage in the process we have reached. We may 
communicate using: 

 n Website – to report progress on producing documents and to ensure consultation 
 documents are available to view.

 n Document deposit points – to make available paper copies of consultation documents at   
 Exeter Civic Centre and at libraries.

 n Direct notification – to notify, by email or by post, interested bodies, organisations or   
 individuals that the Council considers would have an interest in the consultation or need 
 to be consulted according to legislation.

 n Face-to-face consultation – Presentations, exhibitions, or information events for the public  
 and other interested parties to discuss proposals and encourage engagement. If appropriate,  
 more involved consultation methods may include bespoke meetings of representative groups,  
 workshops, or focus group sessions where a specific issue needs more in-depth discussion.

 n Online events – the use of digital platforms for video calls, conferencing and discussions to  
 discuss proposals and encourage engagement.

 n Media advertising – the use of radio, TV, newspapers and social media to notify stakeholders  
 of an opportunity to view and/or comment on planning documents.

All consultations relating to planning policy documents will adhere to the Consultation Charter.

Looking more widely, there will be opportunities to engage on Liveable Exeter through processes 
of communication, consultation and collaboration. This work will feed into the Local Plan and other 
policy preparation.

Under-represented groups:
We want to hear from all members of our community, but are particularly keen to hear from those 
groups who may often be under-represented in the planning processes, including those groups with 
protected characteristics under the legislation3.  These groups include, but are not limited to:

 n Children and young people

 n Young adults

 n Lone parents

 n Those with disabilities (both physical and mental)

 n Those who don’t speak English as their first language

 n Black and minority ethnic people

 n The Traveller community including Irish Traveller and Romany Gypsy community

 n Liveaboard boaters / boat dwellers

 n The military

 n Residents who work outside Exeter

 n People who work in Exeter but live elsewhere

 n Religious groups

 n Those from a lower socio-economic background

 n Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Queer (LGBTQ) community

 n Carers

We will work with other teams and with partner organisations (including Exeter Connect – see 
glossary) to help us reach the under-represented groups so they may have more of a voice in shaping 
planning decisions. 

3 Equality Act 2010 

Exeter
Planning

6

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 153



During each stage of consultation the scope will be made clear and we will provide a named contact 
so that people know who they can speak to about the proposals. There will often be a list of questions 
available to direct your responses. The style of questions we ask will need to evolve as the plans 
progress. For example, early consultations may include wide-ranging, less formal questions and in 
later consultations the questions may become more specific and formal. This is needed to make sure 
we hold consultation in line with legislation. 

Once a plan is fully drafted and is submitted to the Secretary of State, an independent examination 
discusses whether it is ‘sound’ and legally compliant. The examination usually involves informal 
discussions which are held by the Inspector to discuss specific issues which they think are relevant. 
We will publicise information about the progress of the examination on the website, including any 
information about hearing sessions. The Inspector will have access to all the written comments made 
at the final publication consultation and will also have a report written by us summarising the main 
issues and the response to them. The Inspector may still wish to hear verbal presentations from 
interested people or organisations and may subsequently require us to make modifications to the 
plan before it goes on to be adopted by us.

The key stages of the process for Development Plan preparation are set out at Appendix B.

The Development Plan (formal planning policy):
Producing the Development Plan is a lengthy process. A significant amount of technical evidence is 
required to support the plan, we need to take account of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Planning Practice Guidance (see glossary) and wide ranging input is needed from organisations and 
communities.

We will use a variety of approaches to obtain comments and feedback and to ensure there is ongoing 
engagement and exchange of information throughout the plan preparation process. The various 
stages of Development Plan preparation will require different forms of consultation, some formal 
and some less formal. However, in every case the aim is to provide residents and communities with 
knowledge and understanding about issues which may affect them, and provide opportunities for 
those interested to give us their opinions and share local knowledge. For formal stages of consultation 
the minimum legal requirements are set out in relevant legislation4. However, we may go beyond 
these requirements where necessary in relation to specific issues. In some cases we may engage 
through workshops, exhibitions and online events.

Formal consultations will be for a minimum of 6 weeks.  We will try to avoid holding consultations 
during August and over the Christmas/New Year period.  However, where this is unavoidable, due to 
the need to make progress, we will ensure a reasonable part of the consultation period lies outside 
these periods.

4 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012

Exeter
Planning

7

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 154



What happens to the comments I make?
We will take any comments you make on planning policy into account and, where appropriate, 
changes will be incorporated into the subsequent version of the document.  All comments will be 
published once email addresses and personal signatures have been removed.

The comments made by individuals and organisations will be balanced against evidence, comments 
from statutory bodies (based on their expertise), legal requirements, national and local policies, and 
other relevant considerations.  Inevitably there will be times when we do not consider alterations to 
the policy document are necessary.  

In the case of the Development Plan individuals and groups will have a further opportunity to make 
their views known through the public examination process (see Appendix B).

Supplementary Planning Documents:

The process for producing SPDs also involves gathering evidence and engaging with relevant bodies 
and interested parties and the public, but due to the less formal (non-statutory) nature of SPDs, 
there is only one formal stage of consultation (for a minimum of 4 weeks) when anyone can make 
comments. There is no public examination of the document.

We will consider comments made through the consultation stage and, if necessary, will incorporate 
changes into the document.  

The key stages of the process for SPD preparation are set out at Appendix C.

Neighbourhood Plans:
Neighbourhood Plans are led by the community for the community. Those communities will 
ultimately be asked to vote on the final draft of the Neighbourhood Plan in a referendum.
Although Neighbourhood Plans form part of the Development Plan once ‘made’ i.e. agreed 
through referendum, the plans are not produced or written by us; they are usually developed by a 
‘Neighbourhood Forum’ (NF) and cover a specific area. However, we do have responsibility for parts of 
the process and offer advice and assistance to support the production of a Neighbourhood Plan.  

We have adopted a ‘Neighbourhood Planning Protocol’ which explains how we will support local 
communities in undertaking neighbourhood planning 5. A process checklist is also available to help 
ensure that communities meet the legislative requirements. Both documents are available to view on 
our website: 

https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/

The key stages of the process for Neighbourhood Planning are set out in Appendix D.

5Under Schedule 4B of the 1990 Act local planning authorities have a statutory duty (sometimes also 
referred to as the ‘duty to support’) to give such advice or assistance to designated Neighbourhood 
Forums as they consider appropriate for the purpose of, or in connection with facilitating the 
preparation of Neighbourhood Development Plans.

Exeter
Planning

8

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 155



How do we consult?

Planning applications:

This section explains how we will publicise and provide information on planning applications.

Relevant legislation6 sets out the minimum period of 21 days (not including bank holidays) for 
consultation on planning applications before the local planning authority can decide an application. 
Sometimes, discussions and negotiations result in additional or changed information being received. 
In that case, we may notify consultees or communities of changes and invite further comments. 
There is no minimum requirement for this additional consultation period and this is entirely at our 
discretion.

In most cases, we send letters to immediate neighbours that share a common boundary with a 
planning application site. The case officer may use a site notice when it is difficult to identify the 
neighbours or if the land ownership is unknown. Additionally, a site notice may be used where the 
case officer judges that the case is of interest to an audience not limited to the immediate neighbours. 
Some types of applications also require formal publicity through advertising in a local newspaper. In 
all cases we will provide a named contact on our consultation correspondence and on our website, 
so that residents and stakeholders know who they can speak to about proposals. Relevant legislation 
sets out requirements for the consultation process concerning the different kinds of planning 
applications and any advertisement necessary7. These are the minimum requirements and will vary 
according to the scale, type of application and location. Appendix F sets out the statutory publicity 
requirements for applications for planning permission and listed building consent.

Details of every valid planning application received are displayed and accessible on our website. 
We also publish a weekly newsletter that anyone can subscribe to, plus new applications out for 
consultation are published on the website and advertised via social media every working week. 
The website allows comments to be submitted on planning applications electronically when the 
consultation period is open. Once the decision has been issued, it will be available on the website 
with the Officer’s report.

6 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015
7 Article 15 of The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure (England) 
Order 2015

Chapter 4. Planning applications and permissions
 
Planning applications for specific development can range from an extension to proposals for large 
scale residential or commercial development such as significant housing proposals, shopping 
centres and employment uses. Decisions must be made by applying policies in the Development 
Plan and other ‘material considerations’, including policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Planning Practice Guidance (see glossary). There are different requirements for consultation 
depending on the type and scale of development, but for all planning applications, we must hold a 
formal period of public consultation before reaching a decision.

Who do we consult?
We must understand the views of those most likely to be affected by planning applications. This 
section explains who we will consult.

Once a formal planning application has been made and is valid, we will carry out consultation 
on that application according to the type and nature of the proposal and following the legislative 
requirements. In most cases we will notify immediate neighbours that share a common boundary 
with the application site. However, anybody can comment on a planning application and you do not 
need to have a direct interest in the application site or be a neighbour. You can object, comment on, 
or support a planning proposal.

For specific applications (including planning applications, listed building consent applications and 
other assessments such as Environmental Impact Assessments) we will consult with all relevant 
statutory consultees such as Natural England, Historic England, the Environment Agency, utility 
providers and Devon County Council (on education and transport and some other topics). We may 
also consult with other specialist organisations and internal teams, such as Environmental Health. 
These consultations help us to decide whether proposals would be in-line with current policy.

In addition to the statutory consultees set out in Appendix F, we will consider whether to consult more 
widely with non statutory consultees as appropriate on a case-by case basis.

Exeter
Planning 

9

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 156



What happens to the comments I make?

We will take any comments you make into account when making a decision on a planning application. 
Where appropriate, we may seek to negotiate amendments or to discuss your comments with 
relevant organisations to seek their views.

The comments made by individuals and organisations will be balanced against evidence, comments 
from statutory bodies (based on their expertise), legal requirements, national and local policies, and 
other material considerations. Inevitably there will be times when we do not consider amendment to 
a planning application is necessary.

Comments received will be made available for others to see once private, personal information (such 
as email addresses and personal signatures) have been removed. These will remain visible on relevant 
planning files/consultation documents for a period of time as set out in our retention policy.

8 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(as amended) or through a local authority grant of permission (local development order, 
neighbourhood development order or community right to build order).

Pre-application discussions:

We encourage pre-application discussions for all application types to confirm whether the principle of 
development is acceptable and to clarify what supporting information and level of detail is required 
for us to make a decision on a subsequent application. Due to their sensitive nature, these early 
discussions will usually be confidential. However, developers and applicants are encouraged to 
engage as appropriate with statutory consultees (such as Natural England, Historic England and the 
Environment Agency) and the broader community, as early as possible in developing their proposals. 
For example, a developer might hold a public meeting or exhibition to seek local people’s views before 
applying. Such engagement is not arranged by us.

Permitted Development and Prior Notification:
Certain types of work or development may occur without the need for planning permission from 
us. Some forms of development do not require consent as they are ‘Permitted Development’ and 
thus have permission through the relevant legislation8. Some other forms of development are also 
permitted but need a ‘prior notification’ to us of the intention to undertake works. In some cases, 
consultation with neighbours may be carried out following the requirements of the legislation.

Enforcement:

A breach of planning control occurs when a person starts work on a building, or undertakes a new 
use, without obtaining the necessary planning or related permission. Our Planning Enforcement Plan 
sets out our priorities for investigations concerning planning enforcement, explains what we will 
investigate, our policies and procedures when investigating and remedying breaches, and outlines our 
general powers. It is available to view on our website:

https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/permissions-and-applications/planning-breaches/
enforcement-action/

Exeter
Planning 

10

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 157



Chapter 5. 
Future review of the Statement of Community 
Involvement
 
Legislation requires the SCI to be updated every five years. It will be reviewed to ensure it meets any 
national regulations, the needs of the community and our corporate objectives.

Exeter
Planning 

11

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 158



Glossary

Exeter
Planning 

12

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 
A report on how we are performing on the 
implementation of the Development Plan policies 
e.g. statistics on housing land supply. The AMR 
is an important way in which we can keep 
communities informed of plan making activity.

Core Strategy 
The Core Strategy is part of the current 
Development Plan and sets out the long term 
vision for the area and provides the strategic 
policies and proposals that will deliver that 
vision.

Development Plan 
The Development Plan can be a single document 
or a number of documents that together 
provide adopted planning policy. For Exeter 
the Development Plan currently comprises the 
Exeter Core Strategy, saved policies from the 
Exeter Local Plan First Review, the Exeter St 
James Neighbourhood Plan and the Minerals and 
Waste Plans produced by Devon County Council. 
Planning applications must be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Development Plan Document (DPD) 
These are planning policy documents prepared 
by Councils that set out the approach to 
development in the local area. In Exeter these 
include the Exeter Core Strategy, and the Exeter 
Local Plan First Review and the Minerals and 
Waste Plans produced by Devon County Council. 
DPDs are subject to community involvement, 
consultation and independent examination.

Exeter Connect 
Exeter Connect is a partnership between Exeter 
Community Initiatives (ECI) and Exeter City 
Council, funded by Exeter City Council. Exeter 
Connect provides free, independent, professional 
and practical advice and support to existing and 
new community organisations in the city to help 
them develop and become self-sustaining.

Independent examination 
Development Plan Documents are subject to 
an examination by a planning inspector to 
rigorously test legal compliance and overall 
‘soundness.’

Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
The LDS sets out the timetable for preparing the 
Development Plan. This includes details of the 
topics to be covered by individual documents. 

Material considerations 
A material planning consideration is one which 
is relevant to making the planning decision 
in question (e.g. whether to grant or refuse 
an application for planning permission).
The scope of what can constitute a material 
consideration is very wide. However, as planning 
is concerned with land use in the public interest, 
the protection of purely private interests such 
as the impact of a development on the value 
of a neighbouring property or loss of private 
rights to light would not normally be material 
considerations.

Minerals and Waste Plans 
Development Plan Documents, prepared by 
Devon County, that set out the planning policy 
and proposals for mineral extraction and waste 
management. These documents cover Exeter.

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
This sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. It provides guidance for local planning 
authorities and decision makers, both in drawing 
up plans and making decisions about planning 
applications. It must be taken into account in 
the preparation of Development Plan and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions. This 
is accompanied by Planning Practice Guidance 
which sets out how the NPPF is to be interpreted.

Neighbourhood Planning 
This was introduced by the Localism Act 
2011, and it gives rights and powers for local 
communities to shape new development by 
coming together to prepare Neighbourhood 
Plans. A neighbourhood planning process 
can be used to prepare a Neighbourhood  
Plan, a Neighbourhood Development Order 
or a Community Right to Build Order, or a 
combination of the three.

Neighbourhood Development Plan
/Neighbourhood Plan 
A plan generally prepared by a Neighbourhood 
Forum, which establishes planning policies 
for the development and use of land in a 
defined area. A Neighbourhood Plan must be in 
conformity with the Development Plan, and will 
undergo examination and a referendum. 

Planning Inspectorate (PINS) 
The Planning Inspectorate holds independent 
examinations by appointed Planning 
Inspectors to determine whether Development 
Plan Documents are ‘sound’. The Planning 
Inspectorate also handles planning and 
enforcement appeals.

Planning Practice Guidance 
The Government’s detailed online, web based 
guidance on national planning policies, which 
adds detail to the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Sound/soundness 
This describes where a Development Plan 
Document is considered to ‘show good 
judgement’ and also to fulfill the expectations 
of legislation, as well as conforming to national 
policy.

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
This is a document that sets out how we will 
consult and involve the public in preparation 
of planning policy and in the determination of 
planning applications.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
These are generally topic specific documents 
which provide further information and details 
to support the implementation and delivery 
of policies in development plan documents. 
Guidance within SPD’s can be a material 
consideration in the determination of planning 
applications.

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 159



Exeter
Planning

13

APPENDIX A: 
Specific and General Consultation Bodies

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

Specific Consultation Bodies 
We will consider whether to consult the specific consultation bodies listed below on a case by case 
basis:

n Coal Authority
n Environment Agency 
n Historic England
n The Marine Management Organisation
n Natural England 
n Network Rail 
n National Highways
n A ‘relevant’ authority in or adjoining the LPA (including Parish Councils and Police Authorities)
n Electronic communications code systems operators 
n Primary Care Trust established under section 18 of the National Health Service Act 2006 or 
continued in existence by virtue of that section
n Electricity providers
n Gas providers
n Sewerage undertakers
n Water undertakers 
n Homes England

General Consultation Bodies 
We will consider whether to consult the general consultation bodies listed below on a case by case 
basis.

n Voluntary bodies some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the authority’s area
n Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups 
in the authority’s area 
n Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the authority’s area
n Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons in the authority’s area 
n Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the authority’s area
n And such residents or other persons carrying on business in the authority’s area from which the 
authority consider it appropriate to invite representations.

P
age 160



Exeter
Planning

14

Stage 1 - Identifying scope of plan (Regulation 18) & plan preparation 

n Public consultation for minimum 6 weeks on Plan content and scope (Regulation 18)

n Representations considered and incorporated into subsequent draft plan if appropriate

Stage 2 - Pre-submission (Regulations 19 & 20)

n ‘Pre-submission’ publication of draft Plan for at least 6 weeks

n Representations invited on issues of ‘soundness’ and legal compliance

n All representations are considered. Modifications to the draft Plan may be submitted with the Plan 
if deemed necessary

Stage 3 - Submission to Secretary of State  (Regulation 22)

n Publish draft Plan and submit for independent examination

n Notify all those who made representations in previous stages

n Council publish consultation statement summarising representations made and how they were 
addressed

Stage 4 - Independent Examination  (Regulation 24)

n Publicise information on an examination hearing 6 weeks prior to its taking place. 
(The inspector will design timescale and nature of community involvement in examination)

n Notify people who have already commented of opportunity to make further representations 
in relation to examination themes

Stage 5 - Publication of Inspector’s Report (Regulation 25)

n  Make the Inspector’s report available online and at Council hubs

n Contact all those that requested to be notified of the publication of the report

Stage 6 - Plan adopted by Council (Regulation 26)

n  Publicise adoption statement and documents on website and at Council hubs

n Copy of adoption statement sent to Secretary of State and to members who have requested it

APPENDIX B: 
The Development Plan
Key stages of the process

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 161



Exeter
Planning

15

APPENDIX C: 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
Key stages of the process 

Evidence Gathering and Early Engagement

n Consultation with relevant consultees within the community to collect knowledge and experience

n Invitation to comment sent to all those that may have an interest in the SPD

Publish Draft SPD (Regulation 12 & 13)

n Notification of public consultation

n Representations accepted over a minimun 4 week period

n Variety of consultation methods considered

Adoption of SPD (Regulation 12(a))

n SPD and adoption statement are publicised

n Council publish a summary of representations made and how they were addressed

n All those who who request it or who have made representations will be notified that the SPD has 
been adopted

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 162



Scoping stage: Early community engagement and evidence gathering

n Community volunteers are involved in Steering Group or in specific tasks
n Neighbourhood Forum (NF), with advice/assistance from ECC, undertake research and community 
involvement to identify local issues and potential approaches to addressing them

Neighbourhood Area and Neighbourhood Form designation applications

n Qualifying body submit applications to ECC who validate applications and publicise for 6 weeks
n ECC make and publicise the NA and NF designation decisions

Plan drafting stage - Land-use issues and options are developed into vision, objectives and policies

n Ongoing informal consultation with the local community and ECC
n A variety of consultation methods are used

Regulation 14 consultation

n NF invite comments from those that may have an interest in the NDP and consult ECC
n NF incorporate changes based on consultation results.

NF submit NDP to Exeter City Council

n Exeter City Council publicise the NDP for 6 weeks (Regulation 16)

Examination

n ECC use website to publicise the progress of the NDP throughout examination
n Examiner considers comments and written statements. Sometimes a public hearing is held and ECC 
will publicise the procedure

Referendum

n NF make any necessary changes to the NDP, as recommended by the Examiner
n ECC organise a referendum in neighbourhood area, inviting all on electoral roll to vote on the NDP

Making of the plan

n Outcome of the referendum is publicised on ECC website.
n ECC make and publicise the decision and notify interested bodies.

Exeter
Planning

16

APPENDIX D: 
Neighbourhood Plan 
Key stages of the process 

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 163



Exeter
Planning

17

Appendix E 
Statutory Consultee List9

n County Planning Authorities 

n Designated Neighbourhood Forum 

n Environment Agency 

n The Garden Trust 

n Health and Safety Executive 

n Local Highways Authority 

n National Highways 

n Historic England 

n Lead Local Flood Authority 

n Local Planning Authorities 

n Natural England 

n Parish Councils 

n Rail Infrastructure Managers 

n Rail Network Operators – Network Rail 

n Sport England 

n Theatres Trust

n Exeter Airport

9 List draws on the Planning Practice Guidance, ‘Table 2 – Statutory Consultees on applications for 
planning permission’, but has been revised to focus on those statutory consultees more likely to the be 
relevant in Exeter, including Exeter Airport (where development falls under the ‘The town and country 
planning (safeguarded aerodromes, technical sites and military explosives storage areas) direction 2002’ 

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 164



Exeter
Planning

18

APPENDIX F: 
Statutory publicity requirements for applications 
for planning permission and listed building consent

Type of development          Site notice  Site notice or neighbour notification letter  Newspaper advertisement  Website 

Applications for major development as defined in Article 2 of the Development 
Management Procedure Order (which are not covered in any other entry)

Applications subject to Environmental Impact Assessment 
which are accompanied by an environmental statement 

Applications which do not accord with the
development plan in force in the area 

Applications which would affect a right of way to which 
Part 3 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 applies 

Applications for planning permission not covered 
in the entries above e.g. non-major development

Applications for listed building consent where works 
to the exterior of the building are proposed

Applications to vary or discharge conditions attached to a listed building consent 
or involving exterior works to a listed building 

Applications for development which would affect the setting of a listed building, 
or affect the character or appearance of a conservation area

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

3

Exeter
Planning

Statement of Community Involvement

P
age 165



Statement of 
Community 
Involvement

Contact details

Local plan team, Exeter City Council, 
Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1JN

01392 265080
planning.policy@exeter.gov.uk
exeter.gov.uk/sci

Please contact us to request this information in an 
alternative format or language. We consider requests 
on an individual basis.

Page 166



 

Equality Impact Assessment: New Statement of Community Involvement, 2022 
 
The Equality Act 2010 includes a general duty which requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have due regard to the 
need to: 
 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act.  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not 
 
In order to comply with the general duty, authorities must assess the impact on equality of decisions, policies and practices.  These duties do 
not prevent the authority from reducing services where necessary, but they offer a way of developing proposals that consider the impacts on all 
members of the community. 
 
Authorities which fail to carry out equality impact assessments risk making poor and unfair decisions which may discriminate against particular 
groups and worsen inequality.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 167



Committee name and 
date: 

 

Report title 
 

Decisions being 
recommended:  

 

People with protected 
characteristics potentially 
impacted by the decisions 
to be made:  
 

Executive 
31 May  2022 

New Statement of Community 
Involvement; Proposed adoption 

That Executive:  
1. Grants delegated authority to 

the Director of City 

Development, in consultation 

with the Portfolio Holder for 

City Development, to make 

minor editorial changes to the 

final SCI document before it is 

discussed by Council; and  

 

2. Recommends the final SCI 

(attached as Appendix B), and 

any minor changes as per 

recommendation 1, for 

adoption by Council. 

 

Potentially all people with 
protected characteristics. The 
range of consultation methods 
set out in the SCI seeks to 
ensure (as far as possible, taking 
cost and resource constraints 
into account) that all members of 
the community are able to be 
involved with planning decisions. 

 
 
 

The assessment 
 
For each of the groups below, an assessment has been made on whether the proposed decision will have a positive, negative or 
neutral impact. Where the impact is negative, a high, medium or low assessment is given. The assessment rates the impact of the 
policy based on the current situation (i.e. disregarding any actions planned to be carried out in future). 

 

High impact – a significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating measures in place etc. 
Medium impact – some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor evidence 
Low impact – almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation led and where the Council has very little 
discretion 

P
age 168



 
 

Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive, neutral or negative 
impact 

High, medium or low impact Reason 

Race and ethnicity (including 
Gypsies and Travellers; migrant 
workers; asylum seekers). 

Negative.  Low. The new SCI focuses on 
the use of further digital 
communication. The potential 
for a negative impact rated 
against the current situation is 
low as the policy approach has 
not changed significantly and 
any adverse impact can be 
addressed through the use of 
other face to face consultation 
methods which are still 
available.  

The previous experience of 
some groups (gypsies and 
travellers, asylum seekers and 
others) is may mean they could 
feel marginalised and excluded 
from the planning process; 
these groups do not tend to 
respond well to digital 
approaches and therefore the 
move towards more digital 
consultation may result in them 
being further excluded. This 
needs to be given specific 
consideration in undertaking 
consultation going forward, 
particularly depending on the 
issue being considered and 
location of impact.  
 

Disability: as defined by the 
Equality Act – a person has a 
disability if they have a physical or 
mental impairment that has a 
substantial and long-term adverse 
impact on their ability to carry out 
normal day-to-day activities. 

Positive  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Low. The new SCI focuses on 
the use of further digital 
communication. The potential 
for positive impact rated 
against the current situation is 
low as the policy approach has 
not changed significantly and 
most consultation is already 
available in digital forms.  
 
 

For those with mobility issues 
the impact of a move to more 
digital consultation is likely to 
be positive.  For those with 
sensory impairments the 
impact is also likely to be 
positive (as long as individuals 
are able to use the technology).   
 
However, there are those with 
cognitive impairments or other 
hidden conditions who are 

P
age 169



Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive, neutral or negative 
impact 

High, medium or low impact Reason 

Negative 
 

Low. The new SCI focuses on 
the use of further digital 
communication. The potential 
for negative impact rated 
against the current situation is 
low as the policy approach has 
not changed significantly and 
any adverse impact can be 
addressed through the use of 
other face to face consultation 
methods which are still 
available. 
 

unlikely to respond well to 
digital approaches and 
therefore this needs to be given 
specific consideration in 
undertaking consultation.  

Sex/Gender Neutral.   There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

Gender reassignment Neutral.   There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

Religion and belief (includes no 
belief, some philosophical beliefs 
such as Buddhism and sects within 
religions). 

Neutral  There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

Sexual orientation (including 
heterosexual, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual). 

Neutral.   There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

P
age 170



Protected characteristic/ area of 
interest 

Positive, neutral or negative 
impact 

High, medium or low impact Reason 

Age (children and young people 
aged 0-24; adults aged 25-50; 
younger older people aged 51-
75/80; older people 81+; frail older 
people; people living with age 
related conditions. The age 
categories are for illustration only as 
overriding consideration should be 
given to needs). 

Positive  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Negative 

Low. The new SCI focuses on 
the use of further digital 
communication. The potential 
for positive impact rated 
against the current situation is 
low as the policy approach has 
not changed significantly and 
most consultation is already 
available in digital forms.  
 
Low. The new SCI focuses on 
the use of further digital 
communication. The potential 
for negative impact rated 
against the current situation is 
low as the policy approach has 
not changed significantly and 
any adverse impact can be 
addressed through the use of 
other face to face consultation 
methods which are still 
available. 
 

For younger people and those 
of working ages (who cannot 
readily attend consultation 
events) the impact of a move to 
more digital consultation is 
likely to be positive.   
 
 
However, some, particularly 
those within the older age 
groups (as well as those in 
social economic deprivation), 
may  feel digitally excluded 
either because they don’t have 
access to technology and/or 
they don’t know how to use it.  
This needs to be given specific 
consideration in undertaking 
consultation. 

 

Pregnancy and maternity including 
new and breast feeding mothers 

Neutral.   There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

Marriage and civil partnership 
status 

Neutral.   There is no evidence to 
suggest that the revisions to 
the SCI would have a potential 
impact on this characteristic. 
 

P
age 171



 
Actions identified that will mitigate any negative impacts and/or promote inclusion 
 
Give specific consideration be given to engagement methods used for subsequent consultations to strike a balance between digital and in-
person consultation methods.   
 
Officer:  Jill Day: Principal Project Manager – Local Plans 

Date:   25.04.2022 

P
age 172



Document is Restricted

Page 173

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 177

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Agenda

	2 Minutes
	6 Appointment to Outside Bodies 2022
	Appendix A Outside Bodies 22 - FINAL
	EQIA Outside Bodies 2022

	7 Members’ Allowances and Expenses Paid 2021/22
	Appendix A 21-22 FINAL

	8 Exeter Skills Strategy
	Exeter Skills Strategy Draft v.2
	Exeter Skills Strategy Annex
	EQIA - Skills Strategy

	9 New Statement of Community Involvement: Proposed adoption
	Appendix A SCI consultation responses
	Appendix B - SCI
	EQIA - SCI

	10 Land in Summerland Street
	Appendix A - Location of land at Summerland Street
	EQIA Summerland St




